
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Planning Applications 
Committee Agenda 

 

 
  

 

Members of the Public are welcome to attend this Meeting. 
 

 

1.   Introductions/Attendance at Meeting  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 

3.   To Approve the Minutes of the Meetings of this Committee held on 6th December 2023 
and 20th December 2023 (Pages 5 - 60) 

 
4.   Introduction to Procedure by the Assistant Director, Law and Governance's 

Representative (Pages 61 - 62) 
 

5.   Applications for Planning Permission and Other Consents under the Town and Country 
Planning Act and Associated Legislation (Pages 63 - 64) 

 
 (a)   Land To the West & South Of Station Road, Station Road, Middleton St George, 

Darlington (Pages 65 - 116) 

 
 (b)   3 Oak Tree Close, Middleton St George (Pages 117 - 124) 

 
 (c)   4 Wellington Drive, Middleton St George (Pages 125 - 134) 

 
6.   SUPPLEMENTARY ITEM(S) (if any) which in the opinion of the Chair of this Committee are 

of an urgent nature and can be discussed at this meeting  
 

7.   Questions  

1.30 pm, Wednesday, 10 January 2024 

Council Chamber, Town Hall, Darlington DL1 5QT 

Public Document Pack



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
PART II 

 
8.   Notification of Decision on Appeals –  

 

The Chief Executive will report that the Inspectors appointed by the Secretary of State 
for the Environment have: - 
 
Allowed the appeal by Mr. Geoff Wood against this Authority’s decision to refuse 
planning permission for the erection of a 1.83m high fence to the side and rear 
boundaries of the property at 2 Fox Close, Darlington, DL2 2HG (23/00311/FUL) (copy of 
Inspector’s decision enclosed). 
 
RECOMMENDED – That the report be received. 
 (Pages 135 - 140) 
 

PART III 
 

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 
 

9.   To consider the Exclusion of the Public and Press –  

 
RECOMMENDED - That, pursuant to Sections 100B(5) of the Local Government Act 1972, 

the public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the ensuing item on 
the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 

exclusion paragraph 7 of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
  

 
10.   Complaints Received and Being Considered Under the Council's Approved Code of 

Practice as of 28th December 2023 (Exclusion Paragraph No. 7) –  
Report of the Chief Executive 

 (Pages 141 - 152) 
 

11.   SUPPLEMENTARY ITEM(S) (IF ANY) which in the opinion of the Chair of this Committee 
are of an urgent nature and can be discussed at this meeting  

 

12.   Questions  
 
 

     
Luke Swinhoe 

Assistant Director Law and Governance 
 
Tuesday, 2 January 2024 
 



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Town Hall  
Darlington. 

 
Membership 
Councillors Ali, Allen, Anderson, Bartch, Beckett, Cossins, Haszeldine, Kane, Laing, Lawley, Lee, 
McCollom, Robinson and Tostevin. 
 
If you need this information in a different language or format or you have any other queries on 
this agenda please contact Paul Dalton, Democratic and Elections Officer, Operations Group, 
during normal office hours 8.30 a.m. to 4.45 p.m. Mondays to Thursdays and 8.30 a.m. to 
4.15 p.m. Fridays E-Mail: paul.dalton@darlington.gov.uk or telephone  01325 405805 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

Wednesday, 6 December 2023 
 

PRESENT – Councillors Cossins (The Mayor) and Haszeldine (Chair), Ali, Allen, Anderson, 
Beckett, Laing, Lawley, Lee, McCollom and Tostevin. 

 
APOLOGIES – Councillors Bartch, Kane and Robinson.  
 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE – Dave Coates (Head of Planning, Development and Environmental 
Health), Arthur Howson (Engineer (Traffic Management)), Andrew Errington (Lawyer 
(Planning)) and Paul Dalton (Democratic and Elections Officer). 
 

PA49 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 There were no declarations of interest reported at the meeting. 
 

PA50 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THIS COMMITTEE HELD ON 11TH 
OCTOBER 2023 

 
 RESOLVED – That the Minutes of this Committee held on 11 October 2023, be approved as a 

correct record. 
 

PA51 APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION AND OTHER CONSENTS UNDER THE TOWN 
AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT AND ASSOCIATED LEGISLATION 

 
(1)  LAND TO THE REAR OF HAZELFIELD COTTAGE, ELSTOB LANE, GREAT STAINTON, STOCKTON-

ON-TEES 
 

 23/00588/FUL - Change of use of agricultural land for tourist accommodation including the 
siting of 3 No. holiday lodges and 3 No. hot tub enclosures with car parking, associated 
landscaping and gravel pathways including the creation of secondary access. Conversion of 
storeroom to form kitchen/office and garage together with landscaping and associated works 
(Retrospective Application) (Amended plans / information received 5th October 2023 & 22nd 

November 2023). 
 
(In making its decision, the Committee took into consideration the Planning Officer’s report 
(previously circulated), the views of the Council’s Environmental Health Officer, the 

recommended refusal on highway safety grounds by the Council’s Highways Team, the views 
of Natural England, which were reported at the meeting, 21 letters of support received, and 
the views of the Applicant, the Applicant’s Agent and one supporter, whom the Committee 
heard. 

 
During the course of discussion, particular focus was given to access arrangements, including 

the visibility splay, and mitigation measures which had been proposed, and the Committee 
was informed that the Council’s Transport Manager had been advised by the Police that they 
would not support any speed reductions or mitigations on the relevant stretch of road).  
 
RESOLVED – That Planning Permission be refused. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

REASON - The proposed development is prejudicial to highway safety by reason of the 

creation of an additional access for the associated traffic generation which does not include a 
safe level of visibility. No evidence has been provided by the Applicant to demonstrate that 

visibility standards in accordance with national guidance are achievable. The propos ed 
development conflicts with Policy DC1 (Sustainable Design Principles and Climate Change) 

and Policy E4 (Economic Development in the Open Countryside) of the Darlington Local Plan 
2016-2036 and the National Planning Policy Framework.    
 

PA52 NOTIFICATION OF APPEALS 
 

 The Chief Executive reported that Peter Maude had appealed against this Authority’s 
decision to refuse permission for works to 1 no. Sycamore tree protected by Tree 

Preservation Order (No. 16) 1994 - crown thinning up to 30% and crown reduction up to 5m 
at 6 Roundhill Road, Hurworth, Darlington (21/01250/TF).  

 
RESOLVED – That the report be received. 

 
PA53 TO CONSIDER THE EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 

 
 RESOLVED - That, pursuant to Sections 100A(4) and (5) of the Local Government Act 1972, 

the public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the ensuing item on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in exclusion 

paragraph 7 of Part I of Schedule 12A to the Act. 
 

PA54 COMPLAINTS RECEIVED AND BEING CONSIDERED UNDER THE COUNCIL'S APPROVED CODE 
OF PRACTICE AS OF 22ND NOVEMBER 2023 (EXCLUSION PARAGRAPH NO. 7) 

 
 Pursuant to Minute PA48/Oct/2023, the Chief Executive submitted a report (previously 

circulated) detailing breaches of planning regulations investigated by this Council, as at 22 
November 2023. 
 
RESOLVED - That the report be noted. 
 

Page 6



 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

Wednesday, 20 December 2023 
 

PRESENT – Councillors Haszeldine (Chair), Ali, Allen, Bartch, Beckett, Kane, Lawley, Lee, 
McCollom, Robinson and Tostevin. 

 
APOLOGIES – The Mayor, Councillors Anderson and Laing.  
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE – Councillors Crudass, Mrs. Culley, Donoghue, Holroyd, Marshall, Mrs. 
Scott and Snedker.  
 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE – David Hand (Head of Service for Planning Policy, Economic 

Strategy and Environment), Mark Ladyman (Assistant Director Economic Growth), Dave Coates 
(Head of Planning, Development and Environmental Health), Arthur Howson (Engineer (Traffic 

Management)), Andrew Errington (Lawyer (Planning)), Lisa Hutchinson (Principal Planning 
Officer) and Paul Dalton (Democratic and Elections Officer) 

 
 

PA55 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 There were no declarations of interest reported at the meeting. 
 

PA56 MOTION (WITHOUT NOTICE) TO ADJOURN THE MEETING 
 

 Councillor Robinson moved a Motion that this meeting be adjourned, and reconvened at a 
later date, to allow Members greater time to read the submitted reports, which was 

seconded by Councillor Lawley.  
 

The Motion was Lost. 
 

PA57 APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION AND OTHER CONSENTS UNDER THE TOWN 
AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT AND ASSOCIATED LEGISLATION 
 

 A3 Implementation Limit (Three Years) 
The development hereby permitted shall be commenced not later 
than the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason - To accord with the provisions of Section 91(1) of the Town 
and Country Planning Act, 1990. 

 

E3 The submitted landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented 

concurrently with the carrying out of the development, or within 
such extended period which may be agreed in writing by, the Local 

Planning Authority and thereafter any trees or shrubs removed, 

dying, severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased shall be 
replaced, and the landscaping scheme maintained for a period of five 
years to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason - In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 

Page 7



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

PL The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved plan(s) as detailed below, 
^IN; 
 
Reason - To define the consent. 

 

(1)  LAND NORTH OF CONISCLIFFE ROAD 
 

 17/00632/OUTE - Outline planning application for the erection of up to 535 Dwellings, 
landscaping, ancillary works and wider highway mitigation measures with all matters 
reserved except access For the avoidance of doubt planning permission is hereby granted 
separately and severably for site infrastructure landscaping and development cel ls identified 

on plan reference Indicative Development Framework plan (Drawing Number 7055-SK-01_N) 
(Additional Phasing Plan and Noise Assessment and Amended Flood Risk Assessment and 

Masterplan received 8 November 2017; additional Archaeology Report received 7 February 
2018; additional Transport Assessment Addendum and additional Arboricultural Report 

received 3 January 2019 and Environmental Statement received 11 January 2019; updated 
Planning Statement; Environmental Statement and Ecology Reports received 28 January 

2022; amended site location plan received 10 March 2022; Health Impact Assessment 
received 2 August 2022; amended Habitat Regulation Assessment and Nutrient Assessment 

Report and supporting information received 15 August 2023 and 7 September 2023). 
 

(In making its decision, the Committee took into consideration the Planning Officer’s report 
(previously circulated), the views of the Council’s Highways Engineer, Environmental Health 

Officer, Transport Policy Officer, Travel Plan Officer, Ecology Consultant, Head of Skills and 
Employability (Education), Conservation Officer and Public Rights of Way Officer, the views of 

the Durham County Council Archeology Team, the Environment Agency, Northumbrian 
Water, the Lead Local Flood Authority, National Highways, Natural England, Historic England, 

Northern Gasworks and Sport England.  
 
Members were informed that prior to the adoption of the Darlington Local Plan (2016-2036) 
in February 2022, the planning application had attracted 220 letters of objection and three 
letters of representation. At this time objections were also received from Darlington Friends 

of the Earth, Darlington Bird Club, the Campaign for the Protection of Rural Countryside 
(CPRE), Jenny Chapman MP and Phil Wilson MP on behalf of constituents, and Low 

Coniscliffe and Merrybent Parish Council. A further 118 objections had been received 
following further notification exercises undertaken by the local planning authority, when 

appropriate, and the views of the Applicant, the Applicant’s Agent, one objector and the 
Ward Councillor, whom the Committee heard.) 

 
RESOLVED – Subject to the completion of an agreement under Section 106 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 within six months to secure planning obligations that are 
appropriate for the development covering: 

 

a) A Public Transport contribution of £262,500 

b) Public Rights of Way Improvements and Safe Route to School contribution of 
£423,207,75 

c) Travel Plan Contributions consisting of: 

a. £2850 monitoring fee 

Page 8



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

b. £160,500 for Personalised Travel Advice 

c. £107,000 for Travel Plan Implementation Bond 
d) Off site Highway Improvements Works on the A66 of £310,212.79 

e) Management Programme for open space and play areas 

f) 20% affordable housing, of which, 50% for affordable rent and 50% for affordable 
home ownership. 

 
that Planning Permission be granted subject to the following conditions: 

 
GENERAL 

 
1. Details of the appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale of the whole of the 

development or within each phase of the development hereby permitted (hereinafter called 
“the reserved matters”) for each phase shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority 

in writing before any development within that part of the site is commenced. The 
development shall be carried out as approved. 
 

REASON - To accord with the provisions of Section 92(1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 
2. Applications for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the local planning 
authority not later than five years from the date of this permission. 

 
REASON - To accord with the provisions of Section 92(1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
 

3. The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than two years from the date of 
approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved. 

 
REASON - To accord with the provisions of Section 92(1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 

APPROVED PLANS 
 

4. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans: 

 
a) Drawing Number CR D LP01 REV A - Location Plan 
b) Drawing Number 14011/GA/01 Rev D Site Access Proposals 

 
            REASON - For the avoidance of doubt. 
 

5. The application(s) made pursuant to condition 1 shall not propose more than 535 
dwellings. 

  
             REASON - For the avoidance of doubt. 
 
HILLSIDE CONDITION 
 

Page 9



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

6. The development hereby permitted shall be built in accordance with the approved plans 

listed at Condition 4) and the approved Indicative Development Framework plan (Drawing 
Number 7055-SK-01_N) listed at condition 7 unless a further planning application specific to 

one or more of the severable areas is submitted and approved by the Council in substitution 
for that part of the approved development. If such an application is approved, the remaining 

severable areas may still be developed as approved in this planning permission, it being 
intended that this Planning permission should permit each severable area separately and 
severably from the others. 

 
REASON - For the avoidance of doubt. 

 

MASTERPLAN 
 

7. The detailed matters to be covered in the Reserved Matters, shall be carried out in 
broad accordance with the Indicative Development Framework plan (Drawing Number 7055-
SK-01_N) contained in the application and the plans submitted therewith and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority or as shall have been otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 
REASON - In order to achieve a satisfactory form of development. 

 
NUTRIENT NEUTRALITY 

 
8. The 336th dwelling of the development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until:  

 
a) A mitigation package addressing the additional nutrient input arising from the 

development has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority. Such mitigation package shall address the additional nutrient 

load imposed on protected European Sites by the development beyond the 
occupation of the 336th dwelling and shall allow the Local Planning Authority in 

consultation with Natural England to ascertain that such additional nutrient 
loading will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of the protected European 

Sites, having regard to the conservation objectives for those sites; and 
  

b) All measures forming part of that mitigation package have been implemented as 
approved.  

 
REASON - To ensure the development is nutrient neutral in accordance with the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.  

 
9. Prior to the occupation of the first dwelling, details shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority to show that agricultural production on all land 
within the redline boundary of the planning application site has ceased. The evidence shall 
include the submission of a management plan setting out how the agricultural use remains 
ceased and an annual report demonstrating continued adherence to this mitigation strategy.  

  
REASON - To ensure the development is nutrient neutral in accordance with the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.  

 

Page 10



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

10. Notwithstanding the approved plans, the development hereby approved shall include a 

minimum of 13.28 hectares of greenspace, unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning 
Authority and prior to the occupation of the first dwelling, a landscape management plan, 

including the long term design objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance 
schedules for all landscaped areas (except privately owned domestic gardens) shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The landscape 
management plan shall be carried out as approved and any subsequent amendments shall be 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include the following 
elements:  
 

a) The detail, extent and type of new planting;  
b) Details of management regimes including confirmation that the green spaces will 

be managed with no or low fertiliser input; This document was classified as:  
c) Details of any new habitat created on site including new drainage basins, habitat 

piles and great crested newt hibernacula;  
d) Details of treatments of site boundaries and/or buffers around water bodies;  

e) Details of dog waste bins and 
f) Details of management responsibilities  

 
REASON - To ensure the development is nutrient neutral in accordance with the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 
 

EXTERNAL MATERIALS 
 

11. No dwellings hereby approved within the development as a whole or within each phase 
of the development shall be erected above damp proof course level until samples and details 

of the external materials to be used in the construction of those dwellings in that phase have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development 

shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
 
REASON - In the interests of the visual amenity. 

 
NOISE 

 
12. For each phase of the development, prior to or at the same time as a reserved matters 
application relating to layout, a detailed noise impact assessment and scheme of noise 
mitigation for the protection of proposed residential properties from road traffic noise (from 

the A1(M), Coniscliffe Road and the new strategic spine road) and noise from the Baydale 
Beck Public House, compiled by a suitably qualified and experienced acoustic consultant, 
shall be submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority. The noise impact 
assessment shall consider the proposed layout, orientation and design of the dwellings based 

on good acoustic design* and the scope of the assessment shall be agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority prior to the submission of the assessment.  

 
a) The noise impact assessment shall demonstrate via calculations that the 

following internal and external noise levels in respect of residential properties 
are not exceeded:  
 
 Internal noise levels for bedrooms shall not exceed 30dB LAeq(8 hour)** 

Page 11



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Internal levels shall not exceed 45dB LAFmax more than 15 times during the 

night*** 

 Internal noise levels for living rooms shall not exceed 35dB LAeq(16 hour)**  
 External noise levels within garden areas shall not exceed 55dB LAeq(16 

hour)** unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority  
 

* A good acoustic design process should be followed in accordance with 
Professional Practice Guidance on Planning & Noise New Residential 

Development, May 2017.  
** LAeq(8 hour) nighttime 8 hours between 23:00 and 07:00 and LAeq(16 

hour) daytime 16 hours between 07:00 and 23:00. In relation to garden 
areas, where possible the desirable level of 50dB LAeq(16 hour) shall not be 
exceeded.  
*** Justification shall be included in the noise impact assessment on the 
external LAFmax used to calculate the façade mitigation required and 
internal noise levels. 

 
b) The detailed scheme of noise mitigation shall include the following:  

 
 Details of the sound insulation, alternative forms of ventilation and any 

other works to be provided for the proposed residential properties to 
achieve the internal and external noise levels as specified above.  

 The details (height, density), design and location of any acoustic barrier to 
be installed to achieve the internal and external noise levels at the proposed 
residential properties as specified above.  

 A plan identifying the proposed residential properties which require noise 

mitigation and the noise mitigation measures to be installed.  
 

c) The requirements of this condition or parts of the condition can be dispensed 
with if it is demonstrated and agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority that no adverse noise impacts from a particular source(s) will arise for 

the particular phase of the development.  
 

The development of the phase(s) to which the noise impact assessment and scheme 
of noise mitigation relates shall not be carried out other than in complete accordance 

with the details so approved and thereafter shall be retained and maintained for the 
duration of the development. All works required by the scheme to achieve the 

internal and external noise levels at a residential property shall be completed prior to 
the occupation of that particular property. 

 
REASON - In order to safeguard the amenities of the future impacts of the 

development. 
 
CONSTRUCTION IMPACTS 

 
13. Prior to the commencement of each phase of the development, a site-specific 
Construction Management Plan shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The plan shall include the following, unless the Local Planning Authority 
dispenses with any requirement[s] specifically and in writing:  

Page 12



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

a) Dust Assessment Report which assesses the dust emission magnitude, the 
sensitivity of the area, risk of impacts and details of the dust control measures to 

be put in place during the construction phase of the development. The Dust 
Assessment Report shall take account of the guidance contained within the 

Institute of Air Quality Management “Guidance on the assessment of dust from 
demolition and construction” February 2014.  

b) Methods for controlling noise and vibration during the construction phase and 
shall take account of the guidance contained within BS5228 “Code of Practice for 
noise and vibration control on construction and open sites” 2009.  

c) Details of any temporary construction access to the site including measures for 
removal following completion of construction works. 

d) Wheel and chassis underside washing facilities on site to ensure that mud and 
debris is not spread onto the adjacent public highway.  

e) The parking of contractors’ site operatives and visitor’s vehicles.  
f) Areas for storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 

clear of the highway. 
g) Measures to manage the delivery of materials and plant to the site including 

routing and timing of deliveries and loading and unloading areas. 
h) Details of the routes to be used by HGV construction traffic and highway 

condition surveys on these routes.  

i)Protection of carriageway and footway users at all times during demolition and 

construction. 

j)Protection of contractors working adjacent to the highway. 
k) Details of site working hours.  

l)Erection and maintenance of hoardings including decorative displays, security 
fencing and scaffolding on/over the footway & carriageway and facilities for 

public viewing where appropriate. 

m) Means of minimising dust emissions arising from construction activities on the 

site, including details of all dust suppression measures and the methods to 
monitor emissions of dust arising from the development.  

n) Measures to control and monitor construction noise. 
o) An undertaking that there must be no burning of materials on site at any time 

during construction. 

p) Removal of materials from site including a scheme for recycling/disposing of 

waste resulting from demolition and construction works. 

q) Details of the measures to be taken for the protection of trees. 

r) Details of external lighting equipment. 

s) Details of any ditches to be piped during the construction phases. 

t) A detailed method statement and programme for the building works; and  

u) Contact details for the responsible person (site manager/office) who can be 

contacted in the event of any issue. 

 

The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance 

with the approved Plan. 
 

REASON - In the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenity of the local 
area. 

Page 13



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

14. Construction work for each phase of the development, including the use of plant and 
machinery (including generators) as well as deliveries to and from the site(s) , shall not take 

place outside the hours of 08.00 - 18.00 Monday - Friday, 08.00 - 14.00 Saturday with no 
working on a Sunday and Bank/Public Holidays without the prior written permission from the 

Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON - To protect the amenity of the local area. 

 
15. For each phase of the development, if piled foundations are proposed, details of the 
piling method including justification for its choice, means of monitoring vibration and 
groundwater risk assessment, if necessary, in accordance with recognised guidance shall be 

submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the approved details. 

 
REASON - To protect the amenity of the local area. 

 
LAND CONTAMINATION 

 
16. Prior to the commencement of each phase of the development and any site 

investigation works or at a time agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority a Phase 2 
Site Investigation Strategy (Sampling and Analysis Plan) shall be designed and documented 

by a "suitably competent person(s)" in accordance with published technical guidance (e.g. 
BS10175 and CLR11) and be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning 

Authority, unless the Local Planning Authority dispenses with the requirement specifically 
and in writing. The Phase 2 Site Investigation Strategy (Sampling and Analysis Plan) shall be 

sufficient to fully and effectively characterise and evaluate the nature and extent of any 
potential contamination and assess pollutant linkages. No alterations to the agreed Phase 2 

Site Investigation Strategy or associated works shall be carried out without the prior written 
agreement of the Local Planning Authority. 
 

REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is 
within 250 metres of a site which has been landfilled. To ensure that risks from land 

contamination to the future uses of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 
together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out without unacceptable risks to 
receptors, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 2023.  

 
17. Prior to the commencement of each phase of the development or at a time agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority a Phase 2 Site Investigation works shall be conducted, 
supervised and documented by a “suitably competent person(s)” and carried out in 

accordance with the approved Phase 2 Site Investigation Strategy (Sampling and Analysis 
Plan). A Phase 2 Site Investigation and Risk Assessment Report prepared by a “suitably 

competent person(s)”, in accordance with published technical guidance (e.g. BS10175 and 
CLR11) and shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority 
unless the Local Planning Authority dispenses with the requirement specifically and in 
writing.  

 
REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is 

Page 14



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

within 250 metres of a site which has been landfilled. To ensure that risks from land 

contamination to the future uses of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 
together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 

ensure that the development can be carried out without unacceptable risks to 
receptors, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 2023. 

 
 

18. Prior to the commencement of each phase of the development or at a time agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority a Phase 3 Remediation and Verification Strategy shall 
be prepared by a "suitably competent person(s)" to address all human health and 
environmental risks associated with contamination identified in the Phase 2 Site 
Investigation and Risk Assessment. The Remediation and Verification Strategy which shall 

include an options appraisal and ensure that the site is suitable for its new use and no 
unacceptable risks remain, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local 

Planning Authority, unless the Local Planning Authority dispenses with the requirement 
specifically and in writing.  

 
REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is 

within 250 metres of a site which has been landfilled. To ensure that risks from land 
contamination to the future uses of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 

together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out without unacceptable risks to 

receptors, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 2023. 
 

19. Any contamination not considered in the Phase 3 Remediation and Verification Strategy 
but identified during subsequent construction/remediation works shall be reported in writing 

within a reasonable timescale to the Local Planning Authority. The contamination shall be 
subject to further risk assessment and remediation proposals agreed in writing with the Local 

Planning Authority and the development completed in accordance with any further agreed 
amended specification of works.  

 
REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is 
within 250 metres of a site which has been landfilled. To ensure that risks from land 

contamination to the future uses of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 
together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out without unacceptable risks to 
receptors, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
20. The Phase 3 Remediation and Verification works shall be conducted, supervised and 
documented by a "suitably competent person(s)" and in accordance with the agreed Phase 3 
Remediation and Verification Strategy. No alterations to the agreed Remediation and 

Verification Strategy or associated works shall be carried out without the prior written 
agreement of the Local Planning Authority. A Phase 4 Verification and Completion Report 

shall be compiled and reported by a "suitably competent person(s)", documenting the 
purpose, objectives, investigation and risk assessment findings, remediation methodologies, 
validation results and post remediation monitoring carried out to demonstrate the 
completeness and effectiveness of all agreed remediation works conducted. The Phase 4 
Verification and Completion Report and shall be submitted and agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority within 2-months of completion of the development or at a time 

Page 15



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

agreed unless the Local Planning Authority dispenses with the requirement specifically and in 

writing. The development site or agreed phase of development site, shall not be occupied 
until all of the approved investigation, risk assessment, remediation and verification 

requirements relevant to the site (or part thereof) have been completed, reported and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is 
within 250 metres of a site which has been landfilled. To ensure that risks from land 
contamination to the future uses of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 
together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out without unacceptable risks to 
receptors, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
PHASING PLAN 

 
21. Notwithstanding the detail shown on the approved plans, no development (except for 

site preparation works and the formation of a site compound) shall take place until a scheme 
of phasing for the dwellings, highways, and Drainage infrastructure and as sociated open 

space/green infrastructure has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. Development shall be carried out broadly in accordance with the 

approved details.  
 

REASON - To ensure that the key elements of each phase of the development is 
completed in an order which ensures that infrastructure needs, landscaping/open 

space and access are in place relevant to each phase before further development is 
undertaken, in the interests of good planning. 

 
FLOOD RISK AND DRAINAGE 

 
22. The development hereby approved shall not be commence on site, until a scheme of 
Surface Water Drainage and Management” for the implementation, maintenance and 
management of a Sustainable Surface Water Drainage Scheme has first been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented 

and thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with the approved details, The 
scheme shall include but not be restricted to providing the following details; 
 

a) Detailed design of the surface water management system including design 

water levels and finished floor levels demonstrating a suitable freeboard 
b) A build program and timetable for the provision of the critical surface water 

drainage infrastructure 
c) A management plan detailing how surface water runoff from the site will be 

managed during construction Phase 
d) Details of adoption responsibilities; and 

e) Management plan for the Surface Water Drainage scheme and any 
maintenance and funding arrangement; 

 
The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the approved 
‘Surface Water Drainage’ scheme has been implemented and the approved scheme 
shall be maintained in accordance with the Surface Water Management scheme for 

Page 16



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

the lifetime of the development. 

 
REASON - To ensure the site is developed in a manner that will not increase the risk of 

surface water flooding to site or surrounding area, in accordance with the guidance 
within Policy DC2 of the Darlington Local Plan and the National Planning Policy 

Framework 2023. 
 

23. The development permitted by this planning permission shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the approved document “Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water 

Management Strategy for a Proposed Residential Development at Coniscliffe Road, 
Darlington” dated “ produced by ID Civils Design Ltd dated October 2017” and the following 

mitigation measures detailed within the FRA: 
 

 Limiting the surface water runoff generated by the impermeable areas of the 

development up to and including the 100 year critical storm so that it will not 
exceed the runoff from the undeveloped site and not increase the risk of 
flooding off site This will be achieved in accordance with the calculations within 
Section 5 stating a post development discharge limit of 89 l/s. 

 
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation and 
subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within 
the scheme, or within any period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the 
local planning authority. 
 

REASON - To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of / disposal of 
surface water from the site and to reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed 

development and future occupants.  
 

24. No buildings/dwellings should be occupied until the surface water management 
system for the development or any phase of the development is in place and fully 

operational. A maintenance plan detailing how the surface water management system 
will be maintained during the construction phase must also be submitted and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

REASON - To reduce flood risk during construction/development of the site. 
 

25. The development permitted by this planning permission shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the approved “Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water Management 

Strategy for a Proposed Residential Development at Coniscliffe Road, Darlington” dated “ 
produced by ID Civils Design Ltd dated October 2017” and the following mitigation measures 
detailed within the FRA:  

 
a) Limiting the developable area, excluding roads and footpaths, outside of the 

flood zone areas and outside of the 8 metre easement of the Main Rivers in the 
vicinity.  

 
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 

subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within 
the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by 

Page 17



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

the local planning authority. 

 
REASON - To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 

occupants. 
 

26. The development hereby permitted shall not commence until such time as a detailed 
sewage infrastructure plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 
planning authority. The plan shall be implemented as approved and shall include the 
following elements:  
 

 A timescale for the proposed works at Northumbrian Water Limited (NWL) sewage 
treatment works, which will provide the required extra capacity and treatment 
levels to prevent deterioration of the Water Framework Directive (WFD) status of 
the Tees from Skerne to Tidal Limit waterbody (GB103025072595). This will 
ensure that any proposed works will align with the build times  of the 
development;  

 An assessment of the WFD impacts to the Skerne to Tidal Limit waterbody 
(GB103025072595) from the increase of foul drainage looking at the impact of 
Ammonia and Phosphate concentrations of the waterbody.  

 An assessment of the hydraulic capacity, where any combined sewers will be 

connected into, demonstrating that no additional spills from combined systems 
will occur due to a lack of hydraulic capacity; and 

 An assessment of the total volume of foul drainage that will be generated by the 
development. 
  

REASON - The Water Environment (Water Framework Directive) Regulations 2017 
and the Northumbria River Basin Management Plan requires the restoration and 
enhancement of water bodies to prevent deterioration and promote recovery of 
water bodies. It specifically states that no waterbody should deteriorate in status and 
aim to achieve Good Status or Good Ecological Potential as soon as is reasonably 
practical. Any proposed plan or development should not contradict the Northumbria 
River Basin Management Plan 2015. Without this condition, the impact could cause 

deterioration of the Water Framework Directive status of the Tees from Skerne to 
Tidal Limit waterbody, which currently has a WFD status of Moderate. 

 
27. The development hereby permitted shall not commence until such time as a 
Construction Surface Water Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved, and 
the plan should include, but not limited to, the following:  
 

 Treatment and removal of suspended solids from surface water run-off during 

construction works;  
 Approach to ensure no sewage pollution or misconnections;  

 Approach to ensure water mains are not damaged during construction works;  

 Management of fuel and chemical spills during construction and operation, 

including the process in place to ensure the environment is not detrimentally 
impacted in the event of a spill;  

 If contaminated land is present then construction runoff is likely to contain 
hazardous chemicals and elements. If this is the case, a scheme is required to 

Page 18



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

manage the associated risks, and minimise mobilisation of hazardous pollutants 

into the water environment during construction and site operation.  
 

REASON - To ensure that the development does not contribute to and is not put at 
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by unacceptable levels of water 

pollution in line with paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2023. 
 

28. No development shall take place until a Biosecurity Plan has been submitted to, and 
agreed in writing by, the local planning authority and implemented as approved. The 
biosecurity plan shall include the following elements:  
 

 biosecurity and Invasive Non Native Species (INNS) management best practice, 

utilising the check-clean-dry procedure across the site. 
 identify specific actions and mitigation for known INNS, and methods to ensure no 

INNS are brought on to site; and  
 a procedure should be outlined in the event of new INNS being discovered whilst on 

site; in the event of which a strategy for containment and removal should be 
enacted.  

 
REASON - To prevent the spread of invasive non-native species, such as signal 
crayfish, Himalayan balsam, American skunk cabbage, rhododendron, giant hogweed, 
and Japanese knotweed. 

 
29. Development shall be implemented in line with the drainage scheme contained within 
the submitted document entitled “Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water Management 
Strategy for a Proposed Residential Development at Coniscliffe Road, Darlington” dated “ 
produced by ID Civils Design Ltd dated October 2017”. The drainage scheme shall ensure that 
foul flows discharge to the foul sewer at manhole 4901 and ensure that surface water 

discharges to the existing watercourse. 
 

REASON - To prevent the increased risk of flooding from any sources in accordance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework 2023. 

 
ECOLOGY 

 
30. The development hereby approved shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete 

accordance with the Recommendations contained within Chapter 6 of the document entitled 
“Ecological Appraisal – Land to the North of Coniscliffe Road, Darlington” dated December 
2021 and produced by Delta Simons unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

              
REASON - In the interest of protecting habitats and biodiversity. 

 

31. At each Reserved Matters stage, an updated DEFRA Metric shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to ensure that the proposal achieves a 

net gain in accordance with the submitted Biodiversity Net Gain Report “Land North of 
Coniscliffe Park, Darlington” produced by Delta Simons dated January 2022 unless otherwise 

agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Page 19



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

REASON - To ensure that any impacts on biodiversity and ecology are mitigated and 

that appropriate enhancement works, and biodiversity net gain are secured. 
 

32. At Reserved Matters stage, an updated 30 year Biodiversity and Ecological Management 
for the who development or each phase of the development shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall  be 
carried out and operated in full accordance with the measures contained within the final 
Biodiversity Management Plan, including provision for future monitoring, reporting and any 
necessary amendment of management measures, or such other alternative measures which 
may subsequently be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for the lifetime of 
the development hereby approved. 
  

REASON - To ensure that any impacts on biodiversity and ecology are mitigated and 
that appropriate enhancement works, and biodiversity net gain are secured. 

 
33. The landscaping scheme submitted under condition 1 shall seek to include the 

following ecological principles: 
 

 The Green Infrastructure corridor alongside the Baydale Beck should seek to 
significantly enhance the biodiversity value of this feature. Public access 

arrangements should reflect the importance of this feature as a wildlife corridor 
and the need to reduce disturbance of habitats along the Baydale Beck.  

 The SUDs should incorporate retention basins / wetland habitat types as 
alternatives to detention basins. Retention features still have a drainage function 

but deliver far greater biodiversity gains. The use of conveyance features and rain 
gardens should be considered throughout the development, integrated within 

Green Infrastructure and the development cells. 
 The built environment should also provide opportunities for wildlife. Housing 

should provide nesting and roosting opportunities for bats, birds and invertebrates 
through the incorporation of built-in wildlife bricks that provide opportunities for a 

range of species. The range of species catered for should be expansive and approx. 
30% of the houses should include some form of integrated nesting opportunities 

for wildlife. 

 A green corridor to the east which links the Baydale Beck to the development to the 

north. The corridor could incorporate semi-natural habitats and SUDs features to 
create ecological connectivity through the site and link the developments.  

 The use of flowering lawns rather than more intensively managed traditional 

amenity grasslands where considered appropriate. 
 

REASON - In the interest of protecting and enhancing habitats and biodiversity. 

 
HIGHWAYS 
 
34. Prior to the first occupation of the development, a detailed scheme for the offsite 

highway improvement works, including an arboricultural works and protection measures, at 
Blands Corner, shown indicatively on drawing 14011/GA/05 rev D, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with National Highways. 

 
REASON - To ensure that the A66 continues to serve its purpose as part of a national 

Page 20



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

system of routes for through traffic in accordance with Section 10 (2) of the Highways 

Act 1980, in the interests of road safety. 
 

35. Prior to the occupation of the 105th dwelling, the off-site highway improvement works 
referred to in condition No.34 shall be completed in accordance with such details as 

approved. 
REASON - To ensure that the A66 continues to serve its purpose as part of a national 
system of routes for through traffic in accordance with Section 10 (2) of the Highways 
Act 1980, in the interests of road safety. 

 
36. No more than 300 dwellings shall be occupied under this permission until the link road 
has constructed to the northern boundary of the site. 

              
REASON - In the interests of highway safety. 

 
37. Except for investigative works, no excavation or other groundworks or the depositing of 

material on site in connection with the construction of any road or any structure or 
apparatus which will lie beneath the road must take place on any phase of the road 

construction works, until swept path analysis, fully detailed engineering drawings of all 
aspects of roads and sewers for that phase, including any structures which affect or form 

part of the highway network, and a programme for delivery of such works have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 

must only be carried out in compliance with the approved engineering drawings. 
 

REASON - To secure an appropriate highway constructed to an adoptable standard in 
the interests of highway safety and the amenity and convenience of all highway 

users. 
 

38. No part of the development to which this permission relates must be brought into use 
until the carriageway and any footway or footpath from which it gains access is constructed 
to binder course macadam level or block paved (as approved) and kerbed and connected to 
the existing highway network with any street lighting installed and in operation. The 
completion of all road works, including any phasing, must be in accordance with a 

programme submitted to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority before 
any part of the development is brought into use. 

 
REASON - To ensure safe and appropriate access and egress to the premises, in the 

interests of highway safety and the convenience of all prospective highway users. 
 

39. Notwithstanding condition 21), except for investigative works, no excavation or other 
groundworks or the depositing of material on site in connection with the construction of any 

road or any structure or apparatus which will lie beneath the road must take place on any 
phase of the road construction works, until full detailed phasing plans of the internal highway 

and footways which affect or form part of the highway network, and a programme for 
delivery of such works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Details shall include for each individual phase; how each phase(s) of the 
development provide footway and cycleway connections between one another; and to the 
proposed Safer Routes to School STRS) network to the east of the application site, via the 
2no proposed bridges and 1no.existing bridge over Baydale Beck (whichever is applicable) 

Page 21



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

and other suitable routes.  This will include phasing details for new and improved/modified 

walking and cycling infrastructure to ensure that the cycling and walking network within the 
site are developed in a comprehensive and timely manner and provide safer routes to local 

schools. The development must only be carried out in compliance with the approved 
engineering drawings and the routes identified will be constructed in accordance with the 

phasing details prior to the occupation of each phase to ensure that residents have access to 
community services via active travel. 

 
REASON - To ensure safe and appropriate access and egress and turning facilities to 
all premises, in the interests of highway safety and the convenience of all prospective 
highway users. 

 

40. For each scheme of off-site highway mitigation, except for investigative works, no 
excavation or other groundworks or the depositing of material on site in connection with the 

construction of any scheme of off-site highway mitigation or any structure or apparatus 
which will lie beneath that scheme must take place, until full detailed engineering drawings 

of all aspects of that scheme including any structures which affect or form part of the scheme 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. An 

independent Stage 2 Road Safety Audit carried out in accordance with GG119 - Road Safety 
Audits or any superseding regulations must be included in the submission and the design 

proposals must be amended in accordance with the recommendations of the submitted 
Safety Audit prior to the commencement of works on site. A programme for the delivery of 

that scheme and its interaction with delivery of the other identified schemes must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to construction 

works commencing on site. Each item of the off-site highway works must be completed in 
accordance with the approved engineering details and programme of delivery.  

 
REASON - To ensure that the design is appropriate in the interests of the safety and 

convenience of highway users. 
 

41. There must be no access or egress by any vehicles between the highway and in curtilage 
driveway until visibility splays providing clear visibility of 2.0 metres x 2.0 metres measured 
down each side of the access and the back edge of the footway of the major road have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  In measuring the 
splays, the eye height must be 1.05 metres and the object height must be 0.6 metres.  Once 
created, these visibility splays must be maintained clear of any obstruction and retained for 
their intended purpose at all times. 

 
REASON - In the interests of highway safety. 
 

42. No dwelling on each phase of the development must be occupied until the related 

parking facilities submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
agreed parking provision shall be constructed in accordance with the details approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of each dwelling on each 
phase of the development.  Once created these areas must be maintained clear of any 
obstruction and retained for their intended purpose at all times. 

 
REASON - To provide for adequate and satisfactory provision of off-street 
accommodation for vehicles in the interest of safety and the general amenity of the 

Page 22



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

development. 

 
HOUSING MIX  

 
43. The development hereby approved shall comprise 45% of all new dwellings meeting 

building regulations category M4(2) adaptable and accessible dwelling standards and 9% 
meeting M4 (3 a or b) wheelchair user dwellings standard. Precise details of how this will be 
achieved shall be submitted as part of the Reserved Matters applications requested by 
condition 1) and the development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete 
accordance with the approved details. 
 

REASON – To ensure the development complies with policy H4 of the Darlington Local 

Plan 2016 – 2036. 
 

SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT 
 

44. Prior to the first occupation of dwellings on each phase of the development, precise 
details of cycle parking provision for each dwelling within that phase shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The cycle parking details shall 
accord with the guidance contained within Cycle Infrastructure Design - Local Transport Note 

1/20 July 2020 and shall be in place prior to the occupation of each dwelling. 
 

REASON - In order to promote sustainable modes of transport. 
 

45. Prior to the construction of dwellings within the development, precise details of the 
location and infrastructure design of bus stops on the proposed link road shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed scheme shall  be fully 
implemented to an adoptable standard and available for use within a timeframe to be 

agreed by the Local Planning Authority. 
REASON - To ensure that a bus service can be operational within the development. 
 

46. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved or each phase of the 
development, details of the type and location of an electrical socket suitable for charging 

electric vehicles for each property with a dedicated garage or parking space, shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter the development 
shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of the 
dwellings and maintained as such thereafter.   

 
REASON - To accord with Policy IN4 of the Local Plan. 

 
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY 

 
47. Prior to the commencement of the development, a phased Public Right of Way Strategy 

shall be submitted and approved in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall 
include but not be limited to, details of shielding, surfacing, crossings and further provisions 
made for the Public Rights of Way both on and surrounding the s ite., details of timelines for 
construction in proximity to the Public Rights of Way and how users will be kept safe during 
the construction period of each phase. The development shall not be carried out otherwise 
than in complete accordance with the approved details. 

Page 23



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

REASON - To protect and enhance the existing Public Rights of Way in accordance 
with Policy IN1 of the Darlington Local Plan 2016 – 2036. 

 
PLAY AREAS 

 
48. The details to be submitted in pursuance of Condition 1 shall include details on the 
precise number, design and location of children’s play areas within the application site, the 
details of the play equipment that would be provided within the areas  and a timeframe for 
their implementation. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete 
accordance with the approved details and the agreed details shall be retained during the 
lifetime of the development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. 
 

REASON - In the interests of the character and appearance of the proposed development.  
 

 
LANDSCAPING 

 
49. The landscaping details to be submitted in pursuance of Condition 1 shall include the 

provision of green infrastructure based on the formula contained within Policy ENV5 of the 
Darlington Local Plan 2016 - 2036. The types of green infrastructure shall include informal 

recreation space, wildlife friendly space, street trees and landscape buffers/enhancements to 
Baydale Beck corridor including linkages, on the western boundary adjoining the Merrybent 

Community Woodland to the agricultural land to the north and the frontage with the A67 . 
The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance with the 

approved details. 
 

REASON - In the interests of the character and appearance of the proposed 
development and in order to comply with Housing Allocation Statement (Site 41 – 
Coniscliffe Park South) contained within Appendix B Darlington Local Plan 2016 – 
2036. 

 

50. The landscaping details agreed under condition 1 shall be shall be fully implemented 
concurrently with the carrying out of the development or each phase of the development, or 
within such extended period which may be agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority 
and thereafter any trees or shrubs removed, dying, severely damaged or becoming seriously 

diseased shall be replaced, and the landscaping scheme maintained for a period of five years 
to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
             REASON - In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 

 
BROADBAND CONNECTIVITY 

 
51. Prior to the any commencement of development or any phase of the 
development, above damp proof course level, a statement shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority detailing the measures necessary 
for providing broadband connectivity, including ducts, to each premises within the 
development hereby approved.  The approved infrastructure shall be laid out in 

Page 24



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

accordance with the details as approved at the same time as other services during the 

construction process and be available for use on the first occupation of each building 
and thereafter be so maintained for the lifetime of the development. 

 
REASON - To ensure that the development is provided with high quality broadband 

services enhancing its attractiveness, in accordance with Policy IN8 of the Local Plan. 
 

TREES 
 
52. The details to be submitted in pursuance of Condition 1 shall include an Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment, an Arboricultural Method Statement and a Tree Protection Plan for the 
whole development or each phase. The submitted details for the Tree Protection Plan shall 

comprise generally the specification laid down within BS 5837 and shall include fencing of at 
least 2.3m high, consisting of a scaffolding frame braced to resist impacts, supported by a 

wired to the uprights and horizontals to dissuade encroachment. The agreed scheme of 
protection shall be in place before the commencement of any work, including demolition 

operations. The Local Planning Authority shall be given notice of the completion of the 
protection works prior to the commencement of any work to allow an inspection of the 

measurements to ensure compliance with the approved scheme of protection. 
Notwithstanding the above approved specification, none of the following activities shall take 

place within the segregated protection zones in the area of the trees:  
 

a) The raising or lowering of levels in relation to the existing ground levels;  
b) Cutting of roots, digging of trenches or removal of soil;  

c) Erection of temporary buildings, roads or carrying out of any engineering 
operations;  

d) Lighting of fires;  
e) Driving of vehicles or storage of materials and equipment.  

 
REASON - In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and surrounding area.  

 

TRAVEL PLAN 

 

53. Further to the submitted Framework Travel Plan (May 2017 Rev 2), a Travel Plan (TP) 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation 
with the Local Highway Authority and Highways England. prior to the first occupation of each 

phase of the development hereby approved. The individual Travel Plan shall be added to the 
ModeshiftStars Community / Modeshift Stars Business/Residential site and the Travel Plan 

shall be continued in accordance with the details contained therein, including attaining 
Bronze Standard within 12 months of the occupation of the phase of development and 

annual reviews for the first five years of the Plan unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 
REASON - To encourage and promote sustainable transport. 

 
ARCHAEOLOGY 

 
54. No development shall commence until a written scheme of investigation setting out a 
phased programme of archaeological work in accordance with 'Standards For All 

Page 25



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Archaeological Work In County Durham And Darlington' has been submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The programme of archaeological work will then 
be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme of works. 

 
REASON - To safeguard any Archaeological Interest in the site, and to comply with 

part 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2023. 
 
55. No part of an individual phase of the development as set out in the agreed programme 
of archaeological works shall be occupied until the post investigation assessment has been 
completed in accordance with the approved Written Scheme of Investigation. The provision 
made for analysis, publication and dissemination of results, and archive deposition, should 
be confirmed in writing to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority.  

 
REASON - To comply with Paragraph 205 of the National Planning Policy Framework 

2023, which requires the developer to record and advance understanding of the 
significance of heritage assets, and to ensure information gathered becomes publicly 

accessible. 
 

SOIL 
 

56. The development hereby approved shall be carried out with having regard to the 
methods for safeguarding soil resources, the use and protection of soils in construction 

projects, including the movement and management of soil resources contained with 
“Construction Code of Practice for the Sustainable Use of Solis on Construction Sites (2009) 

produced by DEFRA and the British Society of Soil Science Guidance Note Benefitting from 
Soil Management in Development and Construction. 

 
REASON - In order to safeguard soil resources as part of the overall sustainability 

objectives of the development. 
 
NOTE: Should the 106 Agreement not be completed within this prescribed period without 
the written consent of the Council to extend this time, the minded to approve status of the 
Permission shall be considered to be a refusal on the grounds that the Application has failed 

to provide adequate mitigation measures to provide a satisfactory form of development in 
accordance with the requirements of Darlington Local Plan 2016-2036, without further 
reference to the Planning Committee.  
 

(2)  LAND SOUTH OF STAINDROP ROAD 
 

 17/00636/OUTE - Outline planning permission for residential development of up to 985 
dwellings (Use Class C3), convenience store with up to 400 sqm retail floor space (Use Class 

E), a GP (Class E)  land for proposed primary school and early years school (Use Class F1) and 
sports pitches with associated parking, public open space, landscaping and sustainable 

drainage system (SUDS), onsite nutrient mitigation scheme and vehicular access points from 
Staindrop Road with all matters reserved except means of vehicular access For the avoidance 
of doubt planning permission is hereby sought separately and severably for site 
infrastructure landscaping and development cells identified on plan reference Indicative 
Development Framework plan (Drawing Number 7055-SK-01_R) (amended Flood Risk 
Assessment received 7 September 2017, Minerals Report, Agricultural Land Report and 

Page 26



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Phasing Plan received 26 September 2017, 2 October 2017, 9 October 2017, Archaeology 

Report received 23 November 2018; Transport Assessment Addendum and Arboricultural 
Report received 3 January 2019 and Environmental Statement received 11 January 2019; 

amended Planning Statement; updated Environmental Statement Addendum; Environmental 
Statement Non Technical Summary and Ecological reports received 28 January 2022; Shadow 

Habitat Regulations Assessment; Health Impact Assessment; Retail Sequential Test 
Assessment received 3 October 2022; amended Planning Statement Addendum, Biodiversity 
Net Gain Assessment received 2 November 2022; amended Indicative Development 
Framework Plan received 12 May 2023; amended Nutrient Neutrality Assessment and 
Mitigation Strategy Report and Shadow Habitats Regulations Assessment received 14 August 
2023). 
 

(In making its decision, the Committee took into consideration the Planning Officer’s report 
(previously circulated), the views of the Council’s Highways Engineer, Environmental Health 

Officer, Transport Policy Officer, Travel Plan Officer, Ecology Consultant, Head of Skills and 
Employability (Education), Conservation Officer and Public Rights of Way Officer, the views of 

the Durham County Council Archeology Team, the Environment Agency, Northumbrian 
Water, the Lead Local Flood Authority, National Highways, Natural England, Historic England, 

Northern Gasworks and Sport England.  
 

Members were informed that prior to the adoption of the Darlington Local Plan (2016-2036) 
in February 2022, the planning application had attracted 72 letters of objection and three 

letters of representation. At this time objections were also received from Darlington Friends 
of the Earth, Darlington Bird Club, the Campaign for the Protection of Rural Countryside 

(CPRE), Jenny Chapman MP and Phil Wilson MP on behalf of constituents, and Low 
Coniscliffe and Merrybent Parish Council. A further 163 objections had been received 

following further notification exercises undertaken by the local planning authority, when 
appropriate, and the views of the Applicant’s Agent, and two objectors, whom the 

Committee heard.) 
 
RESOLVED – Subject to the completion of an agreement under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 within six months to secure planning obligations that are 
appropriate for the development covering: 

 
a) £487,500 - A Public Transport contribution for Bus Service 
b) £989,457 - Public Rights of Way Improvements and Safe Route to School 

including new bridge crossings 

c) Travel Plan Contributions consisting of: 
 

1) £2850 monitoring fee 
2) Up to £295,500 for Personalised Travel Advice (based on £300 per 

household) 
3) Up to £197,000 for Travel Plan Implementation Bond (based on £200 

per household) 
 

d) £573,111.69 Off site Highway Improvements Works on the A66/A67/ B6280 
Morton Palms Roundabout north bound approach and A66/A1150 Burdon 
Roundabout 

e) Up to £1,947,436.81 for off site highway improvements on the A68 corridor 

Page 27



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(based on £1,977.09 per dwelling) 

f) £5000 for implementing a Traffic Regulation Order 
g) Management Programme for open space and play areas.  

h) Details of the retention and transfer of the land set aside for a primary school, 
playing fields, a local store and healthcare facility 

i) 20% affordable housing, of which, 50% for affordable rent and 50% for 
affordable home ownership. 

 
that Planning Permission be granted subject to the following conditions: 
 
GENERAL 
1.  

Details of the appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale of the whole of the development or 
within each phase of the development hereby permitted (hereinafter called “the reserved 

matters”) for each phase shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing 
before any development within that part of the site is commenced. The development shall 

be carried out as approved. 
 

REASON - To accord with the provisions of Section 92(1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 
2. Applications for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the local planning 

authority not later than ten years from the date of this permission. 
 

REASON - To accord with the provisions of Section 92(1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 
3. The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than two years from the date of 

approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved. 
 
REASON - To accord with the provisions of Section 92(1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 

APPROVED PLANS 

 
4. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans: 
 

c) Drawing Number 7055 –L- 100 -  Location Plan 
d) Drawing Number p16033-002A – Proposed Access Arrangement (only those 

works within the existing public highway and the application site) 
 
REASON - For the avoidance of doubt. 

 

5. The application(s) made pursuant to condition 1 shall not propose more than 985 

dwellings and a local centre comprising convenience store with up to 400 sqm retail floor 
space (e Class E), a GP (Class E)  land for proposed primary school and early years school (Use 
Class F1) and sports pitches with associated parking. 
 

REASON - For the avoidance of doubt. 

Page 28



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

HILLSIDE CONDITION 
 

6. The development hereby permitted shall be built in accordance with the approved plans 
listed at Condition 4) and the approved Indicative Development Framework plan (Drawing 

Number 7055-SK-01_R) listed at condition 7 unless a further planning application specific to  
one or more of the severable areas is submitted and approved by the Council in substitution 
for that part of the approved development. If such an application is approved, the remaining 
severable areas may still be developed as approved in this planning permission, it being 
intended that this Planning permission should permit each severable area separately and 
severably from the others. 

 

REASON - For the avoidance of doubt. 
 

MASTERPLAN 
 
7. The detailed matters to be covered in the Reserved Matters, shall be carried out in 
broad accordance with the Indicative Development Framework plan (Drawing Number 7055-
SK-01_R) contained in the application and the plans submitted therewith and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority or as shall have been otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority.  
              

REASON - In order to achieve a satisfactory form of development. 
 

NUTRIENT NEUTRALITY 
 

8. Prior to the commencement of any phase of the development hereby permitted, details 

of a nutrient mitigation scheme for that phase of development shall be submitted to, and 

approved in writing, by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Natural England. 

Such mitigation scheme shall address the additional nutrient load imposed on protected 

European Sites by the development and shall allow the Local Planning Authority in 

consultation with Natural England to ascertain that such additional nutrient loading by the 

development will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of the protected European 

Sites, having regard to the conservation objectives for those sites. The mitigation scheme 

should also take into account changes in legislation and any upgrades to Stressholme 

Wastewater Treatment Works. The approved nutrient mitigation scheme shall be 
implemented for that phase prior to the first occupation of any dwelling within that phase of 

the development, in accordance with the approved mitigation scheme, and any subsequent 
amendments shall be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Where part or all of the nutrient mitigation scheme relies upon the cessation of 

agricultural production within the red line boundary, then prior to the occupation of 
the first dwelling within that phase of the development evidence shall be proved in 

writing that such uses have ceased, a management plan setting out how the 

agricultural use remains ceased and an annual report demonstrating continued 

adherence to the nutrient mitigation scheme as approved. 
 

REASON - To ensure the development is nutrient neutral in accordance with the 

Page 29



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as updated, amended and 

superseded). 

 
9. Where part or all of the nutrient mitigation scheme relies upon an appropriate 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDs), precise details of the SuDs measures and the 
reduction to the nitrogen levels in accordance with guidance contained within Ciria 
“Using SuDs to reduce Nitrogen In Surface Water Run off” document (C815) dated 
2023 shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance with the 
agreed details, which shall be implemented in full for that phase prior to the 
occupation of the first dwelling within that phase of the development. 
 
Where part or all of the nutrient mitigation scheme (in a) above) includes reliance 
upon greenspace and/or landscaped areas within the site red line boundary, then 
prior to the commencement of that phase of the development a landscape 
management plan, including the long term design objectives, management 

responsibilities, and maintenance schedules for such greenspace and/or landscaped 
areas (except privately owned domestic gardens) shall be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The landscape management plan shall be 
carried out as approved and any subsequent amendments shall be agreed in writing 

by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include the following elements:  
 

a) The detail, extent and type of new planting.  

b) Details of management regimes including confirmation that the green spaces 

and/or landscaped areas will be managed with no or low fertiliser input.  

c) Details of any new habitat created on site including new drainage basins, habitat 

piles and great crested newt hibernacula.  

d) Details of treatments of site boundaries and/or buffers around water bodies.  
e) Details of dog waste bins [and signs to encourage their use] 

f) Details of management responsibilities 
g) Details of timetables for provision, management and maintenance of each element  

 

REASON - To ensure the development is nutrient neutral in accordance with the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as updated, amended and 
superseded). 

 
EXTERNAL MATERIALS 

 
10. No dwellings hereby approved within the development as a whole or within each phase 
of the development shall be erected above damp proof course level until samples and details 

of the external materials to be used in the construction of those dwellings in that phase ha ve 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development 

shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
 
REASON - In the interests of the visual amenity. 

 
PLAYING FIELDS/PITCHES 
 

Page 30



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

11. The Reserved Matters referred to in Condition 1 shall provide detail of how the 

proposed playing fields shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with the with the 
standards and methodologies set out in the guidance note "Natural Turf for Sport" (Sport 

England, 2011), and shall be made available for use in accordance with a phasing plan to be 
submitted as part of the Reserved Matters application.  

 
REASON - To ensure that the development makes appropriate sporting provision for 
its residents in accordance with para. 92 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
2023. 
 

12. Prior to the first use of any sports pitch(es) to be available for Community use, a 
Community Use Agreement prepared in consultation with Sport England shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and a copy of the completed 
approved agreement shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority. The Agreement shall 

apply to the sports pitch(es) and include details of pricing policy, hours of use, access by non-
school users, management responsibilities and a mechanism for review, and anything else 

which the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Sport England consider necessary in 
order to secure the effective community use of the facilities. The development shall not be 

used at any time other than in strict compliance with the approved Agreement. 
 

REASON - To ensure that the development makes appropriate sporting provision for 

its residents in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 2023. 

 
FLOOD RISK AND DRAINAGE 
 
13. The development permitted by this planning permission shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the document entitled Flood Risk Assessment – Land South of Staindrop 
Road dated May 2017 and produced by Enzygo Environmental Consultants  and the following 
mitigation measures detailed within the FRA:  
 

a) Limiting the developable area, excluding roads and footpaths, outside of the 
8 metre distance of the Main Rivers within the vicinity.  

 
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
subsequently in accordance with the timing/phasing arrangements embodied within 
the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by 
the local planning authority.  
 
REASON - To ensure future access to the Main Rivers for maintenance purposes. 

 
14. No development shall take place until a Biosecurity Plan has been submitted to, and 

agreed in writing by, the local planning authority and implemented as approved. The 
biosecurity plan shall include the following elements:  

 
a) biosecurity and invasive non-native species (INNS) management best practice, 

utilising the check-clean-dry procedure across the site. 
b) identify specific actions and mitigation for known INNS, and methods to ensure 

no INNS are brought on to site.  
c) a procedure should be outlined in the event of new INNS being discovered 

Page 31



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

whilst on site; in the event of which a strategy for containment and removal 

should be enacted.  
 

REASON - To prevent the spread of invasive non-native species, such as Himalayan 
balsam, New Zealand pigmyweed, giant hogweed, Japanese knotweed, and signal 

crayfish. 
 

15. No development within a phase shall take place until a landscape management plan for 
that phase, including long-term design objectives, management responsibilities and 
maintenance schedules for all landscaped areas (except privately owned domestic gardens), 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The landscape 
management plan shall be carried out as approved for that phase and any subsequent 

variations shall be agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall include 
the following elements:  

 
a) detail extent and type of new planting (NB planting to be of native species) 

b) details of maintenance regimes including how current hedgerows can be gap 
filled or laid to improve composition and value.  

c) details of any new habitat created on site including new drainage basins, habitat 
piles or great crested newt hibernacula.  

d) details of treatment of site boundaries and/or buffers around water bodies  
e) details of management responsibilities  

 
REASON - To ensure the protection of wildlife and supporting habitat and secure 

opportunities for the enhancement of the site’s nature conservation value of the site 
in line with national planning policy. 

 
16. No development within a phase shall take place until construction and management 

plans for that phase of the existing pond and proposed drainage basins are submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 

REASON - To ensure the protection of wildlife and supporting habitat. Also, to secure 
opportunities for enhancing the site’s nature conservation value in line with national 

planning policy. This approach is supported by paragraphs 174 and 180 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2023, which recognise that the planning system 
should conserve and enhance the environment by minimising impacts on biodiversity. 
 

17. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until such time as a 
detailed sewage infrastructure plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
local planning authority. The plan shall be implemented as approved. The plan shall include 
the following elements:  

 
a) Confirmation of which sewage treatment works will receive the foul flows.  

Confirmation that there is sufficient capacity in the receiving Northumbrian 
Water network to accept the flows without increasing storm overflow spills.  

b) Confirmation that there is sufficient capacity at the receiving sewage treatment 
works (STW) to accept the flows while still operating within the permitted 
flow and quality limits. 

c) A timescale for the proposed works at Northumbrian Water Limited (NWL) 

Page 32



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

sewage treatment works, which will provide the required extra capacity and 

treatment levels to prevent deterioration of the Water Framework Directive 
status of the Tees from Skerne to Tidal Limit waterbody (GB103025072595). 

This will ensure that any proposed works will align with the build times of the 
development. 

d) If there is not currently capacity within the network or at the STW, then the 
plan should detail an appropriate phasing approach for the development to 
enable the necessary upgrades to the sewage network before connecting the 
development. 

e) An assessment of the WFD impact to the Skerne to Tidal Limit waterbody 
(GB103025072595) from the increase of foul drainage looking at the impact of 
Ammonia and Phosphate concentrations of the waterbody.  

f) An assessment of the hydraulic capacity, where any combined sewers will be 
connected into, demonstrating that no additional spills from combined 

systems will occur due to a lack of hydraulic capacity; and  
g) An assessment of the total volume of foul drainage that will be generated by 

the development.  
 

REASON - The Water Environment (Water Framework Directive) Regulations 2017 
and the Northumbria River Basin Management Plan requires the restoration and 

enhancement of water bodies to prevent deterioration and promote recovery of 
water bodies. It specifically states that no waterbody should deteriorate in status and 

aim to achieve Good Status or Good Ecological Potential as soon as is reasonably 
practical. Any proposed plan or development should not contradict the Northumbria 

River Basin Management Plan 2015. Without this condition, the impact could cause 
deterioration of the Water Framework Directive status of the Tees from Skerne to 

Tidal Limit waterbody (GB103025072595). The Tees from Skerne to Tidal Limit 
(GB103025072595) has an overall status of Moderate. 

 
18. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until such time as a 
Construction Surface Water Management Plan for each phase of the development has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme for each 
phase shall be implemented as approved. The plan should include, but not limited to, the 

following:  
 

a) Treatment and removal of suspended solids from surface water run-off during 
construction works.  

b) Approach to ensure no sewage pollution or misconnections.  
c) Approach to ensure water mains are not damaged during construction works. 
d) Management of fuel and chemical spills during construction and operation, 

including the process in place to ensure the environment is not detrimentally 

impacted in the event of a spill.  
e) If contaminated land is present, then construction runoff is likely to contain 

hazardous chemicals and elements. If this is the case, a scheme is required to 
manage the associated risks, and minimise mobilisation of hazardous 
pollutants into the water environment during construction and site operation.  

 
REASON - To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at 
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water 

Page 33



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

pollution in line with paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
19. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until such time as a Water 

Framework Directive (WFD) assessment has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the local planning authority.  

 
REASON - This approach is supported by paragraph 174 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2023) which recognises that planning should contribute to and 
enhance the environment by preventing new and existing development from 
contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, 
unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. 
Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental 

conditions such as air and water quality, considering relevant information such as 
river basin management plans. 

 
20. The development hereby approved shall not be commence on site, until a scheme of 

Surface Water Drainage and Management” for the implementation, maintenance and 
management of a Sustainable Surface Water Drainage Scheme for each phase has first been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme for each 
phase shall be implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with the 

approved details, The scheme shall include but not be restricted to providing the following 
details. 

 
f) Detailed design of the surface water management system including design 

water levels and finished floor levels demonstrating a suitable freeboard. 
g) A build program and timetable for the provision of the critical surface water 

drainage infrastructure 
h) A management plan detailing how surface water runoff from the site will be 

managed during construction Phase. 
i) Details of adoption responsibilities; and 
j) Management plan for the Surface Water Drainage scheme and any 

maintenance and funding arrangement. 
 

The development or each phase of the development hereby approved shall not be 
brought into use until the approved ‘Surface Water Drainage’ scheme has been 
implemented and the approved scheme shall be maintained in accordance with the 
Surface Water Management scheme for the lifetime of the development. 

 
REASON - To ensure the site is developed in a manner that will not increase the risk of 
surface water flooding to site or surrounding area, in accordance with the guidance 
within Policy DC2 of the Darlington Local Plan and the National Planning Policy 

Framework 2023. 
 

21. The development permitted by this planning permission shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the document entitled Flood Risk Assessment – Land South of Staindrop 
Road dated May 2017 and produced by Enzygo Environmental Consultants and the following 
mitigation measures detailed within the FRA: 
 

a) A surface water management strategy for the development will be required to 

Page 34



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

manage and reduce the flood risk posed by runoff from the site, The developer 

will be required to ensure that any scheme for surface water should build in 
sufficient capacity for the entire site. 

b) Surface Water discharge rates from the site must be restricted to existing Qbar 
rates for all storm events. 

 
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation and 
subsequently in accordance with the timing/phasing arrangements embodied within 
the scheme, or within any period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the 
local planning authority. 
 
REASON - To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of 

surface water from the site and to reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed 
development and future occupants.  

 
22. No buildings/dwellings should be occupied until the surface water management. 

system for the development or any phase of the development is in place and fully 
operational. A maintenance plan detailing how the surface water management 

system will be maintained during the construction phase must also be submitted and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
REASON - To reduce flood risk during construction/development of the site. 

 
23. The development or each phase of the development hereby approved shall not be 

carried out otherwise than in broad accordance with the drainage scheme contained within 
the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) SHF.1132.050.HY.R.01.B dated September 2017 and “Foul 

Drainage Analysis”. The drainage scheme shall ensure that foul flows discharge to the 
existing foul sewer at or downstream of manhole 4502 and ensure that surface water 

discharges to two new outfalls to the Baydale Beck unless otherwise agreed by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

REASON - To prevent the increased risk of flooding from any sources in accordance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework 2023. 

 

PHASING PLAN 
 
24. Notwithstanding the information submitted with the planning application, no 
development (except for site preparation works and the formation of a site compound) shall 

take place until a scheme of phasing and separation for the dwellings, highways, and 
Drainage infrastructure and associated open space/green infrastructure has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried out 
broadly in accordance with the approved details. 

 
REASON - To ensure that the key elements of each phase of the development is 

completed in an order which ensures that infrastructure needs, landscaping/open 
space and access are in place relevant to each phase before further development is 
undertaken, in the interests of good planning. 

 
HIGHWAYS 
 

Page 35



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

25. Prior to the first occupation of the development a detailed scheme, including 

arboricultural works and protection measures, for the off-site highway improvement works 
at Bland’s Corner shown indicatively on drawing 14011/GA/05 rev D shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the local planning authority and Highways England.  
 

REASON - To ensure that the A66 continues to serve its purpose as part of a national 
system of routes for through traffic in accordance with Section 10 (2) of the Highways 
Act 1980, in the interests of road safety. 
 

26. Prior to the occupation of the 195th dwelling, the off-site highway improvement works 
referred to in condition 25 shall be completed in accordance with such details as approved.  

 

REASON - To ensure that the A66 continues to serve its purpose as part of a national 
system of routes for through traffic in accordance with Section 10 (2) of the Highways 

Act 1980, in the interests of road safety. 
 

27. No more than 300 dwellings shall be occupied under this permission until the link road 
has constructed to the southern boundary of the site and brought into use.  

 
REASON - In the interests of road safety. 

 
28. Except for investigative works, no excavation or other groundworks or the depositing of 

material on site in connection with the construction of any road or any structure or 
apparatus which will lie beneath the road must take place on any phase of the road 

construction works, until swept path analysis, fully detailed engineering drawings of all 
aspects of roads and sewers for that phase, including any structures which affect or form 

part of the highway network, and a programme for delivery of such works have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 

must only be carried out in compliance with the approved engineering drawings. 
 

REASON - To secure an appropriate highway constructed to an adoptable standard in 
the interests of highway safety and the amenity and convenience of all highway 
users. 

 
29. No part of the development to which this permission relates must be brought into use 
until the carriageway and any footway or footpath from which it gains access is constructed 
to binder course macadam level or block paved (as approved) and kerbed and connected to 

the existing highway network with any street lighting installed and in operation. The 
completion of all road works, including any phasing, must be in accordance with a 
programme submitted to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority before 
any part of the development is brought into use. 

 
REASON - To ensure safe and appropriate access and egress to the premises, in the 

interests of highway safety and the convenience of all prospective highway users. 
 

30. Notwithstanding condition 24), except for investigative works, no excavation or other 
groundworks or the depositing of material on site in connection with the construction of any 
road or any structure or apparatus which will lie beneath the road must take place on any 
phase of the road construction works, until full detailed phasing plans of the internal highway 

Page 36



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

and footways which affect or form part of the highway network, and a programme for 

delivery of such works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Details shall include for each individual phase; how each phase(s) of the 

development provide footway and cycleway connections between one another; and to the 
proposed Safer Routes to School STRS) network to the east of the application site, via the 

2no proposed bridges and 1no.existing bridge over Baydale Beck (whichever is applicable) 
and other suitable routes.  This will include phasing details for new and improved/modified 
walking and cycling infrastructure to ensure that the cycling and walking network within the 
site are developed in a comprehensive and timely manner and provide safer routes to local 
schools. The development must only be carried out in compliance with the approved 
engineering drawings and the routes identified will be constructed in accordance with the 
phasing details prior to the occupation of each phase to ensure that residents have access to 

community services via active travel. 
 

REASON - To ensure safe and appropriate access and egress and turning facilities to 
all premises, in the interests of highway safety and the convenience of all prospective 

highway users. 
 

31. For each scheme of off-site highway mitigation, except for investigative works, no 
excavation or other groundworks or the depositing of material on site in connection with the 

construction of any scheme of off-site highway mitigation or any structure or apparatus 
which will lie beneath that scheme must take place, until full detailed engineering drawings 

of all aspects of that scheme including any structures which affect or form part of the scheme 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. An 

independent Stage 2 Road Safety Audit carried out in accordance with GG119 - Road Safety 
Audits or any superseding regulations must be included in the submission and the design 

proposals must be amended in accordance with the recommendations of the submitted 
Safety Audit prior to the commencement of works on site. A programme for the delivery of 

that scheme and its interaction with delivery of the other identified schemes  must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to construction 
works commencing on site. Each item of the off-site highway works must be completed in 
accordance with the approved engineering details and programme of del ivery.  

 

REASON - To ensure that the design is appropriate in the interests of the safety and 
convenience of highway users. 
 

32. There must be no access or egress by any vehicles between the highway and in curtilage 

driveway until visibility splays providing clear visibility of 2.0 metres x 2.0 metres measured 
down each side of the access and the back edge of the footway of the major road have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  In measuring the 
splays, the eye height must be 1.05 metres and the object height must be 0.6 metres.  Once 

created, these visibility splays must be maintained clear of any obstruction and retained for 
their intended purpose at all times. 

 
REASON - In the interests of highway safety. 

 
33. No dwelling on each phase of the development must be occupied until the related 
parking facilities submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
agreed parking provision shall be constructed in accordance with the details approved in 

Page 37



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of each dwelling on each 

phase of the development.  Once created these areas must be maintained clear of any 
obstruction and retained for their intended purpose at all times. 

 
REASON - To provide for adequate and satisfactory provision of off-street 

accommodation for vehicles in the interest of safety and the general amenity of the 
development. 

 
SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT 
 
34. Prior to the first occupation of dwellings on each phase of the development, precise 
details of cycle parking provision for each dwelling within that phase shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The cycle parking details shall 
accord with the guidance contained within Cycle Infrastructure Design - Local Transport Note 

1/20 July 2020 and shall be in place prior to the occupation of each dwelling. 
 

REASON - In order to promote sustainable modes of transport. 
 

35. Prior to the construction of dwellings within the development, precise details of the 
location and infrastructure design of bus stops on the proposed link road shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed scheme shall be fully 
implemented to an adoptable standard and available for use prior within a timeframe to be 

agreed by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

REASON - To ensure that a bus service can be operational within the development. 
 

36. Prior to the first occupation within a phase of the development hereby approved, details 
of the type and location of an Electric Socket suitable for charging electric vehicles for each 

property with a dedicated garage or parking space, shall be submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter the development shall be undertaken in accordance 
with the approved details prior to the occupation of the dwellings and maintained as such 
thereafter.   

 

REASON - To accord with Policy IN4 of the Local Plan. 
 
TRAVEL PLAN 
 

37. Further to the submitted Framework Travel Plan (May 2017), Travel Plans (TP) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the 
Local Highway Authority and Highways England. prior to the first occupation of each phase of 
the development hereby approved. The individual Travel Plan shall be added to the 
ModeshiftStars Community / Modeshift Stars Business/Residential site and the Travel Plan shall be 

continued in accordance with the details contained therein, including attaining Bronze Standard 

within 12 months of the occupation of the phase of development and annual reviews for the first 

five years of the Plan unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

REASON - To encourage and promote sustainable transport. 
 

HOUSING MIX 

38. The development hereby approved shall comprise 45% of all new dwellings meeting 

Page 38



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

building regulations category M4(2) adaptable and accessible dwelling standards and 9% 

meeting M4 (3 a or b) wheelchair user dwellings standard. Precise details of how this will be 
achieved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior 

to the commencement of the development or each phase of the development and the 
development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance with the 

approved details. 
 
REASON – To ensure the development complies with policy H4 of the Darlington Local 
Plan 2016 – 2036. 

 
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY 
 

39. Prior to the commencement of the development, a phased Public Right of Way Strategy 
shall be submitted and approved in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall 

include but not be limited to, details of shielding, surfacing, crossings and further provisions 
made for the Public Rights of Way both on and surrounding the site., details of timelines for 

construction in proximity to the Public Rights of Way and how users will be kept safe during 
the construction period of each phase. The development shall not be carried out otherwise 

than in complete accordance with the approved details. 
 

REASON - To protect and enhance the existing Public Rights of Way in accordance 
with Policy IN1 of the Darlington Local Plan 2016 – 2036. 

 
NOISE (GENERAL/SCHOOL DEVELOPMENT/PLAYING FIELDS) 

 
40. For each phase of the development, prior to or at the same time as a reserved matters 

application relating to layout, a detailed noise impact assessment and scheme of noise 
mitigation for the protection of proposed residential properties from road traffic noise (from 

the A1(M), Coniscliffe Road and the new strategic spine road) and noise from the Baydale 
Beck Public House, compiled by a suitably qualified and experienced acoustic consultant, 
shall be submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority. The noise impact 
assessment shall consider the proposed layout, orientation and design of the dwellings based 
on good acoustic design* and the scope of the assessment shall be agreed in writing with the 

Local Planning Authority prior to the submission of the assessment.  
 

d) The noise impact assessment shall demonstrate via calculations that the following 
internal and external noise levels in respect of residential properties are not 

exceeded:  
 
 Internal noise levels for bedrooms shall not exceed 30dB LAeq(8 hour)** 

 Internal levels shall not exceed 45dB LAFmax more than 15 times during the 

night*** 
 Internal noise levels for living rooms shall not exceed 35dB LAeq(16 hour)**  

 External noise levels within garden areas shall not exceed 55dB LAeq(16 hour)** 

unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority  
 
* A good acoustic design process should be followed in accordance with Professional 

Practice Guidance on Planning & Noise New Residential Development, May 2017.  
** LAeq(8 hour) nighttime 8 hours between 23:00 and 07:00 and LAeq(16 hour) 

Page 39



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

daytime 16 hours between 07:00 and 23:00. In relation to garden areas, where 

possible the desirable level of 50dB LAeq(16 hour) shall not be exceeded.  
*** Justification shall be included in the noise impact assessment on the external 

LAFmax used to calculate the façade mitigation required and internal noise levels.  
 

e) The detailed scheme of noise mitigation shall include the following:  
 
 Details of the sound insulation, alternative forms of ventilation and any other works 

to be provided for the proposed residential properties to achieve the internal and 
external noise levels as specified above.  

 The details (height, density), design and location of any acoustic barrier to be 
installed to achieve the internal and external noise levels at the proposed 
residential properties as specified above.  

 A plan identifying the proposed residential properties which require noise 

mitigation, and the noise mitigation measures to be installed.  
 

f) The requirements of this condition or parts of the condition can be dispensed with if 
it is demonstrated and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority that no 
adverse noise impacts from a particular source(s) will arise for the particular phase of 
the development.  

 
The development of the phase(s) to which the noise impact assessment and scheme of 
noise mitigation relates shall not be carried out other than in complete accordance 
with the details so approved and thereafter shall be retained and maintained for the 
duration of the development. All works required by the scheme to achieve the internal 
and external noise levels at a residential property shall be completed prior to the 
occupation of that particular property. 
 

REASON - In order to safeguard the amenities of the future impacts of the 
development. 

 
41. Prior to or at the same time as a reserved matters application for the school 

development, a detailed noise impact assessment and scheme of noise mitigation measures 
compiled by a suitably qualified and experienced acoustic consultant, shall be submitted to, 

for approval in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The noise impact assessment shall 
consider the layout, orientation and design of the school development and the scope of the 

assessment shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
submission of the assessment. The noise impact assessment and scheme of noise mitigation 
measures shall include details of noise levels, calculations and proposed sound insulation and 
mitigation in respect of:  

 
a) Protecting external areas of the school from excessive road traffic noise (having 

regard to Building Bulletin 93 (2003))  

b) The impact of noise on the proposed residential development(s) from external 
plant, machinery and equipment associated with the school development. The 

rating level of noise emitted from external plant, machinery or equipment 
whether operating individually or when all plant is operating simultaneously, 

shall not exceed the daytime and night-time background sound level at any 
residential property when measured and assessed in accordance with BS4142 

Page 40



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

‘Method for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound’ unless 

otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The background 
sound level to be used in the BS4142 Assessment and noise sensitive receptors 

shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  
c) Minimising the impact of noise on the proposed residential development(s) 

from the use of music rooms, halls or equivalent noise generating facilities 
associated with the school development.  

d) Minimising the impact of noise from playgrounds, playing fields and/or sports 
pitches (having regard to intended frequency and pattern of usage).  

 
The approved details, findings and noise mitigation measures shall be implemented 
prior to the occupation of the school development/prior to the plant, machinery or 

equipment first becoming operational and thereafter shall be retained and maintained 
for the duration of the development. 

 
REASON - In the interests of the amenities of the future occupants of the development. 

 
42. Prior to the commencement of the development of any sports pitch(es), a detailed noise 

impact assessment and scheme of noise mitigation measures compiled by a suitably qualified 
and experienced acoustic consultant, shall be submitted to, for approval in writing by, the 

Local Planning Authority. The noise impact assessment shall consider the proposed layout, 
orientation and design of the pitch(es) and the scope of the assessment and criteria/noise 

levels to be met shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
submission of the assessment. The noise impact assessment and scheme of noise mitigation 

measures shall include details of noise levels, calculations and proposed mitigation in respect 
of:  

 
a)Minimising the impact of noise on the proposed residential development(s) and 

shall include intended hours of use (to be agreed) and details (height, density), 
design and location of any acoustic barrier(s) to be installed, as well as details of 
any other mitigation.  

 
The approved details, findings and noise mitigation measures shall be implemented 

prior to first use of any sports pitch(es) and thereafter shall be retained and 
maintained for the duration of the development. 
 
REASON - In the interests of the amenities of the future occupants of the 

development. 
 

43. No means of amplification of sound shall be permitted relating to the sports pitch(es) 
including the use of loudspeakers and public announcement systems without the prior 

written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
 

REASON - In the interests of the amenities of the future occupants of the 
development. 

 
EXTERNAL LIGHTING 
 
44. For each phase of the development, a scheme and assessment relating to any proposed 

Page 41



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

external lighting associated with that phase of the development undertaken by an 

independent qualified assessor, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority prior to 
installation unless the Local Planning Authority dispenses with the requirement specifical ly 

and in writing. This should include:  
 

a) Times of operation of the proposed lighting units. 
b) A description of the proposed lighting units including height, type, angling and 

power output for all lighting.  
c) Drawing(s)/contour plans showing the luminance levels (both horizontal and 

vertical) of the lighting scheme to demonstrate that no excess light falls into the 
curtilage of sensitive neighbouring properties. 

d) The Environmental Zone which the site falls within, in accordance with the 

Institution of Lighting Professionals Guidance on the Reduction of Obtrusive 
Light, to be agreed with the LPA. The relevant light sensitive receptors to be used 

in the assessment to be agreed with the LPA in advance of the assessment.  
e) Details of the Sky Glow Upward Light Ratio, Light Intrusion (into windows of 

relevant properties) and Luminaire Intensity.  
f) The limits for the relevant Environmental Zone relating to Sky Glow Upward Light 

Ratio, Light Trespass (into windows) and Luminaire Intensity, contained in Table 2 
(Obtrusive Light Limitations for Exterior Lighting Installations) of the Institute of 

Lighting Professionals Guidance on the Reduction of Obtrusive Light shall not be 
exceeded. 

 
REASON - In the interest of the visual appearance and amenity of the proposed 

development and to protect the amenities of the future occupiers of the 
development. 

 
CONSTRUCTION IMPACTS 

 
45. Prior to the commencement of each phase of the development, a site-specific 
Construction Management Plan shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local  
Planning Authority. The plan shall include the following, unless the Local Planning Authority 
dispenses with any requirement[s] specifically and in writing:  

 
v) Dust Assessment Report which assesses the dust emission magnitude, the 

sensitivity of the area, risk of impacts and details of the dust control measures to 
be put in place during the construction phase of the development. The Dust 

Assessment Report shall take account of the guidance contained within the 
Institute of Air Quality Management “Guidance on the assessment of dust from 
demolition and construction” February 2014.  

w) Methods for controlling noise and vibration during the construction phase and 

shall take account of the guidance contained within BS5228 “Code of Practice for 
noise and vibration control on construction and open sites” 2009.  

x) Details of any temporary construction access to the site including measures for 

removal following completion of construction works. 

y) Wheel and chassis underside washing facilities on site to ensure that mud and 

debris is not spread onto the adjacent public highway.  

z) The parking of contractors’ site operatives and visitor’s vehicles.  

aa) Areas for storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 

Page 42



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

clear of the highway. 

bb) Measures to manage the delivery of materials and plant to the site including 

routing and timing of deliveries and loading and unloading areas. 
cc) Details of the routes to be used by HGV construction traffic and highway 

condition surveys on these routes.  
dd) Protection of carriageway and footway users at all times during demolition and 

construction. 
ee) Protection of contractors working adjacent to the highway. 

ff) Details of site working hours.  
gg) Erection and maintenance of hoardings including decorative displays, security 

fencing and scaffolding on/over the footway & carriageway and facilities for 
public viewing where appropriate. 

hh) Means of minimising dust emissions arising from construction activities on the 
site, including details of all dust suppression measures and the methods to 

monitor emissions of dust arising from the development.  

ii) Measures to control and monitor construction noise. 

jj) An undertaking that there must be no burning of materials on site at any time 

during construction. 

kk) Removal of materials from site including a scheme for recycling/disposing of 

waste resulting from demolition and construction works. 

ll) Details of the measures to be taken for the protection of trees. 

mm) Details of external lighting equipment. 

nn) Details of any ditches to be piped during the construction phases. 

oo) A detailed method statement and programme for the building works; and  
pp) Contact details for the responsible person (site manager/office) who can be 

contacted in the event of any issue. 
 

The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance 
with the approved Plan. 

 
REASON - In the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenity of the local 
area 

 
46. Construction work for each phase of the development, including the use of plant and 

machinery (including generators) as well as deliveries to and from the site(s), shall not take 
place outside the hours of 08.00 - 18.00 Monday - Friday, 08.00 - 14.00 Saturday with no 

working on a Sunday and Bank/Public Holidays without the prior written permission from the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 
REASON - To protect the amenity of the local area. 

 
47. For each phase of the development, if piled foundations are proposed, details of the 

piling method including justification for its choice, means of monitoring vibration and 
groundwater risk assessment, if necessary, in accordance with recognised guidance shall be 

submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the approved details. 

              
REASON - To protect the amenity of the local area. 

Page 43



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

NOISE (COMMERCIAL UNIT) 
 

48. The commercial retail unit shall not be first occupied until details of any extract 
ventilation and fume extraction system, including the position of ventilation, fume or flue 

outlet points and the type of filtration or other fume treatment, to be installed and used has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and installed 
before the development hereby permitted commences. The ventilation and extraction 
system shall be retained, operated and maintained in accordance with the manufacturers’ 
recommendations including the replacement of any filters. 

 
REASON - In the interests of the general amenity of the local area. 

 
49. The rating level of noise emitted from external plant, machinery or equipment whether 

operating individually or when all plant is operating simultaneously shall not exceed the 
daytime and night time background noise level at the nearest noise sensitive dwelling, when 

measured and assessed in accordance with BS4142:2014. The background noise level to be 
used shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority and the assessment shall be 

conducted by a suitably qualified noise consultant. 
 

REASON - In the interests of general amenity of the local area. 
 

50. Any subsequent planning application for the erection of the retail unit shall include 
details of the hours of opening and deliveries. 

 
REASON - In the interests of general amenity of the local area. 

 
LAND CONTAMINATION 

 
51. Prior to the commencement of each phase of the development and any site 
investigation works or at a time agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority a Phase 2 
Site Investigation Strategy (Sampling and Analysis Plan) shall be designed and documented 
by a "suitably competent person(s)" in accordance with published technical guidance (e.g. 

BS10175 and Land Contamination Risk Management LCRM) and be submitted to and agreed 
in writing with the Local Planning Authority, unless the Local Planning Authority dispenses 
with the requirement specifically and in writing. The Phase 2 Site Investigation Strategy 
(Sampling and Analysis Plan) shall be sufficient to fully and effectively characterise and 

evaluate the nature and extent of any potential contamination and assess pollutant linkages. 
No alterations to the agreed Phase 2 Site Investigation Strategy or associated works shall be 
carried out without the prior written agreement of the Local Planning Authority. 
 

REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is 
within 250 metres of a site which has been landfilled. To ensure that risks from land 

contamination to the future uses of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 
together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out without unacceptable risks to 
receptors, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 2023.  

 
52. Prior to the commencement of each phase of the development or at a time agreed in 

Page 44



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

writing by the Local Planning Authority a Phase 2 Site Investigation works shall be conducted, 

supervised and documented by a “suitably competent person(s)” and carried out in 
accordance with the approved Phase 2 Site Investigation Strategy (Sampling and Analysis 

Plan). A Phase 2 Site Investigation and Risk Assessment Report prepared by a “suitably 
competent person(s)”, in accordance with published technical guidance (e.g. BS10175 and 

Land Contamination Risk Management LCRM) and shall be submitted to and agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority unless the Local Planning Authority dispenses with 
the requirement specifically and in writing.  

 
REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is 
within 250 metres of a site which has been landfilled. To ensure that risks from land 
contamination to the future uses of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 

together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out without unacceptable risks to 

receptors, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 2023.  
 

53. Prior to the commencement of each phase of the development or at a time agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority a Phase 3 Remediation and Verification Strategy shall 

be prepared by a "suitably competent person(s)" to address all human health and 
environmental risks associated with contamination identified in the Phase 2 Site 

Investigation and Risk Assessment. The Remediation and Verification Strategy which shall 
include an options appraisal and ensure that the site is suitable for its new use and no 

unacceptable risks remain, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority, unless the Local Planning Authority dispenses with the requirement 

specifically and in writing.  
 

REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is 
within 250 metres of a site which has been landfilled. To ensure that risks from land 

contamination to the future uses of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 
together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out without unacceptable risks to 
receptors, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 2023. 

 

54. Any contamination not considered in the Phase 3 Remediation and Verification Strategy 
but identified during subsequent construction/remediation works shall be reported in writing 
within a reasonable timescale to the Local Planning Authority. The contamination shall be 
subject to further risk assessment and remediation proposals agreed in writing with the Local 

Planning Authority and the development completed in accordance with any further agreed 
amended specification of works.  

 
REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is 

within 250 metres of a site which has been landfilled. To ensure that risks from land 
contamination to the future uses of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 

together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out without unacceptable risks to 
receptors, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
55. The Phase 3 Remediation and Verification works shall be conducted, supervised and 
documented by a "suitably competent person(s)" and in accordance with the agreed Phase 3 

Page 45



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Remediation and Verification Strategy. No alterations to the agreed Remediation and 

Verification Strategy or associated works shall be carried out without the prior written 
agreement of the Local Planning Authority. A Phase 4 Verification and Completion Report 

shall be compiled and reported by a "suitably competent person(s)", documenting the 
purpose, objectives, investigation and risk assessment findings, remediation methodologies, 

validation results and post remediation monitoring carried out to demonstrate the 
completeness and effectiveness of all agreed remediation works conducted. The Phase 4 
Verification and Completion Report and shall be submitted and agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority within 2-months of completion of the development or at a time 
agreed unless the Local Planning Authority dispenses with the requirement specifically and in 
writing. The development site or agreed phase of development site, shall not be occupied 
until all of the approved investigation, risk assessment, remediation and verification 

requirements relevant to the site (or part thereof) have been completed, reported and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is 

within 250 metres of a site which has been landfilled. To ensure that risks from land 
contamination to the future uses of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 

together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out without unacceptable risks to 

receptors, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

ECOLOGY 
 

56. The development hereby approved shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete 
accordance with the Recommendations contained within Chapter 5 of the document entitled 

“Ecological Appraisal – Land to the North off Staindrop Road, Darlington” dated December 
2021 and produced by FPCR Environment and Design unless otherwise agreed in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority. 
 

REASON - In the interest of protecting habitats and biodiversity. 
 
57. At each Reserved Matters stage, an updated DEFRA Metric shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to ensure that the proposal achieves a 
net gain in accordance with the submitted Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment “Land North off 
Staindrop Road, Darlington” produced by Gladman dated October 2022 unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
REASON - To ensure that any impacts on biodiversity and ecology are mitigated and 
that appropriate enhancement works, and biodiversity net gain are secured. 

 

58. At Reserved Matters stage, an updated 30 year Biodiversity and Ecological Management 
for the whole development or each phase of the development shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall be 
carried out and operated in full accordance with the measures contained within the final 
Biodiversity Management Plan, including provision for future monitoring, reporting  and any 
necessary amendment of management measures, or such other alternative measures which 
may subsequently be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for the lifetime of 
the development hereby approved. 

Page 46



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

  

REASON - To ensure that any impacts on biodiversity and ecology are mitigated and 
that appropriate enhancement works, and biodiversity net gain are secured. 

 

59. The landscaping scheme submitted under condition 1 shall seek to include the following 

ecological principles: 
 

 The Green Infrastructure corridor alongside the Baydale Beck should seek to 
significantly enhance the biodiversity value of this feature. Public access 

arrangements should reflect the importance of this feature as a wildlife corridor 
and the need to reduce disturbance of habitats along the Baydale Beck.  

 The SUDs should incorporate retention basins/wetland habitat types as alternatives 

to detention basins. Retention features still have a drainage function but deliver 
far greater biodiversity gains. The use of conveyance features  and rain gardens 
should be used throughout the development, integrated within Green 
Infrastructure and the development cells. 

 The built environment should also provide opportunities for wildlife. Housing 
should provide nesting and roosting opportunities for bats, birds and invertebrates 
through the incorporation of built-in wildlife bricks that provide opportunities for a 
range of species. The range of species catered for should be expansive and approx. 
30% of the houses should include some form of integrated nesting opportunities 

for wildlife. 

 The use of flowering lawns rather than more intensively managed traditional 
amenity grasslands where considered appropriate. 

 Green Infrastructure corridors should allow for a range of semi natural habitats, 
SUDs features and recreational opportunities to be included alongside access 

routes. 
 

REASON - In the interest of protecting and enhancing habitats and biodiversity. 
 
PLAY AREAS 
 
60. The details to be submitted in pursuance of Condition 1 shall include details on the 

precise number, design and location of children’s play areas within the application site and 
details of the play equipment that would be provided within the areas. The development 
shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance with the approved details. 
 

REASON - In the interests of the character and appearance of the proposed 
development. 

 
BROADBAND CONNECTIVITY 

 
61. Prior to the any commencement of development or any phase of the development, 
above damp proof course level, a statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority detailing the measures necessary for providing broadband 
connectivity, including ducts, to each premises within the development hereby approved.  
The approved infrastructure shall be laid out in accordance with the details as approved at 
the same time as other services during the construction process and be available for use on 
the first occupation of each building and thereafter be so maintained for the lifetime of the 

Page 47



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

development. 

 

REASON - To ensure that the development is provided with high quality broadband 
services enhancing its attractiveness, in accordance with Policy IN8 of the Local Plan. 
 

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE/LANDSCAPING 

62. The landscaping details to be submitted in pursuance of Condition 1 shall include the 

provision of green infrastructure based on the formula contained within Policy ENV5 of the 
Darlington Local Plan 2016 - 2036. The types of green infrastructure shall include informal 

recreation space, wildlife friendly space, street trees, a robust boundary treatment along the 
western edge to distinguish between the main urban area and the countryside, 

enhancements of the existing green infrastructure and wildlife friendly network along the 
eastern boundary of the site and the Baydale Beck and improved connectivity with the 

Cocker Beck corridor and the River Tees. The development shall not be carried out otherwise 
than in complete accordance with the approved details. 

 
REASON - In the interests of the character and appearance of the proposed 

development and in order to have regard to Appendix B Housing Allocation 
Statement (Site 249 – Coniscliffe Park North) contained within the Darlington Local 

Plan 2016 – 2036. 
 

63. The landscaping details agreed under condition 1 shall be shall be fully implemented 
concurrently with the carrying out of the development or each phase of the development, or 

within such extended period which may be agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority 
and thereafter any trees or shrubs removed, dying, severely damaged or becoming seriously 
diseased shall be replaced, and the landscaping scheme maintained for a period of five years 

to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 
              

REASON - In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 
 

EDUCATION LAND 
 

64. The land allocated for education purposes (approx. 1.83 hectares) and the associated 
playing fields as shown on the approved Indicative Development Framework plan (Drawing 

Number 7055-SK-01_R) shall be retained for such purposes for a time period of ten years 
from the commencement of the development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. 
 

REASON - To ensure that land is allocated for such purposes in the event of a school 

with associated playing fields being required. 
 

LOCAL STORE 
 

65. The land allocated for local store (approx. 1.2 hectares) and the associated playing fields 
as shown on the approved Indicative Development Framework plan (Drawing Number 7055-
SK-01_R) shall be retained for such purposes for a time period of ten years from the 
commencement of the development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Page 48



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

REASON - To ensure that land is allocated for such purposes in the event of a local store 
being required. 

 
66. The local store hereby approved shall be used for purposes within Class E(a) and for no 

other purpose (including any other purpose in  of the Schedule to the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any 
statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order). 
 

REASON - In the interests of retail planning policy. 
 
 

 
GP PRACTICE 

 
67. The land allocated for a GP Surgery (approx. 0.37 hectares) and the associated playing 

fields as shown on the approved Indicative Development Framework plan (Drawing Number 
7055-SK-01_R) shall be retained for such purposes for a time period of ten years from the 

commencement of the development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
REASON - To ensure that land is allocated for such purposes in the event of a GP Surgery 

being required. 
 

SOILS 
 

68. The development hereby approved shall be carried out having regard to the methods for 
safeguarding soil resources, the use and protection of soils in construction projects, including 

the movement and management of soil resources contained with “Construction Code of 
Practice for the Sustainable Use of Solis on Construction Sites (2009) produced by DEFRA and 
the British Society of Soil Science Guidance Note Benefitting from Soil Management in 
Development and Construction. 
 

REASON - In order to safeguard soil resources as part of the overall sustainability 
objectives of the development. 

 
TREES 

 
69. The details to be submitted in pursuance of Condition 1 shall include an Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment, an Arboricultural Method Statement and a Tree Protection Plan for the 
whole development or each phase. The submitted details for the Tree Protection Plan shall 

comprise generally the specification laid down within BS 5837 and shall include fencing of at 
least 2.3m high, consisting of a scaffolding frame braced to resist impacts, supported by a 

wired to the uprights and horizontals to dissuade encroachment. The agreed scheme of 
protection shall be in place before the commencement of any work, including demolition 
operations. The Local Planning Authority shall be given notice of the completion of the 
protection works prior to the commencement of any work to allow an inspection of the 
measurements to ensure compliance with the approved scheme of protection. 
Notwithstanding the above approved specification, none of the following activities shal l take 

Page 49



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

place within the segregated protection zones in the area of the trees:  

 
a) The raising or lowering of levels in relation to the existing ground levels;  

b) Cutting of roots, digging of trenches or removal of soil;  
c) Erection of temporary buildings, roads or carrying out of any engineering 

operations;  
d) Lighting of fires;  
e) Driving of vehicles or storage of materials and equipment.  

 
REASON - In the interests of the visual appearance of the site and surrounding area.  
 

NOTE: Should the 106 Agreement not be completed within this prescribed period without 

the written consent of the Council to extend this time, the minded to approve status of the 
Permission shall be considered to be a refusal on the grounds that the Application has failed 

to provide adequate mitigation measures to provide a satisfactory form of development in 
accordance with the requirements of Darlington Local Plan 2016-2036, without further 

reference to the Planning Committee. 
 

(3)  SITE OF FORMER BLACKWELL GRANGE GOLF CLUB (EAST), CARMEL ROAD SOUTH, 
DARLINGTON 

 
 23/00782/FUL - Residential development consisting of 44 No. dwellings, with associated 

access, landscaping, SUDS pond and infrastructure, demolition of agricultural building and 
the regeneration of Blackwell Grange historic parkland (Amended CMP received 30th August 

2023, Additional information regarding Vibration received 30th August 2023) (Amended 
plans / additional information received 28th September and 2nd October 2023). 

 
(In making its decision, the Committee took into consideration the Planning Officer’s report 

(previously circulated), the views of the Council’s Highway Engineer, Transport Planning 
Officer, the Environmental Health Officer, the Historic Environment Record Officer, the 
Ecology Officer, the Senior Arboricultural Officer, and the Local Lead Flood Authority. The 
views of National Highways, the Council’s Conservation Advisor, Northumbrian Water and 
Historic England were also taken into consideration.  

 
Members were informed that 120 letters from residents had been received in total, with 
some individual letters containing both points of support and objection. 109 letters were 
categorised as objections, with 11 categorised as letters of support, and the views of three 

objectors, two supporters and the Ward Councillor, where heard at the meeting by the 
Committee). 
 
RESOLVED – Subject to the developer entering into an agreement pursuant to Section 111 of 

the Local Government Act 1972 to ensure that the developer enters into a Section 106 
agreement within six months to secure the following: 

 
a) £918,000 Affordable Housing Contribution; 

b) £44,000 sustainable transport contribution; 

c) £120,000 towards improvement scheme (A66 Bland’s Corner roundabout) to increase 

the capacity of the junction and maintain traffic flow along the strategic and local 
road networks. 

Page 50



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

d) A Landscape Management clause would be included within the Agreement.  

 
that Planning Permission be granted subject to the following conditions: 

 
GENERAL 

 
1. A3 (Standard 3-year time limit) 

 
APPROVED PLANS 

 
2. PL (Accordance with Plans) 

 

BWG-SL-001 REV K Site Layout Plan 
BWG-ED-001 Enclosures details 

BWG-ENC-001 REV C Enclosures Layout 
BWG-MCP-001 Overall POS MC Plan 

BWG-POS-001 POS MC Plan Rev B 
BWG-SG-001 Sales Garage Floor Plan 

BWG-SG-001 Sales Garage Foundation Design 
BWG-SS-001 Street scene 

D334_L_100_REV I Landscape Strategy 
D334D204 REV A Construction Details 

BWG-MF-001 REV B Materials finishes layout. 
D334_L_209_REV F Bat and Bird Box location Plan 

BWG-BBP-001 REV B Bat and Bird Box location Plan 
BWG-EV-001 EV Charging point locations 

D334_L_201_REV P Parkland Landscape Strategy 
D334_L_208_REV E Seat and Bin Locations 

D334_P_205_REV D Parkland Tree Planting 
D334_P_206_REV C Orchard Planting 
D334_L_202_REV A Pond Layout 
D334_P_207_ Pond Planting 
BWG-BTP-001 Rev B Railing Plan 

22100-01-T2 Engineering Layout sheet 1 
22100-02-T6 Engineering Layout sheet 2 
22100-03-T8 Engineering Layout sheet 3 
22100-04-T2 Engineering Layout sheet 4 

22100-05-T2 Engineering Layout sheet 5 
22100-06-T4 Engineering Layout sheet 6 
AU-M4(3)-01 Austin House Type Plans 
AU-M4(3)-02 MAT TYPE 1 Austin Mat Type 1 

AU-M4(3)-02 MAT TYPE 2 Austin May Type 2 
AU-M4(3)-02 MAT TYPE 3 Austin Mat Type 3 

AU-M4(3)-02 MAT TYPE 4 Austin Mat Type 4 
AU-M4(3)-03 Roof Plan and section 
HOUSE TYPE MOOD BOARD TYPE 1 REV J 
HOUSE TYPE MOOD BOARD TYPE 2 REV J  
HOUSE TYPE MOOD BOARD TYPE 3 REV J 
HOUSE TYPE MOOD BOARD TYPE 4 REV H 

Page 51



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

BR-01 The Brunel Proposed floor plans. 

BR-02 The Brunel Proposed elevations Mat Type 1 
BR-02-MT02 The Brunel Proposed elevations Mat Type 2 

BR-02-MT02 The Brunel Proposed elevations Mat Type 3 
BR-02-MT02 The Brunel Proposed elevations Mat Type 4 

 BR-03 The Brunel Proposed roof plan section. 
DA-01 The Darwin Proposed plan. 
DA-02 The Darwin Second floor and roof plan 
DA-03 The Darwin Mat Type 1 
DA-03-MT02 The Darwin Mat Type 2 
DA-03-MT03 The Darwin Mat Type 3 
DA-03-MT04 The Darwin Mat Type 4 

DA-04 The Darwin Proposed section. 
DRL-GD-002 Double Garage Design 

FR-01 The Franklin proposed plans. 
FR-02 The Franklin proposed second floor and roof plan. 

FR-03 The Franklin Mat Type 1 
FR-03 The Franklin Mat Type 2 

FR-03-MT03 The Franklin Mat Type 3 
FR-03-MT04 The Franklin Mat Type 4 

FR-04 The Franklin Proposed section. 
MO-01 The Morris Proposed plans. 

MO-02 The Morris Mat Type 1 
MO-02 The Morris Mat Type 2 

MO-02-MT02 The Morris Mat Type 3 
MO-02-MT03 The Morris Mat Type 4 

MO-03 The Morris Proposed roof plan section. 
NI-01 The Nightingale Proposed floor plans. 

NI-02 The Nightingale Mat Type 1 
NI-02-MT02 The Nightingale Mat Type 2 
NI-02-MT03 The Nightingale Mat Type 3 
NI-02-MT04 The Nightingale Mat Type 4 
NI-03 The Nightingale Proposed Roof Plan section. 

P-DE-001 Herringbone Drive Detail 
WO-01 The Wordsworth Proposed Floor Plans. 
WO-02 The Wordsworth Mat Type 1 
WO-02-MT02 The Wordsworth Mat Type 2 

WO-02-MT02 The Wordsworth Mat Type 3 
WO-02-MT03 The Wordsworth Mat Type 4 
WO-03 Wordsworth Proposed roof plan section. 
22100 101 P5 SUDS Maintenance Plan 

22100 501 REV P2 Pumping Station 
22100 95 T5 SUDS Sections 

 
HILLSIDE CONDITION 
 

3. The development hereby permitted shall be built in accordance with the approved 
plans listed at Condition 2 unless a further planning application specific to one or 
more of the severable areas is submitted and approved by the Council in substitution 

Page 52



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

for that part of the approved development. If such an application is approved, the 

remaining severable areas may still be developed as approved in this planning 
permission, it being intended that this Planning permission should permit each 

severable area separately and severably from the others. 
 

REASON - For the avoidance of doubt 
 
M4 STANDARD 

 
4. The development hereby approved shall comprise a minimum of 45% of all new 

dwellings meeting building regulations category M4(2) adaptable and accessible 
dwelling standards and a minimum of 9% meeting M4 (3 a or b) wheelchair user 

dwellings standard as detailed in the submitted plans. 
 

REASON – To ensure the development complies with policy H4 of the Darlington Local 
Plan 2016 – 2036. 

 
HIGHWAY 

 
5. No part of the development to which this permission relates must be brought into 

use until the carriageway and any footway or footpath from which it gains access is 
constructed to binder course macadam level or block paved (as approved) and kerbed 

and connected to the existing highway network with any street lighting installed and 
in operation. 

 
The completion of all road works, including any phasing, must be in accordance with a 

programme submitted to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority 
before any part of the development is brought into use. 

 
REASON - To ensure safe and appropriate access and egress to the premises, in the 
interests of highway safety and the convenience of all prospective highway users. 
 

6. There must be no access or egress by any vehicles between the highway and the 

application site Carmel Rd South A167, until splays are provided giving clear visibility 
of 90 metres measured along both channel lines of the major road from a point 
measured 4.5 metres down the centre line of the access road.  In measuring the 
splays, the eye height must be 1.05 metres and the object height must be 0.6 metres.  

Once created, these visibility splays must be maintained clear of any obstruction and 
always retained for their intended purpose. 
 
REASON – In the interests of highway safety. 

 
7. The following schemes of off-site highway mitigation measures must be completed as 

indicated below: 
 

The proposed ‘Ghost Island’ Junction access to be located on Carmel Rd South in 
accordance with DMRB CD123 along with details of footways and pedestrian crossing 
facilities which link to the surrounding cycling/pedestrian infrastructure. Works 
include but are not limited to, resurfacing works, kerbing and drainage signage and 

Page 53



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

lining. Prior to occupation of the first dwelling.  

 
For each scheme of off-site highway mitigation, except for investigative works, no 

excavation or other groundworks or the depositing of material on site in connection 
with the construction of any scheme of off-site highway mitigation or any structure or 

apparatus which will lie beneath that scheme must take place, until full detailed 
engineering drawings of all aspects of that scheme including any structures which 
affect or form part of the scheme have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.   

 
An independent Stage 2 Road Safety Audit carried out in accordance with GG119 - 
Road Safety Audits or any superseding regulations must be included in the submission 

and the design proposals must be amended in accordance with the recommendations 
of the submitted Safety Audit within three months of the granting of planning 

permission or within such extended time as may be agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.   

 
A programme for the delivery of that scheme and its interaction with delivery of the 

other identified schemes must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority within three months of the granting of planning permission or 

within such extended time as may be agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 
Each item of the off-site highway works must be completed in accordance with the 

approved engineering details and programme.  
 

REASON - To ensure that the design is appropriate in the interests of the safety and 
convenience of highway users. 

 

8. No dwelling must be occupied until the related parking facilities have been 

constructed in accordance with the details approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Once created these areas must be maintained clear of any obstruction and 

always retained for their intended purpose. 
 

REASON - To provide for adequate and satisfactory provision of off-street 
accommodation for vehicles in the interest of safety and the general amenity of the 
development. 

 
CONSTRUCTION IMPACTS 

 
9. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance 

with the Construction Management Plan received 14th November 2023 produced by 
Esh Homes (documents listed below) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority  
 

Dust Mitigation/Assessment Report, Homes by Esh 
Construction Management Plan Drawing Number BWG-CMP-001 Revision G dated 
07.11.2023, Homes by Esh 
Noise at Work (Reference ECP024, Issue: 1, Revision O), Homes by Esh 

Page 54



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Wheel Washing Safety Method Statement, Homes by Esh dated 02.11.2023. 

 
REASON – In the interests of highway safety and residential amenity. 

 
10. Notwithstanding the details set out in condition 9 in relation to the construction 

management plan, contact details for the responsible person (site manager/office) 
who can be contacted in the event of any issue shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings.  This 
information shall also be provided with the sales contract information for all 
properties. 
 
REASON – To protect the amenities of residents of the new development. 

 
11.  The piling shall take place in accordance with the details submitted on 16th 

November 2023 (confirmation of plots and vibration monitoring).  Any change to the 
piling proposals should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to any such 

works. 
 

REASON – In the interests of residential amenity.  
 

12. No construction or demolition activities, including the use of plant and machinery, as 
well as deliveries to and from the site, shall take place outside the hours of 08.00-

18.00 Monday to Friday, 08.00-14.00 Saturday with no activities on Sunday or 
Bank/Public Holidays without the prior written permission of the Local Planning 

Authority. 
 

REASON – In the interests of amenity.  
 

TRANSPORT POLICY 
 

13. A footpath connecting the development hereby approved to the bus stops on Grange 
Road, via the existing access to Blackwell Grange, shall be constructed prior to 
occupation of the 11th dwelling. Details of the path shall be submitted to and 

approved by the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the above timescale, 
including details of the construction, lighting, and arrangements for long term 
maintenance.  

 

REASON – To provide a safe route to school in the interests of pedestrian safety. 
 

14. The cycle parking provision as show in the submitted plans, shall be in place prior to 
the occupation of the dwellings hereby approved and shall be maintained as such 

thereafter.   
 

REASON – To encourage the use of sustainable modes of transport to and from the 
development. 
 

15. The EV Charging points as shown on plan BWG-EV-001 and supporting specifications 
shall be in place prior to the occupation of the dwellings hereby approved and shall 
be maintained as such thereafter. 

Page 55



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

REASON - To accord with Policy IN4 of the Local Plan 
 

FLOODING AND DRAINAGE 
 

16. Development shall be implemented in line with the drainage scheme contained 

within the submitted document entitled “Blackwell Grange Flood Risk Assessment & 

Drainage Strategy” dated “12th December 2022”. The drainage scheme shall ensure 

that foul flows discharge to the foul public sewer at manhole 7901 and ensure that 

surface water discharges to the highway drain on Grange Road. 

 

REASON - To prevent the increased risk of flooding from any sources in accordance 

with the NPPF. 

 

17. The development permitted by this planning permission shall only be carried out in 

accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) & Drainage Strategy - 

22100-FRA1 - dated 22.09.2023 REVISION E and the following mitigation measures.  

 
Discharge of Surface Water  Repairs and cleansing to Highways Drainage to an 

adoptable standard as agreed with ESH. Communicated via email on the 30th of 
October 2023.  

 
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation and 

subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within 
the scheme, or within any period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the 

local planning authority.  
 

REASON - To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of / disposal of 

surface water from the site and to reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed 

development and future occupants. 
 

18. The buildings hereby approved shall not be brought into use until: -  Requisite 

elements of the approved surface water management scheme for the development, 

or any phase of the development are in place and fully operational to serve said 

buildings. 

 

REASON - To reduce flood risk and ensure satisfactory long-term maintenance are in 

place for the lifetime of the development. 

 

LAND CONTAMINATION 

 
19. Any contamination not considered in the ‘Coast Consulting Engineers Blackwell 

Grange Remediation Strategy dated 16 January 2023 Report No 22093-04 Revision A’ 
but identified during the construction/remediation works or from the soil sampling in 

the location of the existing storage building/compound following the demolition of 
the said building shall be reported in writing within a reasonable timescale to the 
Local Planning Authority.   The contamination shall be subject to further risk 

Page 56



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

assessment and remediation proposals agreed in advance and in writing with the 

Local Planning Authority and the development completed in accordance with any 
further agreed amended specification of works. 

 
REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is 

within 250 metres of a site which has been landfilled. To ensure that risks from land 
contamination to the future uses of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 
together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out without unacceptable risks to 
receptors, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
20. The Phase 3 Remediation and Verification works shall be conducted, supervised and 

documented by a "suitably competent person(s)" and in accordance with the agreed 
‘Coast Consulting Engineers Remediation Strategy dated 16 January 2023 Report No 

22093-04 Revision A’. No alterations to the agreed Remediation and Verification 
Strategy or associated works shall be carried out without the prior written agreement 

of the Local Planning Authority. 
 

A Phase 4 Verification and Completion Report shall be compiled and reported by a 
"suitably competent person(s)", documenting the purpose, objectives, investigation 

and risk assessment findings, remediation methodologies, validation results and post 
remediation monitoring carried out to demonstrate the completeness and 

effectiveness of all agreed remediation works conducted. The Phase 4 Verification 
and Completion Report and shall be submitted and agreed in writing with the Local 

Planning Authority within 2-months of completion of the development or at a time 
agreed unless the Local Planning Authority dispenses with the requirement 

specifically and in writing.   
 

The properties which require remediation works, shall not be occupied until all the 
approved investigation, risk assessment, remediation and verification requirements 
relevant to the site (or part thereof) have been completed, reported and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 

REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is 
within 250 metres of a site which has been landfilled. To ensure that risks from land 
contamination to the future uses of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 
together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 

ensure that the development can be carried out without unacceptable risks to 
receptors, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
NOISE 
 

21. With the exception of the proposed acoustic fence (further details required by 
condition 21) the noise mitigation measures shall be implemented in full in 
accordance with the requirements of the ‘NJD Environmental Associates Noise 

Assessment Report reference NJD22-0116-001R Version 3 dated September 2023’ 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All noise 
mitigation measures shall be completed prior to the occupation of that particular 
property. No changes to the noise mitigation shall be carried out without the prior 

Page 57



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

written agreement of the Local Planning Authority and the measures shall be retained 

and maintained for the life of the development.  
 

REASON – In the interests of residential amenity. 
 

LANDSCAPE AND MEANS OF ENCLOSURE 
 

22. Prior to the development hereby approved being occupied, details of an appropriate 
means of enclosure to gardens backing onto Grange Road and Carmel Road South 
(with an addendum to the noise report), shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The agreed boundary treatment shall be in 
place prior to the occupation of the dwellings hereby approved.   All other boundary 

treatment, as set out in drawing No. BWG-ENC-001 Rev C and BWG-ED-001 shall be in 
place prior to the occupation of the dwellings hereby approved. 

 
REASON – In the interests of visual and residential amenity. 

 
23. Notwithstanding the approved landscaping scheme referred to in condition 2, further 

details of the number, species and location of heavy standard trees shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 

implementation of the landscaping scheme.  Thereafter the development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the details as approved. 

 
REASON – To ensure a satisfactory appearance of the site and to improve the visual 

amenities of the area. 
 

24. E3 Landscaping (Implementation) 
 

TREES 
 

25. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the 
recommendations and tree protection measures set out in the submitted 
‘Arboricultural Impact Assessment, Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree 

Protection Plan’ (Blackwell-East, Blackwell Lane Darlington, ARB/AE/2942, Elliott 
Consultancy Limited, October 2023) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 

The agreed scheme of protection shall be in place before the commencement of any 
work, including demolition operations.  Notwithstanding the approved specification, 
none of the following activities shall take place within the segregated protection 
zones in the areas of the trees. 

 
a)The raising or lowering of levels in relation to existing ground levels. 

b) Cutting of roots, digging of trenches or removal of soil. 
c) Erection of temporary buildings, roads, or carrying out of any engineering 

operations. 
d) Lighting of fires. 
e) Driving of vehicles or storage of materials and equipment. 
 

Page 58



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

REASON – To ensure a maximum level of protection to safeguard the wellbeing of the 

trees on the site and in the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 
 

HERITAGE IMPACTS 
 

26. The building known as the ‘Coach House’ shall not be demolished until an appropriate 
programme of historic building recording (level 2) and analysis has been secured and 
implemented in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved scheme, or 
such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning. 
 

REASON - To ensure that an appropriate record is made of the historic building fabric 
that may be affected by the development. 

 
27. Notwithstanding the information within the submitted Wall Surveys and Repair 

Specification, further details shall be provided prior to repairs to each section of wall 
(A-K), to include confirmation of the required extent of works (alongside any impacts 

on landscape / ecology).  No works shall take place until the details have been agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
REASON – To both ensure retention of historic fabric and ensure that the adjacent 

areas of landscaping are retained or reinforced/replanted following removal to 
facilitate the works to conserve that combined character. 

 
28. Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved, details of the size, type, 

and location of the proposed interpretation panels shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. These shall be in place prior to 

the occupation of the development hereby approved and shall be retained as such 
thereafter.  
 
REASON - To recognise the heritage significance of the site. 

 

ECOLOGY 
 

29. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance 
with the recommendations set out within the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 

(Blackwell Grange Parkland, Grange Road Darlington, Barrett Environmental Limited, 
July 2023) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON – In the interests of biodiversity. 

 
30. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance 

with the recommendations set out within the ‘Parkland Restoration non-native 
Invasive Plant Management Plan (Complete Weed Control, October 2023) unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON – In the interests of biodiversity. 
 

Page 59



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

31. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance 

with the recommendations set out within the Ecological Method Statement 
(Blackwell Grange, Darlington, Eco North, November 2023) unless otherwise agreed 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

REASON – In the interests of biodiversity. 
 

32. The development shall not be undertaken otherwise than in complete 
accordance with the submitted Biodiversity Management Plan for a 
minimum period of 30-years from the commencement of development.  
 
REASON – In the interests of ecology and to ensure that 10% biodiversity 

net gain is achieved throughout the overall development in accordance 
with the requirements of the NPPF and Policy ENV8.  

 
HOUSING DEVELOPMENT  

 
33. The housing element of this planning permission relates only to allocation 

403 (Blackwell Grange East) as identified in the Darlington Local Plan 
(2016 – 2036).  

 
REASON – For the avoidance of doubt. 

NUTRIENT NEUTRALITY 
 

34. Prior to the first occupation of the development, a Final Nutrient Credit 
Certificate, signed by Natural England and the applicant, shall be submitted 

to the Local Planning Authority.  
 

REASON - To ensure the development is nutrient neutral in accordance with 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 

 
NOTE: Should the 106 Agreement not be completed within this prescribed period without 
the written consent of the Council to extend this time, the minded to approve status of the 

Permission shall be considered to be a refusal on the grounds that the Appl ication has failed 
to provide adequate mitigation measures to provide a satisfactory form of development in 
accordance with the requirements of Darlington Local Plan 2016-2036, without further 
reference to the Planning Committee. 

 
NOTE: The Chair used his powers to vary the order of the Agenda, and took this item ahead 
of the above Minute PA56 (a) and Minute PA56 (b) at the meeting.  
 

 

Page 60



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

When the time comes for the application to be considered, the Chair will use the following 

running order:  

[This order may be varied at the Chair’s discretion, depending on the nature/complexity of 

the application. The Chair will endeavour, however, to ensure that the opportunity to make 

representations are made in a fair and balanced way.] 

• Chair introduces Agenda item;  

• Officer explains and advises Members regarding the proposal;  

• Applicant or agent may speak (to a maximum of five minutes);  

• Members may question applicant/agent;  

• Up to three objectors may speak (to a maximum of five minutes each); 

• Members may question objectors; 

• Up to three supporters may speak (to a maximum of five minutes each); 

• Members may question supporters; 

• Parish Council representative may speak (to a maximum of five minutes);  

• Members may question Parish Council representative;  

• Ward Councillor may speak (to a maximum of five minutes);  

• Officer summarises key planning issues;  

• Members may question Officers;  

• Objectors have right to reply;  

• Agent/Applicant has right to reply; 

• Officer makes final comments;  

• Members will debate the application before moving on to a decision;  

• Chair announces the decision. 

Page 61

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

BOROUGH OF DARLINGTON 
 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 

Committee Date – 10 January 2024 
 

SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS FOR CONSIDERATION 
 
Background Papers used in compiling this Schedule:- 
 
1)  Letters and memoranda in reply to consultations. 
2)  Letters of objection and representation from the public. 
 

 
Index of applications contained in this Schedule are as follows:- 
 

 
 

Address/Site Location 
 

Reference Number 

Land To the West & South Of Station Road, Station Road, 

Middleton St George, Darlington 
 

21/00529/FUL 

3 Oak Tree Close, Middleton St George 23/01097/TF 

4 Wellington Drive 
Middleton St George 

23/00804/FUL 

 

Page 63

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

DARLINGTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 
COMMITTEE DATE:  10 January 2024   

 

 

 
APPLICATION REF. NO: 21/00529/FUL 

  
STATUTORY DECISION DATE: 17th August 2021 

  
WARD/PARISH:  SADBERGE AND MIDDLETON ST GEORGE 

  
LOCATION:   Land to the west and south of Station Road, 

Middleton St George Darlington 
  
DESCRIPTION:  Demolition of existing agricultural buildings and 

structures and development of 260 no. dwellings 
including access, open space, landscaping, 

sustainable drainage systems and associated 
infrastructure and works (Amended plans received 

18th September 2023) (Amended description) (BNG 
information received 24th October 2023) 

  
APPLICANT: STORY HOMES LIMITED 

 

 
APPLICATION AND SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
Application documents including application forms, submitted plans, supporting technical 
information, consultations responses and representations received, and other background 
papers are available on the Darlington Borough Council website via the following link:  

https://publicaccess.darlington.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QSOWFFFPKFV00 
 

1. The application site, which extends to some 14 hectares, is situated to the south and 

west of Station Road, to the north of Middleton St George, and consists of agricultural 
fields bound by several trees and hedgerows which divide the site and create screening 
along parts of the site boundary.   

 
2. The site is crossed by a tributary of the river Tees and flows southwest into the river 

Tees approximately 3 miles downstream.   
 

3. On the northern part of the site there are currently several farm buildings with vehicular 
access to the farm from the north of the site from Station Road.  There are also two 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5(a)

https://publicaccess.darlington.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QSOWFFFPKFV00
https://publicaccess.darlington.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QSOWFFFPKFV00


 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

Public Rights of Way from Station Road to the east of the site to two points on the 
southern boundary of the site.   

 
4. To the north and east of the proposed development site are residential properties on 

and beyond Station Road.  The south of the site is bound by the Middleton St George 
Water Park (balancing ponds) and to the west of the site there is agricultural land. 
Middleton St George village centre sites approximately 0.5km from the site offering a 
range of shops and services including a hair salon, takeaway, restaurant, news agent 
and post office. A New Sainsbury’s Local shop is located on the Northern side of Station 
Road. 

 
5. Planning permission is sought for the development of the site for 260 residential 

dwellings with associated landscaping and infrastructure, incorporating the following: 

 
 Vehicular access from Station Road to the north with a proposed cycle / pedestrian 

access also from Station Road to the east.    
 The provision of a range of house types and sizes within the development, 236 no. two 

story dwellings and 24 no. bungalows – 36 no. 2 bed dwellings, 54 no. 3 bed dwellings, 

120 no. 4 bed dwellings and 50 no. 5 bed dwellings; 15 different house types; 52 (20%) 
affordable homes –47% built to M4(2) Building Regulation Standard house types, with 

9% built to M4(3) building regulation standards. 
 Retention of the existing beck valley which crosses the site. 

 The provision of open space opposite the Platform 1 building, a non-designated 
heritage asset. 

 Provision of strong frontages to provide increased visual permeability of the estate, in 
the context of the wider surrounding area. 

 Elevations and their materials in keeping with the site’s existing surrounding 
developments. 

 Accommodating Public Rights of Way within the site through proposed diversions. 

 Areas of public open space, the retention and enhancement of existing trees and 

hedgerows, additional tree and shrub planting and the inclusion of landscape buffers  
 SuDs basins managed to promote species rich marginal / wet grassland habitats. 

 A comprehensive landscaping scheme to enhance the appearance of the site and the 
surrounding area and to enhance the ecological value of the site. 

 Infrastructure works (including drainage ponds, pumping station access from Station 
Road, internal estate roads and footpaths, underground utilities).  

 All house types are part L compliant.  Story Homes have undertaken analysis of the 

revised house types against building regulations with semi-detached properties 
achieving circa 1.3% reduction in carbon emissions over Part L 2021, detached 

properties achieve a 2.34% reduction. 
 All dwellings will meet the requirements of the new Approved Document Part O: 

Overheating and achieves these reductions via passive design. Internally, the 
accommodation has been laid out to maximise the internal space and light afforded. 

Each of the principal living rooms will have sufficient glazing to allow natural light to 
penetrate the rooms, reducing the need for artificial lighting. 

 

Page 66



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

6. This site was initially submitted as part of outline application Ref 16/00976/OUT for the 
demolition of existing buildings and the erection of up to 260 residential dwellings, 
although this was not determined owing to the emerging local plan.  This application 
has been submitted as a Full application which considers the full internal site layout in 
detail. The site now forms an allocation within the adopted Local Plan for housing. 

 
Environmental Impact Assessment Requirements 

 
7. The Local Planning Authority has considered the proposal against the Town and Country 

Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. 
 

8. It is the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, that the proposal is development for 
which an Environmental Impact Assessment is not required as the development would 

not be likely to have significant effects on the environment by virtue of factors such as 
its nature, size, or location. 

 
MAIN PLANNING ISSUES  

 
9. The main issues for consideration are: 

 
(a) Principle of the development 

(b) Impact on non-designated Heritage Assets 
(c) Visual and residential amenity (incl. air quality and land contamination) 
(d) Highways and Sustainable Transport  
(e) Public Rights of Way 
(f) Surface Water and Flood Risk 
(g) Ecology 
(h) Nutrient Neutrality 
(i) Developer Contributions 

(j) Other matters 

 
PLANNING POLICIES 

 
10. Policy H2 of the Local Plan allocates the site for housing development.  This is supported 

by an allocation statement, set out in Appendix B of the plan, which sets out the 
requirements for the site.  The following policies are relevant in the determination of 

this application: 
 

NPPF (2023) 
Local Plan (2022) 

SD1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
SH1: Settlement Hierarchy 

DC1: Sustainable Design Principles and Climate Change 
DC2: Flood Risk & Water Management 

DC3: Health & Wellbeing 

DC4: Safeguarding Amenity 

Page 67



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

DC5: Skills & Training 
H1: Housing Requirement 
H2: Housing Allocations 
H3: Development Limits 
H4: Housing Mix 
H5: Affordable Housing 
ENV1: Protecting, Enhancing & Promoting Darlington’s Historic Environment 
ENV2: Stockton Darlington Railway 
ENV3: Local Landscape Character 
ENV4: Green & Blue Infrastructure 
ENV5: Green Infrastructure Standards 
ENV7: Biodiversity & Geodiversity & Development 
ENV8: Assessing a Development’s Impact on Biodiversity 

IN1: Delivering a Sustainable Transport Network 
IN2: Improving Access and Accessibility 

IN3: Transport Assessments and Travel Plans 
IN4: Parking Provision including Electric Vehicle Charging 

IN6: Utilities Infrastructure 
IN8: Broadband Infrastructure 

IN10: Supporting the Delivery of Community and Social Infrastructure 
Tees Valley Minerals and Waste Development Plan Documents (2011) 

Policy MWC4: Safeguarding of Minerals Resources from Sterilisation 
Design of New Development SPD (2011) 
Planning Obligations SPD (2013) 
First Homes Policy Position Statement (2022) 
 
Middleton St George Neighbourhood Plan (2022) 
MSG1: Sustainable Development 
MSG2: Design 

MSG3: Embedding energy efficiency and renewable energy. 

MSG4: Green Infrastructure  
MSG5: Biodiversity 

MSG8: Heritage Assets 
MSG9: Housing Mix 

MSG12: Infrastructure 
MSG14: Transport and new development 

MSG15: Rights of Way 
 

RESULTS OF TECHNICAL CONSULTATION  
 

11. No objections in principle have been raised by the Council’s Highways Engineer, Public 
Rights of Way Officer, Transport Planning Officer, Ecology Officer or Environmental 

Health Officer, subject to conditions.  No objections have been raised by the Historic 
Environment Record Officer, the Local Lead Flood Authority or Natural England subject 

to conditions.  National Highways has raised no objections subject to a financial 

contribution to the strategic highway network as part of a section 106 agreement.   

Page 68



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

 
RESULTS OF PUBLICITY AND NOTIFICATION 
 

12. 31 Letters of objection have been received, raising the following concerns: 
 

 Highway safety: village cannot accommodate any further traffic, already dangerous. 
 Increased car dependency. 

 Existing parking issues. 

 Impact on the environment and climate change. 

 Loss of existing public right of way. 

 Flood Risk Issues. 
 Concerns regarding low occupancy rate used for nitrate calculations. 

 Too many houses in the village currently. 

 Loss of green space. 

 Impact on wildlife.  Concerns about Biodiversity net gain and if this is achievable. 

 Does not accord with the Local Plan. 

 Mix of housing not acceptable, housing not needed in this area. 
 Impact on heritage assets. 

 Impact on amenity due to increased traffic. 
 Impact on amenity during construction. 

 Lack of infrastructure, doctors, schools. 

 Location of affordable housing. 

 
13.  Four representations have been made raising the following points: 

 
 Development looks well designed and should provide the village with some new 

housing options. 

 Additional traffic is not a concern due to the position of the proposed access road. 

 Will support local business and bring more money into the area. 

 Broadband infrastructure should be incorporated. 
 Provision of a play area should be considered. 

 Consider upgrading Darlington Road to include a cycle path. 

 Alternative access should be made available for construction traffic. 

 Primary school is almost at capacity.  What provision will this development make. 
 

14. The Friends of Stockton and Darlington Railway has requested that if permission is 

granted, a contribution should be sought towards the funding of the proposals of the 

nearby S&DR Heritage Action Zone and the Fighting Cocks Heritage Hub. 
 

15. Middleton St George Parish Council has objected on the following grounds: 
 

 The site is outside of development limits (at the time of the original application). 

 Council can evidence a five-year housing land supply. 

Page 69



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

 There is no sound justification for this site being developed within the emerging Local 
Plan either regarding development boundaries or to benefit the community as a 
service village. 

 Highway safety. 
 No regard to Middleton St George Neighbourhood Plan. 

 Proposed housing does not reflect the needs of the area. 

 Flooding and drainage. 

 Impact on heritage assets. 
 

16. One letter of objection raises concerns regarding the insufficient opportunity for 
residents of Middleton St George to have a meaningful say on the application citing a 

lack of consultation and publicity.  It should be noted that all publicity and consultation 
is in accordance with both statutory requirements and local guidelines. 
 

PLANNING ISSUES/ANALYSIS 
 

a) Principle of the development 
 

17. Policy H1 of the Local Plan sets a minimum housing requirement of 492 net additional  
dwellings per annum over the plan period to 2036. A neighbourhood area housing 
requirement for Middleton St George of 860 homes over the plan period is also 
included in the policy. This is not in addition to the figure which has been established 
for the borough, it reflects the combined yield of the allocations and commitments 
within the neighbourhood area. The neighbourhood area requirement includes the 

anticipated yield of this allocated site over the plan period and therefore the proposal 
would contribute towards the achievement of this requirement. 

 
18. Policy H2 of the Local Plan allocates this site (99 – Maxgate Farm, MSG) for housing 

development which will contribute towards meeting the Boroughs quantitative and 
qualitative need for housing over the plan period. It outlines a yield for indicative 

purposes only of 260 homes for the site, all of which are anticipated to be delivered 
during the plan period. 

 
19. Policy H3 seeks to achieve the locational strategy for new development in the Borough 

by establishing development limits where development within will be acceptable 
subject to compliance with other relevant national and local policies. The site is located 
within the development limits of the village; therefore, the proposal accords with policy 
H3. 

 
20. The site is not designated for any particular use in the Middleton St George 

Neighbourhood Plan. The neighbourhood plan also simply refers back to the Local Plan 
and policy H3 with regards to the defined development limits.  

 
21. This proposal is therefore in principle compliant with the locational requirements 

established in Policies H2 and H3 of the Local Plan (2016 - 2036) as it is a site allocation, 

Page 70



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

is located within development limits and is being brought forward for the number of 
dwellings identified within the indicative yield.  

 

Housing Mix  
 

22. Policy H4 of the Local Plan states that proposals for housing development will be 
encouraged to provide an appropriate mix of housing types, sizes and tenures which 

have regard to local needs as identified within the most up to date Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment or other relevant evidence. A suitable housing mix should also give 

consideration to a site's location, physical constraints, character and surrounding 
context. 

 

23. The Councils latest SHMA (2020) evidence suggests an overall housing mix of 6.5% - 1 

Bed, 32% - 2 Bed, 50% - 3 Bed and 11.5% 4 Bed +. The scheme proposes 36 no. 2 bed 
dwellings (13.8%), 54 no. 3 bed dwellings (20.8%), 120 no. 4 bed dwellings (46.2%) and 

50 no. 5 bed dwellings (19.2%) of 15 different house types. The mix proposed does not 
directly align with the percentages sought in the SHMA and a greater number of larger 
dwellings are proposed. This does not raise significant concerns given the broad mix 
proposed and the twenty-four bungalows proposed on the site will assist in meeting the 
needs of older people, particularly when the borough, like many places, has an ageing 
population.    

 
 

24. Policy H4 requires proposals to provide 45% of all new dwellings to meet building 
regulations category M4(2) adaptable and accessible dwelling standards and 9% to 

meet M4 (3 a or b) wheelchair user dwellings standard. The planning statement 
submitted sets out that 47% of the homes will be built to M4(2) standard and 9% built 

to M4(3) standard, therefore achieving, and exceeding the policy requirement. At this 
time the Council will only be requesting the M4(3) a, wheelchair adaptable standard. 

The standards will need to be secured through an appropriate condition. They will assist 
in meeting the housing needs of older people and those with disabilities in the local 
area as identified in the SHMA (2020).  

 
25. Policy H5 requires proposals in the Middleton St George Ward to provide 20% 

affordable housing, of which, 50% for affordable rent and 50% for affordable home 
ownership. The Council’s First Homes Policy Position Statement (2022) also sets out a 
requirement that 25% of affordable homes secured should be delivered as First Homes. 
This would make up a proportion of the affordable home ownership tenure split. The 

applicant has acknowledged the overall requirement in their planning statement and 
has proposed 52 affordable homes which will meet the overall 20% requirement. 
Although no detail has been provided on tenure split. The required tenure split can be 
secured through a planning condition requiring submission and agreement of the 

scheme of affordable housing. The affordable units are all 2 and 3 bed properties. This 
does align with the SHMA (2020) which indicates a greater need for 2 and 3 bed 
affordable homes. 

 

26. Policy MSG9 Housing Mix of the Neighbourhood Plan is also relevant. It states, 
proposals for housing development will be encouraged to provide an appropriate mix of 

Page 71



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

housing types, sizes and tenures which have regard to local needs as identified within 
the most up to date Middleton St George Housing Needs Assessment and the 
Darlington Strategic Housing Market Assessment or other relevant evidence, in 
accordance with Darlington Local Plan Policy H4. The affordable housing requirements 
of Local Plan policy H5 are also reiterated.  

 
27. One of the main points from the Middleton St George Housing Needs Assessment is 

that affordability should be improved across the neighbourhood area. It outlined that 
affordable rent should be increased wherever possible and new residential 
development should ensure a substantial proportion of smaller dwellings to address 
affordability. The assessment considers that increasing these types of homes will re-
balance the housing stock which is currently characterised by larger properties with a 
high percentage of home ownership, as opposed to private and social renting. The 

proposal will assist in meeting these needs with the inclusion of 52 affordable units and 
90 homes which will be 2/3 bed.  

  

b) Impact on non-designated Heritage Assets 

 

28. Policy ENV1 indicates that, planning applications on sites of more than 1 hectare must 
be accompanied by an archaeological evaluation report, unless the area is already 
known to have been archaeologically sterilised by previous development (such as 
mineral extraction). 

 
29. The applicant submitted an interim archaeological evaluation report and have since 

undertaken further investigative works comprising trial trenching and an excavation 
report.  The Historic Environment Record Officer is satisfied that no further work is 
required, and that any below ground archaeological assets are not significant and raises 
no objections.  Archiving has been completed and the proposal complies with Policy 
ENV1 of the Local Plan and Policy MSG8 of the Middleton St George Neighbourhood 

Plan in this regard.  
 

30. The housing allocation statement in appendix B of the Local Plan sets out that there is a 
non-designated public house related to the Stockton and Darlington Railway located 

adjacent to the site on the corner of Station Road and Sadberge Road. It states that any 
development scheme should look to incorporate interpretation of the historic route.  

 
31. Policy ENV2 (Stockton and Darlington Railways) states that proposals which will 

conserve and enhance elements which contribute to the significance of the Stockton 
and Darlington Railway and its setting, will be supported. 
 

32. The scheme has been designed to respond to, and strengthen the existing setting and 

accessibility of, the Former Stockton and Darlington Railway to the North. Dwellings 
located on the northeast corner of the application site have an open frontage looking 
on to the pedestrian access to the former railway.  The site also has good pedestrian 

linkages to the former public house (now Sainsbury’s).  The landscape design and 
retention of setback and “Village Green” style vista in the north-eastern corner of the 

site ensures compliance with design criteria in Policy H2 regarding the former public 

Page 72



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

house (now Sainsburys) and non-designated heritage asset, and also compliance with 
Policy ENV1 and MSG8.   
 

33. The housing allocation statement in appendix B of the Local Plan states that any 
development scheme should look to incorporate interpretation of the historic route. In 

view of this, developer contributions have been agreed for £10,000 towards research 
and the interpretation of the Former Stockton and Darlington Railways which would be 
paid prior to occupation of the site.  This is considered further in the developer 
contributions section below.   
 

34. Overall, whilst the delivery of housing in accordance with Policy H2 delivers a public 

benefit capable of outweighing any perceived harm, the design approach has ensured 
that the setting and significance of non-designated heritage assets is respected. 

Furthermore, given that the non-designated heritage asset is related to the history of 
the Stockton and Darlington Railway, the conservation and enhancement of its setting 
together with a developer contribution also ensures compliance with Policy ENV2 and 
provision of interpretation along this historic route. 

 
c) Visual and residential amenity  

 
35. The allocation statement for the site states that an area of open space should be 

provided opposite the public house and design housing to face onto this to strengthen 
the 'village green' character. The landscape masterplan submitted illustrates that this 
requirement has been adhered to.  
 

36. Policy ENV4 sets out principles and criteria for the protection and enhancement of 
green and blue infrastructure. Criteria c talks about capitalising on opportunities to 
enhance and/or create green links between green and blue infrastructure features. A 
beck valley crosses the northern part of the site, and this has been retained as part of 
the site layout which is acknowledged. The above principles of the protection and 
enhancement of green infrastructure are reiterated in policy MSG4.   

 
37. Criteria c of the allocation statement in the Local Plan explains that there are a number 

of mature hedgerows on the site particularly along the western side. The proposed site 
layout retains and incorporates these features. Opportunities should also be taken to 
enhance the green infrastructure network and link to the wider network. This has been 
achieved in the submitted site layout.  
 

38. Policy ENV5 of the Local Plan (2016 - 2036) requires developments of over 20 dwellings 
to deliver new green infrastructure to meet the additional need generated by the 
proposal subject to the quantity, quality, or accessibility of existing provision. The 
following types of green infrastructure should be provided - informal recreation space; 
wildlife friendly space; children & young people space; and street trees. It is noted from 
the landscape masterplan submitted that there is on site provision of green 
infrastructure and the existing beck valley retained with vegetation supplemented. The 

proposal demonstrates that the protection and enhancement of the green and blue 

infrastructure can be achieved.   

Page 73



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

 
39. It is important to note that policy ENV5 also requires measures to be put in place to 

secure the long-term maintenance of green infrastructure and open space facilities that 
are provided, and this would be addressed as part of a Section 106 agreement.  
 

40. It is also important to note that para 136 of the NPPF states that trees make an 
important contribution to the character and quality of urban environments and can also 
help mitigate and adapt to climate change. It goes on to emphasise that existing trees 
should be retained wherever possible and planning decisions should ensure that new 
streets are tree-lined. The application demonstrates that a large proportion of existing 
trees and hedgerows are to be retained and new streets are street lined.  
 

41. A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment undertaken by Pegasus Group (November 

2023) was submitted in support of the application and considers the potential effects of 
the application on landscape character and visual amenity. This assessment concludes 

specifically that “The proposed development would provide new open space, a strong 
green infrastructure network and new linkages with the local footpath network. From 

both a landscape and visual perspective the indicative proposed layout responds 
sympathetically to the wider landscape and urban character and has been designed so 

as to retain important landscape features and strengthen key characteristics of the 
surrounding landscape, where possible, whilst minimising visual intrusion’. 

 
42.  The site, which consists of agricultural land, adjoins the northern parts of Middleton St 

George, and represents a logical extension to the built-up extent of the village. Station 
Road wraps around the northern and eastern boundaries of the site and is principally 
lined with housing. The site is largely seen in the context of existing housing to the 
northern and eastern boundaries, and the Water Park to the southern boundary. Whilst 
the western boundary is open to the countryside, the effects of development of this site 
would be contained by the existing heavy vegetation, and the site would predominantly 

be seen in the context of the existing built form.  

 
43. The proposed landscape designs seek to incorporate and augment existing landscape 

features where possible, provide areas of open space, new planting, landscape corridor 
alongside the existing watercourse and at the western side of the site, all of which 

would mitigate any perceived impact as a result of development, alongside providing 
practical area of amenity space throughout the site and breaking up its built impact.  

 
44. An Arboricultural Impact Assessment undertaken by Brindle Green (October 2023) was 

submitted in support of the application.  This sets out a schedule of existing trees and 
hedgerows that would need to be removed either to facilitate the development or as a 

result of their assessment exposing issues such as structural defects, poor life 
expectancy or safety.   

 
45. The above report sets out that to facilitate the development a total of 18 trees, three 

hedgerows and four small groups of trees are required to be removed, together with 

partial removal of two groups of trees and two hedgerows.  The report has identified 

Page 74



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

that eight trees and one group of trees are recommended for removal irrespective of 
development.  With the exception of one category B group, all are categorised as 
category C specimens. The submission also sets out the methods of protection for the 
retained trees and hedgerows, and it is recommended that a planning condition be 
attached to any permission to secure compliance with the methods set out. 
 

46. To mitigate the above removals the report recommends that new planting should take 
place throughout the site and this is demonstrated through the landscape masterplan 
submitted with the application, which also includes supplementing of vegetation along 
the stream corridor, a proposed new tree and shrub buffer along the western boundary, 
new hedgerow planting, trees and grass verge along the northern boundary, a new 
orchard in the public open space to the east side of the site, and individual tree planting 
in gardens and new tree planting in the public open space to the south eastern section 

of the site.   
 

47.  Overall, and in the context of the associated tree reports, and landscape masterplan 
plan the Landscape and Visual Impact assessment summarises that the proposal is well 

designed and cognisant of the character and appearance of the countryside surrounding 
the village. The conclusions of the assessment are considered to be sound, and the 

proposal complies with policy ENV3 and MSG4 in this regard. 
 

48. The density of the development is in keeping with the local area and having been 
designed to incorporate existing features, and include enhanced landscaping and 
greenspace, the proposal is considered to integrate well into the surrounding 
environment.   
 

49. The layout incorporates a strong frontage, with the use of shared drives, to give 
increased visual permeability of the estate, whilst minimising the visual impact of the 
local area.  There is a variety of house types, of a scale and detailing reflecting the local 

area.  Boundary treatments are a mixture of timber trip railing, brick pillar walls within 

timber infill panels, and open boarded fencing for private gardens. 
 

50. The Design and Access Statement also provides details of the materials that are to be 
used for the building’s roads and infrastructure and details of the type of external 

materials to the dwellings. The materials have been selected to reflect the Sites context 
and setting whilst respecting the Sites village location. Specifically, the house types have 

incorporated a variety of external finish including the use of art stone features on 
various plots. 

 
51. Annex three of the Middleton St George Neighbourhood Plan sets out a range of design 

criteria which reflect that set out within the related policy MSG2.  The submission has 
considered this in the design of the scheme and the submitted Design and Access 

Statement includes an assessment of the proposed development against the MSG 
design code in Appendix two of the document.  As the D&A Statement states, this is not 

a bespoke design code for Maxgate Farm and applies to the settlement and 

Neighbourhood Area more generally. As such, it has been considered proportionately 

Page 75



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

and accordance has been demonstrated in relation to grain and density, height and 
skyline, massing and roofscape, space, movement, design, and materials. In the context 
that the Site is allocated for development, compliance is also demonstrated with design 
guidance on landscape through the retention and enhancement of key green 
infrastructure and landscape features at the watercourse and on the western field 
boundary. 
 

52. Overall, it is considered that the proposed layout, scale, design, and appearance of the 
dwellings, are acceptable and in accord with the requirements of policies DC1, ENV3, 
ENV4 and ENV5 of the Local Plan and MSG1, MSG2 and MSG4 of the Middleton St 
George Neighbourhood Plan.  
 
Residential Amenity general 

 
53. The layout has been mindful of the guidance set out within the Design SPD and will 

provide a satisfactory level of amenity for existing residents and the occupiers of the 
proposed dwellings, and the proposal is therefore in accord with Policy DC4 of the local 

Plan and policies MSG1 and MSG2 of the Middleton St George Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

Air quality 
 

54. The application has been submitted with an air quality assessment prepared by njd 
Environmental Associates dated March 2021. The assessment has looked at the impact 
on air quality from emissions created by the increase in road traffic as a result of the 
development. The assessment has modelled the impact of these additional emissions 
on the nearest existing residential receptors closest to the site. This has shown that the 
impact of the development is expected to have a negligible impact on the surrounding 
air quality. The Environmental Health Officer agrees with these conclusions.    

 

55. The report has also assessed the impact on air quality expected as a result of the 
construction phase of the development. This has shown that there this is significant 
potential for dust emissions to impact on local residents during the construction phase 
of the project. The report goes on to recommend a series of mitigation measures which 

could be designed to minimise the emission of dust from the site during the 
construction phase. These would be incorporated into a Construction Management 
Plan, which is considered further below.   Subject to this, the proposal complies with 

policy DC3 and DC4 of the Local Plan and MSG1 and MSG2 of the Middleton St George 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

 
Noise  

 
56. The application has been submitted with a noise assessment prepared by njd 

Environmental Associates dated August 2023. This noise assessment has been updated 
to take account of recent revisions to the site layout. It considers how the dwellings 

proposed for the site would be impacted by noise from road traffic from Station Road 
which forms the northern and eastern boundary of the site. There are no other nearby 

Page 76



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

noises sources which would have an impact on the occupiers of future dwellings. The 
assessment again uses the measurements of noise from the site taken in March 2021 
and then models those results to give a decibel reading inside the bedrooms, living 
rooms and gardens of the proposed dwellings. 

 

57. The results of this modelling suggest that mitigation will be required in the form of an 
alternative method of ventilation for those dwellings closest to the road and an acoustic 
fence will be required to be built around the proposed garden areas closest to the road. 
The recommendations of this acoustic report have been incorporated into the updated 
Noise Mitigation Plan drawing (Drawing No. 30020.PLN.NOI REVISION D) dated 
22.03.2021 which shows those dwellings where an alternative means of ventilation is 
required and where an acoustic fence will need to be erected to protect against noise in 
garden areas.  The Environmental Health Officer has recommended a planning 
condition to secure a suitable ventilation strategy for the identified properties and for 
this to be installed prior to the occupation of the dwellings, and a condition requiring 
the noise mitigation measures identified for plots 1 and 256 as per the 
recommendations of the report.  Subject to these, the proposal would comply with 
policies DC4 of the Local Plan and Policies MSG1 and MSG2 of the Middleton St George 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

Construction impacts 
 

58. The application is for an extensive development that will likely take years to build. The 
construction phase of the homes will inevitably have an impact on existing nearby 
residents and future residents who move into the site once the development of some 
the proposed homes is completed. Issues such as dust, noise, car parking for 
contractors and delivery routes for materials could all impact on residents. Although the 

njd air quality assessment gives suggestions for mitigation measures to control dust 
from the site the Environmental Health Officer has recommended that further 

conditions are attached to any approval to minimise the disruption as part of a 
condition requiring submission and agreement of a Construction Management Plan.  

Subject to this, the proposal complies with policy DC3 and DC4 of the Local Plan and 
MSG1 and MSG2 of the Middleton St George Local Plan. 

 
Land contamination 

 
59. The application has been submitted together with a Phase 1 Preliminary Site 

Investigation Report prepared by Dunelm dated February 2016 and a Phase 2 Site 
Investigation Report prepared by Sirius Environmental Consultants dated July 2019.  

 
60. The preliminary investigation has identified that the site has historically been 

undeveloped farmland and as such it was not expected to be significantly 

contaminated. There has been some development with buildings associated with a 
small farmstead in the north-west corner of the site and this area has been targeted in 

subsequent site investigation works.  
 

Page 77



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

61. The site investigation comprised 20 trial pits, 8 boreholes and the targeted trial pitting 
and sampling of two stockpiles of waste material which looked to have been deposited 
in the north-west of the site around the farmstead. Ground gas monitoring was 
undertaken in 4 boreholes around the site, the results of the ground gas monitoring are 
contained in a sperate ground gas addendum letter report from Sirius dated 16th 
September 2019. The ground gas monitoring has shown that there is not a viable source 
of ground gas impacting on the site and that there is very little or no flow of ground gas 
into the boreholes. The assessment has placed the site into ‘Characteristic Situation 1’ 
for ground gas requiring no special protective measures for ground gas and the 
Environmental Health Officer agrees with this assessment.    

 
62. The sampling for contaminants has identified exceedances of the assessment criteria for 

benzo(a)pyrene and lead in samples taken from the stockpiled material on site. The 

assessment criteria for zinc was also exceeded in one of the samples taken from the 
area around the former farmstead. Remediation in those areas where the assessment 

criteria has been exceeded will be required in order to ensure that the site is suitable 
for the proposed residential end use. The site investigation makes some suggestions for 

possible remediation options, and the Environmental Health Officer has confirmed that 
they would be satisfied to see these incorporated into a full remediation method 

statement. The current amendment to the application makes it clear that these 
redundant farm buildings will be demolished as part of the application.   

 
63. In view of the above, the Environmental Health Officer has recommended that should 

the application be approved, in order to ensure that suitable remediation is undertaken, 
standard Contaminated Land planning conditions CL4-CL6 are attached to any approval.   
Subject to the above, the proposal is considered to comply with Policies DC3 and DC4 of 
the Local Plan and MSG1 and MSG2 of the Middleton St George Neighbourhood Plan. 

 
d)  Highways and Sustainable Transport 

 

Access and connectivity 
 

64. The Allocation Statement for this site in Appendix B of the Local Plan (2016 - 2036) 

requires in part a for vehicle access to be taken from Station Road which is proposed by 
the applicant.  
 

65. The proposed development includes a single point of vehicular access from Station 
Road via a new ghost island priority junction layout. The site access would provide 

visibility splays of 4.5m x 160m to the East and 4.5m x 120m to the West in accordance 
with observed 85th percentile speeds on Station Road and meeting guidance in The 

Design Manual for Roads & Bridges (DMRB) for a 40mph speed limit. A development of 
up to a maximum of 300 dwellings may be served by a single point of access, as such the 

Highways Engineer would consider the proposed access type to be adequate for the life 
of the development.  
 

66. In addition to the main vehicular access to the site a separate pedestrian / cycle access 

point is proposed onto Station Road to the east of the site. This  is welcomed to help 

Page 78



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

provide permeability through the site for pedestrian and cycle movements and 
accessibility from the site to the centre of Middleton St George. This route would also 
provide an alternative access to the site for emergency services should the main 
vehicular access from Station Road be blocked.  
 

67. Primary pedestrian access will be via 2.0m footways located each side of the site 
entrance. A pedestrian refuge crossing facility is shown located 30m east of the site 
entrance which gives connectivity to bus stops and wider pedestrian infrastructure to 
the North of Station Rd, however an additional crossing facility should be provided west 
of the site access to aid pedestrian movements for people living within the St, Georges 
Gate development and wishing to use the new bus stop layby. A new offsite footway 
should also be provided across the site frontage to facilitate pedestrian movements 
between this development and the southern part of the village.  

 

September 2023 Transport Assessment addendum and update  
  

68. The applicant was requested to submit an updated sense check on traffic impact owing 
to previous assessment work being undertaken on baseline traffic survey data taken in 
2016. Given the age of the survey data used, changes to post pandemic traffic patterns, 
the widespread adoption of home/blended working and the significant recent 
development traffic now on the local and strategic highway network, the picture was 
unclear if the assessment work previously undertaken was still accurate and resil ient for 
both current and future operating years, unless updated baseline survey data is used to 
re-run the previous modelling.  

  
69. Updated survey data was captured in November 2023 and the previously agreed trip 

rates and assignment used. The re-assessments have been carried out for the future 
year up to 2031, including the agreed traffic associated with committed developments 
in the area (No Development) and the proposed development flows (With 
Development). The results show the results of the re-assessments which demonstrate 
the junction operates well within capacity now and is predicted to do so in 2031 and 
beyond. 

  

70. An updated review of recorded accident history has also been undertaken. This 
confirms that there has been just one reported personal injury accident near Station 
Road/ Sadberge Road during the almost 8-year assessment period up to 28th 
September 2023 (latest available) and it was a result of poor driver behaviour.  It is 
therefore concluded that Station Road/ Sadberge Road, and its surrounding locality 
operate in a safe manner, and that the predicted traffic generation does not present a 

severe impact on road safety or the operational capacity of the highway.  
  

Internal Layout. 
   

71. The internal layout is generally in accordance with adoptable standards, with the 
internal highway network consisting of 5.5m wide carriageways with 2.0m wide 

footways (all measurements are between restraints) where intended to be offered for 
future highways adoption as part of a Section 38 Agreement. The Highways Engineer 

Page 79



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

welcomes this approach and considers this to be a safer pedestrian environment than 
use of ‘shared space’ designs which may be more difficult to navigate and less legible 
for persons with mobility or visual impairment. 

 
72. Swept path analysis has been submitted to demonstrate that generally the internal 

network will operate satisfactorily for the expected service vehicles entering the 
development, i.e., an 11.2m Phoenix Duo refuse vehicle. Internally the site will be 
subject to a 20mph speed limit, with vertical speed reducing features being required to 
make the 20mph limit self-enforcing.  

 

Parking Standards 
 

73. Policy IN4 sets out requirements for parking provision for new developments and refers 
to standards set out in the Tees Valley Highway Design Guide. Policy MSG14 of the 
Neighbourhood Plan sets out similar principles with regards to access, parking and 
sustainable transport. For example, it states that development will be supported where 
it can be demonstrated that it will provide safe access which connects to the wider 
walking and cycling network, will not significantly impact on traffic flows and makes 
satisfactory off-road parking provision (please see policy for full wording). 

 
74. Parking across the site is generally in accordance with TVDG standards, which require 

dwellings of up to and including 3 bedrooms to have two in curtilage spaces, with 
dwellings of 4 or more bedrooms being required to have 3 in curtilage parking spaces. A 

full appraisal of parking was undertaken for the revised site layout, and this showed 
that parking for the 18 No Dawson (DWN) 4 bed semi house types only have 2No spaces 

and are therefore one space short.  The applicant has also included visitor parking 
totaling 43No car parking spaces across the site, and whilst this is welcomed as good 

practice, it should not be in lieu of allocated in-curtilage spaces. 
 

75. In view of the above, the applicant was asked to address the shortfall associated with 
the 18 dwellings referred to and provided the following information: 
 

‘Story Homes do always seek to build houses that meet Nationally Described Space 

Standards (NDSS) wherever it is possible to do so, and the Dawson House Type, as 
currently submitted, is a 4-bed which is NDDS compliant, although the 4th bedroom is 

the minimum possible size to meet the standards and invariably isn’t used as a bedroom 
by occupants. Whilst we acknowledge DBC do not have an NDSS policy in their Local 
Plan or MSG Neighbourhood Plan, given the issue that has arisen with regard to parking 
standards, we therefore propose to move an internal wall on the Dawson floor plan to 
reduce the size of the 4th bedroom, so that it no longer functions or would be marketed 
as a bedroom. The Dawson House Type therefore becomes a 3-bed house which retains 
its NDDS compliance, and the previous 4th bedroom is marketed by Story Homes as a 

study or home working office. Being a 3-bed property, only two parking spaces are 
required, and this would therefore meet the required parking standards. Story homes 

have had this approach accepted by Stockton Borough Council on our Allens West 
development (Ref: 22/1084/VARY)’.   
 

Page 80



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

76. The applicant submitted an updated Dawson House Type drawing with amended floor 
plan showing the Study/Home Working Office, and the General Arrangement Plan has 
been updated to reflect this change.  This Highways Engineer has confirmed that the 
parking requirements across the site have now been addressed. 

  

Culvert/Structures in the highway 
  

77. An additional drawing has recently been submitted which shows technical details of the 
existing watercourse which is to be culverted under the internal highway to be adopted 
as part of a future Agreement Under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980. 

  
78. The scope of the Tees Valley Design Guide does not cover structures within the 

highway, and as such it will require separate agreement and technical approval. Early 
engagement and discussion and with the Local Highways Authority should be sought. 
Highway structure shall be designed in accordance with DMRB CD 350 ‘The design of 
highway structures or any successor.   The applicant has confirmed that that 
engagement has commenced with the Bridges Manager in preparation of the intended 
works and will be picked up in more detail following planning consent as part of the 
wider s38 Agreement. 

 
Offsite highway works. 

 
79. As referred to earlier the site access is in the form of a ghost island junction, with 

provision of footways and pedestrian crossing islands. The detailed design must be in 
accordance with the DMRB Guidance CD 123 Geometric design of at-grade priority and 

signal-controlled junctions and to accord with standards required within a 40mph speed 
limit. The provision of the junction requires widening of the adjacent carriageway, 

which will be in the form of asymmetrical widening within land to the south of Station 
Rd which is within the control of the applicant. The taper length will need to be at 1:40 
to which to achieve lanes widths of 3.5m will require a taper length of 140m in each 
direction.  

 

80. Sufficient queuing length must also be accommodated within the right turn lane to 

ensure traffic turning traffic does not obstruct through traffic. Full width resurfacing of 
Station Rd will be expected within the extents of the Section 278 works in order to 

ensure appropriate skid resistance is provided where new slowing and turning 
movements are introduced to otherwise free flowing traffic conditions. The ghost island 
junction will need to be delivered prior to occupation of the first dwelling along with 
footway connectivity via Station Rd in order to provide a safe means of vehicular and 
pedestrian access, this should be secured by a suitably worded condition.  

 

81. The proposed ghost island layout would require relocation of the existing westbound 
bus stop on Station Road within the site frontage and a layby has therefore been 

provided as part of the access design in order to accommodate it. There is some conflict 
with the location of the nearby eastbound bus stops which will require relocation and 
potential rationalisation of both eastbound stops. This will need to be further reviewed 
as part of off-site highway works. 

Page 81



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

 
82. An additional footway should be provided across the full site frontage on Station Rd and 

extend south-eastward from the site access junction to the existing footway which 
terminates opposite 10 Harpers Terrace. This should be in the standard form of 2.0m 
bitmac construction and include street lighting as required and advised by the DBC 
street lighting Engineer. Additional footway links could then be formed to increase 
pedestrian permeability for instance from the terminus of the road next to plot 64 and 
the turning head at plot 68-70. A pedestrian desire line is also identified whereby 
persons living within the north-western corner of the site (plots 4-29) will cut across the 
open space to access the bus stop rather than walk an additional 230m+ via the site 
entrance, and the Highways Engineer has therefore recommended the provision of an 
additional footway link across the open space between trees which can be secured as 
part of the highway-related conditions. A suitable street lighting design will be required 

to be submitted for approval and agreement and details of this requirements are 
included as an informative. 

  
Infrastructure Delivery Plan Contributions 
  

83. Agreement has been reached between the applicant and DBC/National Highways for a 
S106 financial contribution of £459,885.25 towards offsite mitigation measures as 
identified in the adopted local plan Infrastructure delivery plan (IDP). This will be used 
along with other developer contributions to fund schemes needed to ensure the safe 
and efficient operation of the strategic road network on the section of the A66 between 
Morton Palms and Little Burdon including the junctions themselves.   

 

Sustainable Transport 
 

84. Policy IN2 seeks to ensure proposals incorporate measures to reduce the need to travel 
by car through a range of criteria. This includes ensuring access to existing cycling, 
walking and rights of way network (part c) and contributions to supporting or extending 
bus services for up to 5 years and towards bus stop infrastructure where sites are not 
currently served by regular services to ensure 80% or more of the dwellings on the site 
are within a 400m walking distance of a bus stop served by regular daytime services 

(part d). 
 

85. Part e of IN2 also sets out that where appropriate contributions will be sought towards 
a range of sustainable travel measures including safer routes to school and measures to 

support the travel plan. Therefore, to ensure consistency with these policy 
requirements contributions should be sought towards the sustainable transport 

improvements considered necessary by the sustainable transport team.   
 

86. In addition, policy MSG12 requires developments to provide or contribute to the 
infrastructure requirements that are related to them, with the necessary infrastructure, 

including improvements to existing infrastructure, made available to serve the 
development within an agreed timescale. 

 

Page 82



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

87. A Travel Plan prepared by Tetra Tech (September 2023) was submitted in support of the 
application.  The document seeks to provide a framework of measures to encourage a 
reduction in private car usage, an increase in the use of sustainable modes of transport 
and to improve the overall accessibility of the development.  The Travel Plan Officer has 
confirmed that this is acceptable subject to a condition to secure compliance.    A Travel 
Plan financial contribution is also required in line with the requirements of the Travel 
Plan Guidance and this is considered further in section (i) of this report. 

 

88. This development site has public transport accessibility; in line with the SPD 
(supplementary planning document) it is within 400m of a pair of bus stops, these being 
the St. George’s Gate and Sadberge Road bus stops which are served by the number 12 
that operates - every 60 minutes during the day, with no evening service Monday to 
Saturday and no day or evening service on a Sunday. However, the service that is 
provided i.e., hourly, does not provide the development site with an appropriate level 
of service, therefore a public transport contribution will be sought to improve this to a 
half hourly service, the amount of which at the time of writing is to be agreed and will 
be reported verbally at Planning Committee.  This, along contributions made from other 
developments in the village will be used to improve this existing service.   

 

89. In line with the SPD a sustainable transport contribution will be sought which will be 
used towards the development of the S&DR walking and cycling route and/or other 
alternative uses as appropriate to walking and cycling improvements. At the time of 
writing, the amount is to be agreed and will be reported verbally at Planning 
Committee. 
 

90. A condition is recommended to secure submission and agreement of details of cycle 
parking for each dwelling. 

 
91. Subject to the above, the Transport Planning Officer has raised no objections and the 

proposal complies with policies DC1 and IN4 of the Local Plan and MSG1 and MSG12 of 
the Middleton St George Neighbourhood Plan in this regard. 

 
e) Public Rights of Way 

 
92. The housing allocation statement also states that site layout shall consider the two 

public rights of way which cross the southern part of the site. This has been addressed 
in the submitted plans, Policy MSG15 is also relevant and states that the rights of way 
network will be protected from development unless there is a clear and demonstrable 
justification for the loss of the route and a suitable alternative route will be provided 
within an agreed timescale. 

 
93. Two Public Rights of Way (Footpaths No. 3 and No. 4 in the Parish of Low Dinsdale) 

cross the development site and link into the wider PROW network.  With relevance to 
this planning application these two public footpaths are subject to an ongoing Section 

257 public path order (PPO) application under the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act. 
The updated planning application plan for the public footpaths is only slightly modified 

from the previous version. The changes appear to focus on the very east end of the 

Page 83



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

routes where they leave Station Road, the southerly proposed route of footpath 4 and 
the junction at the west end of the two paths. The changes do not warrant any change 
in the process of the PPO order and the Public Rights of Way Officer raises no 
objections.  An informative should be placed on any approval to require the applicant to 
make contact with the PROW officer to provide the amended plan as part of the 257 
processes.   
 

94. In respect of the objections regarding the diversions, the applicant has noted: 
 
‘Following ongoing liaison with the Public Rights of Way Officer at the Council, 
numerous amendments have previously been made to the diverted footpaths to improve 
the user experience of the amended routes. The most notable of these comments was 
for Low Dinsdale footpath no 4, which was diverted through a “green corridor” route 

along the south-eastern edge of the site, through an area of landscaping. The current 
layout enhances the green corridor within this feature, ensuring that pedestrians 

continue to benefit from the option of being able to walk through an area of landscaping 
prior to connecting to the wider PROW network at two locations on the southern 

boundary of the Site.  
 

Low Dinsdale Footpath no 3 is also diverted, via a route that passes through the housing 
layout and adjacent to properties before also joining the wider network at the southern 

boundary. To clarify therefore the amendments to the 2 footpaths are necessary to 
facilitate allocated development and have been a key design consideration to ensure an 
appropriate balance is reached between delivering necessary housing development and 
protecting the character of these routes where practical. The practicality of improving 
green infrastructure is a consideration of Policy MSG4 of the MSGNP and we note there 
are no objections to the proposed diversions from the Councils new Public Rights of Way 
Officer’. 
 

95. In the context of the allocation of the site for housing development and the proposed 

layout which incorporates the Public Rights of Way, the proposal is acceptable in 
respect of policies H2, MSG4 and MSG15 in this regard. 

 
f)  Surface Water and Flood Risk 

 
96. Policy DC2 sets out guidance relating to Flood Risk and Water Management for new 

development sites in the Borough.  
 

97. The proposed development is situated within Flood Zone 1. The Environment Agency’s 
flood maps highlight several small areas across the site, associated with the water 

course. SuDs areas are identified within the layout.  
 

98. A Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy was initially submitted in support of the 
application which concluded that there is a very low chance of flooding from 

surrounding watercourses, surface water or groundwater. The Local Lead Flood 

Authority has raised no objections to the proposed drainage strategy subject to a pre-

Page 84



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

commencement planning condition to formally agree a detailed design for the 
management of surface water runoff from the proposed development.  
 

99. Northumbrian Water has raised no objections subject to a pre-commencement planning 
condition requiring submission and agreement of a scheme for the disposal of foul 

water from the development.   
 

100. Subject to the above, the proposal complies with Policy DC2 in this regard and MSG1 
in relation to the management of climate change. 

 
g) Ecology 

 

101. Policy ENV7 sets out the overarching principles for the protection of sites and features 

of biodiversity and geodiversity importance. Development will be refused if significant 
adverse effects to biodiversity or geodiversity, either alone or in combination, cannot in 

the first instance be avoided, adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated 
for. Development will be expected to minimise the impact on and provide net gains for 

biodiversity, including establishing coherent and resilient ecological networks. 
 

102. The requirement for biodiversity net gains is reiterated in policy ENV8 of the Local Plan 
which also states that this should be demonstrated by using the Defra Biodiversity 
Metric. The policy sets out the assessment and mitigation process applicants are 

required to follow. The Environment Act outlines a minimum requirement of 10% 
biodiversity net gain, but this will not come into force until next year. Policy MSG5 of 
the neighbourhood plan specifies that proposals are required to demonstrate 10% 
biodiversity net gains. 
 

103. ENV8 includes for proposals over 100 dwellings the provision of a masterplan, 
management and maintenance plan showing how the quality of biodiversity features 
will be maintained in the long term.  

 
104. A range of surveys and assessments of the site were submitted in support of the 

application.  These confirmed the following: 
 
 Site habitats are of local to parish value. 

 No Great Crested Newts are present within waterbodies or the surrounding area on 

Site. 
 No bats were recorded emerging from any of the buildings at the site during the 

survey in 2023. 
 Transect surveys recorded relatively low levels of activity, largely attributable to 

individual foraging bats along the boundaries of the Site. Some bat activity was 
reported in trees of bat roost potential later in the survey. 

 The site is not suitable for red squirrels.  
 There were no reported sightings of reptiles. 

 An updating checking survey in July 2023 did not record any evidence of otter or 

water vole along the watercourse.  

Page 85



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

 The majority of birds recorded during the survey were using the woodland and 

boundary hedgerows. Species using the fields were limited to a grey partridge close 
to the northern boundary. A single species, mallard, was recorded using the ponds 
to the south, which lie outside the Site boundary with regard to Barn Owl, there will 
be a loss of an existing nesting site, albeit the Ash tree accommodating it is subject 
to rot and unlikely to have a long-term future. 

 
105. The updated Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) is considered by the Ecology Officer 

to be sound, and the methods employed meet national guidelines. The previous ecology 

consultee response in 2021 acting on stated that further surveys for bats, barn owls, 

and otters were required, which have all been completed.  
 

106. Within the Key Mitigation of the EcIA is a requirement (prior to commencement) for a 

Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (LEMP) for the site covering a minimum of 30 

years, monitoring of the habitats of particular importance in the net gain calculations 

such as the stream corridor, woodland, native hedgerows, diverse grasslands and SuDS 

will be undertaken in years 2, 5, 10, 17 and 25. This will assess them against the target 

condition used in the BNG, and identify remedial measures where required, with 

monitoring reports and any updates to be submitted to the LPA. 

 
107. The Council’s Ecologist is satisfied that the above can be submitted in replacement of 

the Biodiversity Management and Monitoring Plan (BMMP) which was submitted on the 

22nd of March 2022. The BMMP is outdated due to the most recent submission of the 

BNG Metric. An updated version of this document will be required to be submitted 

which aligns the updated Metric to the BMMP or LEMP. The updated BMMP/LEMP 

should contain the relevant management and monitoring details for a minimum of 30 

years. 
 

108. The EcIA outlines the recommendations for mitigation and compensation strategies. 

Which include the following: 

 

 Existing trees and hedgerows have been retained on site, where possible. Late maturity 

trees identified in the Arboricultural report for removal, particularly the ash trees, 

which have potential to be safely retained in areas of greenspace by pollarding to a 

smaller monolith type form, and which have ecological value, will now be retained.  

 Retained hedgerows will be enhanced and new areas replanted to replace those that 

are lost.  

 A landscape buffer will be maintained along the watercourse, with habitats, including 

SuDS wetlands, within this area to be enhanced to maintain its value as a wildlife 

corridor. Any bridge/culvert crossing with have an over-sized structure to allow 

mammal crossing under the road to either site of the stream.  

 Bat roosting and bird nesting opportunities will be included within the development. 

Page 86



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

 Light spill along the watercourse and hedgerow at the site boundaries will be no greater 

than 2 lux.  

 Vegetation clearance/tree felling and building demolition will be undertaken outside of 

the bird nesting season (March to August inclusive) unless a checking survey by a 

suitably experienced ecologist confirms the absence of active nests. Checks for barn owl 

will be undertaken prior to felling at any time of year.  

 Checking surveys will be undertaken of the potential holt site and roost sites prior to 

the start of works.  

 A tree checking survey for bat roost risk will be undertaken prior to the start of works.  

 Any excavations left open overnight will have a means of escape for mammals that may 

become trapped in the form of a ramp at least 300mm in width and angled no greater 

than 45°.  

 The roots and crowns of retained trees will be protected throughout the development 

through the provision of adequate construction exclusion zones in accordance with the 

guidance given by BS5837:2012.  

 Pollution prevention measures will be put in place to ensure that there are no adverse 

impacts on the watercourse on site or on the reservoirs to the south as a result of 

construction or operation of the site.  

 Retention/creation of green corridors through the site and at the site boundaries to 

maintain commuting links for wildlife through the site.  

 Provision of bat and bird boxes within the retained trees and within 5% of the 

properties of the development.  

 Provision of three barn owl boxes in either retained trees or pole mounted on the 

western edge of the site, or on nearby land by agreement.  

 

109. The Council’s Ecology Officer agrees with the principle of the mitigation proposed and 

has recommended a planning condition requiring compliance with the mitigation, with 

some minor additions, as set out below.   

 

Landscape Planting 
 

110. The Council’s Ecology Officer has reviewed the plant species listed in the Landscape 

Masterplan, and the species listed are acceptable, with the exception of the snowberry 

Symphoricarpos albus var. laevigatus. Snowberry is non-native and is known to become 

invasive within the UK, although not listed on Schedule 9 of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) it is argued that the value for wildlife is not high, as 

the white berries are toxic to many species, and even birds will often ignore them. A 

such, it is recommended to be removed from the planting schedule.  This can be dealt 

with through a planning condition requiring submission and agreement of a landscaping 

scheme (amended).  The applicant is advised to consider native species, or species such 

Page 87



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

as flowering redcurrant Ribes sanguineum, which although is non-native is not known to 

become invasive.  

 

Biodiversity Net Gain 

 

111. The on-site baseline Habitat Units (HaU) onsite have been calculated at 30.71 and 

Hedgerow Units (HeU) are 6.73. Post-intervention the HaU are 33.74 and HeU are 9.81. 

This is a total net % change of HaU 9.87% and HeU 45.88%.  

 

112. In Policy MSG of the Middleton St George Neighbourhood Plan (2022-2036) it states 

that ‘Development should protect and enhance biodiversity. Proposals should 

demonstrate how a minimum of 10% biodiversity net gains will be achieved’. The HeU 

clearly meets the minimum of 10% net gain. The HaU of 9.87% is 0.13% under the 

minimum net gain requirement, however, with the additional mitigation of the 

installation of barn owl boxes, bird nest boxes, swift bricks, house sparrow and starling 

terraces, bat roosting features, hibernacula and refugia for hedgehogs, amphibians, and 

invertebrates, and hedgehog highways, which are not included in the metric, this 

provides sufficient net gain to achieve the minor shortfall within the metric. 

 
113. The Key Mitigation of the EcIA also states that ‘A final BNG calculation will be 

undertaken following detailed landscape design, and the BNG metric and supporting 

report provided to the LPA. This should be checked, and updated if required, based on 

the as-built scheme and again provided to the LPA’. The BNG must be updated if there 

are any further changes to the design of the site which impacts upon the habitats 

removed or habitats delivered.  This can be secured through an appropriately worded 

planning condition.  

 
Protected species. 

Barn Owls 

 

114. Barn owls are a Schedule 1 Protected Species under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

(1981) as amended, which affords them special protection against intentional or 

reckless disturbance whilst nesting. Barn owls are site-faithful, highly sedentary, and 

maintaining continuity of occupation is important for their survival.  

 

115. Barn owl surveys have been undertaken, and a suspected barn owl nest site was 

located within the hollow of a decaying ash tree, with usage being recorded in 2023. 

Due to the ash tree having signs of significant ash die back it is likely that this tree will 

fail long-term resulting in the natural loss of the barn owl nesting location. The buildings 

onsite have the potential to offer roosting opportunities to barn owls and other birds 

such as kestrel and little owl. 

Page 88



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

 
116. The mitigation as set out in the above bullet points is to install three nest boxes to the 

western boundaries of the site which would accommodate breeding and roosting barn 

owls and other species such as tawny owl and kestrel which will utilise larger nest 

boxes. In addition to these, the Ecology Officer has recommended that at least one little 

owl box should be installed on the western boundary on a mature tree.  

 
117. The Ecology Officer has recommended a range of conditions to secure the necessary 

mitigation and to secure the long-term protection of the species.   

 
Breeding Birds 

 

118. Breeding bird surveys have been undertaken onsite in 2016, 2018, and 2023. The 

majority of the breeding birds observed were using the wooded strip along the 

watercourse and the boundary hedgerows. The habitats impacted onsite are largely 

grassland and central hedgerows, as such the wooded strip and boundary hedgerows 

will remain largely intact. The habitats in the wider landscape as similar to those onsite 

and as such, it is expected that birds currently occupying the site for breeding and 

foraging purposes are likely to move out into the wider landscape; with some species 

continuing to breed onsite in the retain habitats and the enhanced and created 

habitats.  

 

119. The Landscape Masterplan shows the locations of 8 bird boxes within the riparian 

corridor. The style of boxes is not discussed within the EcIA or in any submitted 

documents. The Ecology Officer recommends that a higher number of nest boxes are 

installed within the boundary of the site, with nest boxes also installed to the southern 

boundary and a range of features for wildlife within the residential area to be installed 

at the construction stage. These include features for roosting bats, nesting birds (swifts, 

house sparrows, and starlings), and hedgehogs and a planning condition is 

recommended to secure submission and agreement of these details.    

 
Bats 

 

120. Bat surveys have been conducted onsite from 2016 through to 2023. Bat surveys have 

included transects and bat activity surveys on the buildings and the trees onsite. The 

most recent surveys have been undertaken by E3 Ecology in 2021 and 2023. The surveys 

conducted are sound and the methods employed meet national guidelines. The 

compensation strategy outlines that there will be provision of bat boxes within retained 

trees and 5% of the properties. The Ecology Officer has recommended that a higher 

number of bat boxes are installed within the new dwellings, and request that this is 

Page 89



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

increased to 10%, predominantly focused on the properties to the southern and 

western boundaries close to the hedgerows, trees, and riparian corridor.  

 

121. Whilst the Landscape Masterplan shows locations for 8 bird boxes within the riparian 

corridor area and location of barn owl boxes on the western boundary, it does not show 

the location of bat boxes or any other wildlife feature within the redline boundary and 

the Ecology Officer has therefore recommended a condition requiring submission and 

agreement of such details.  

 
Otter 

 

122. As only one physical survey for otter was conducted during 2023 the Ecology Officer 

has liaised with ecologists at E3 Ecology and there is an ongoing static trail  camera 

installed and in use on the watercourse which should assist to establish if otters are 

utilising the stream for commuting. An overview of the survey results from the camera 

will be required to be submitted together with a further pre-commencement survey to 

be conducted prior to any works being undertaken on the site within 30m of the 

watercourse.  

 

Other wildlife 

 

123. The EcIA report acknowledges that hedgehogs are likely to be present on-site. As such, 

mitigation for hedgehogs will be required. Every dwelling should have hedgehog 

highways in bordering fences which allow access for hedgehogs to ensure connectivity 

of habitat for hedgehogs and other smaller wildlife. A series of hibernacula and refugia 

for hedgehogs, amphibians, and invertebrates should be installed to the southern and 

western borders of the site. Where trees are removed, the deadwood created should 

be retained on-site to create the invertebrate/amphibian/hedgehog refugia and 

hibernacula.   A condition has been recommended to secure this.   

 

Culvert 

 

124. A Culvert Crossing Detail drawing has been submitted which details the design of the 

culvert to be installed. The culvert adheres to the Construction Industry Research and 

Information Association (CIRIA) guidance and appears to be suitable for otters to utilise. 

The design of the external aspects of the culvert are to as naturalistic as possible, which 

should encourage otter to move through the culvert rather than cross over it which 

should reduce the risk of crossing the road.  One of the main causes for otter road 

casualties is the need to cross the road because access through the riparian corridor is 

not possible due to barriers. The design allows for a bed depth of 300mm which allows 

the bed to reform. Planting on the banks by the culvert will help to re-establish cover.  

Page 90



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

The recommendations from E3 Ecology, of a detailed Landscape and Ecological 

Management Plan (LEMP) be secured to consider enhancements to the riparian corridor 

could be included within a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) or 

within the Biodiversity Management and Monitoring Plan (BMMP). Subject to inclusion 

of an additional planning condition for a detailed Construction and Environmental 

Management Plan (CEMP) both the Ecology Officer and the Environment Agency have 

raised no objections.   

 

Lighting Plan 

 

125. Due to the risk of increased light spill on retained habitats, which may result in 

disturbance to foraging and commuting habitats used by a range of wildlife. A sensitive 

lighting design plan will be required to be submitted for this project to allow the LPA to 

discharge its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations 2017, the Wildlife & Countryside 

Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). This 

can be secured by a suitably worded condition.   

 

Summary 

 

126. Subject to the above, the Ecology Officer has raised no objections and the proposal 

complies with policies ENV7 and ENV8 of the Local Plan and policy MSG5 of the 

Middleton St George Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

h) Nutrient Neutrality  
 

127. The application site is located within the River Tees Catchment Area and is therefore 

subject to the guidance issued by Natural England on the 16th of March 2022 in respect 
of the unfavourable condition of the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast Special Protection 
Area (SPA), Ramsar Site and associated Sites of Special Scientific Interest.   

 
128. The Natural England Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast Special Protection Area/Ramsar 

Evidence Pack August 2022 (TIN204) confirms that this protected area is currently in an 
unfavourable condition due to nutrient enrichment, which includes pollution from 

nitrates, including Nitrogen. 
 

129. Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017) requires   
Darlington Borough Council (as the Competent Authority) prior to giving permission for 
any plan/project that is likely to have a significant effect on a European site (either 

alone or in combination with other plans/projects) to undertake an appropriate 
assessment of the implications of the plan/project for that site in view of that site’s 

conservation objectives. 
 

Page 91



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

130. Regulation 75 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017) also 
states that it is a condition of any planning permission granted by a general 
development order made on or after 30th November 2017, that development which is 
likely to have a significant effect on a European site or a European offshore marine site 
(either alone or in combination with other plans or projects), and is not directly 
connected with or necessary to the management of the site, must not be begun until 
the developer has received written notification of the approval of the local planning 
authority. 

 
131. During the introduction of Nutrient Neutrality into the River Tees catchment in March 

2022. Natural England’s guidance recommends that, as a starting point, local planning 
authorities should consider using the average national occupancy rate of 2.4 persons 
per dwelling as calculated by the Office for National Statistics (ONS). A standard 

calculator produced by Natural England works off such an assumption. 
 

132. On behalf of the Tees Catchment, Stockton on Tees Borough Council commissioned 
ORS to consider the weight to be placed on that assumption and prepare a local 

evidence-based review of the relationship between population growth and provision of 
new homes within the river Tees catchment to ensure that a suitable robust and 

evidence-based approach can be taken. 
 

133. Based on local evidence, ORS concluded that the resident population living in the Tees 
Catchment increased by 24,800 persons over the intercensal period 2011 to 2021, and 
the housing stock increased by 41,000 dwellings, equivalent to an average gain of 0.60 
persons per dwelling across the area. Allowing for natural population change and a 
reduction of residents living in communal accommodation this increased the average to 
0.71 persons per dwelling.  
 

134. Justification is given by ORS that within the Tees catchment, many of the people 

occupying new homes would have already been residents living within the local area 

and would therefore not have added to the number of people living in the area. Had 
these new homes not been provided, it is unlikely that this would have had any material 

impact on the natural population change – there would still have been broadly the 
same number of births and deaths recorded over the decade.  

 
135. However, despite the internal migration within the Tees catchment, it is also 

acknowledged that there is variation between each authority and therefore an 
individual figure will be adopted by each of the various Tees Catchment Authorities.   

 
136. In determining the figure to be used to assess population growth arising from new 

dwellings with Darlington Borough, the Local Planning Authority has been mindful of 
the requirement of the Habitat Regulations and the need to employ a precautionary 

approach to ensure that the methodology taken is both reasonable and would prevent 
an impact on the SPA.  

 

Page 92



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

137. Although it is noted that within the 2011-2021 baseline period each new dwelling 
within Darlington yielded an average of 0.64 persons per dwelling, applying a sensitivity 
test of +10% would increase that growth to a figure of 0.77 (figures 7 and 8 of the ORS 
report) which is less precautionary than the adopted Local Plan’s gain over the Plan 
period of 0.98 persons per dwelling.  
 

138. The research shows that for the Borough if we used the baseline period of 2011-2021 
it would show an increase of 0.64, whilst the highest 5-year average would show an 
increase of 1.1 per dwelling. Due to the recent accelerated growth, which was partly 
down to a period of constraint, suggests the highest 5-year average is not a resilient 
figure and a more appropriate approach would be to use the recently adopted annual 
housing requirement as indicated in the Local Plan which indicates a gain of 0.98 
persons per dwelling.  

 
139. Consequently, rather than simply apply a 10% buffer to the average population 

growth, Darlington Borough Council have in line with the Habitat Regulations opted to 
follow a precautionary approach (which will be subject to future reviews) and have 

resolved to use the figure of 0.98 persons per dwelling derived from the ‘adopted 
annual housing requirement’ in the Darlington Borough Local Plan with a 10% buffer 

applied.  
 

140. It is considered that such as approach gives a robust evidenced based approach and 
that a local population growth figure of 1.1 persons per dwelling for Darlington is more 
appropriate than Natural England’s ‘starting point’ of 2.4 persons per new dwelling.   
 

141. The Screening Assessment requires the Local Planning Authority as the Competent 
Authority to consider and conclude whether the potential for likely significant effects to 
the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA/Ramsar designated features can be excluded 
for this planning application. If they cannot, the LPA must make an Appropriate 

Assessment (AA) of the implications of the development for that site, in consideration 

of the affected sites conservation objectives.  
 

142. The submitted nutrient budget calculator (29th September 2023) demonstrates that 
the proposals will increase the nitrogen arising from the development and consequently 
it cannot be ruled out at the screening stage that this development will not have a likely 
significant effect on the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA/Ramsar. An appropriate 
assessment needs to be undertaken. Mitigation measures cannot be considered at the 
Screening Stage but should be considered as part of an Appropriate Assess ment. 

 

143. The applicant has used Natural England’s Nutrient Budget Calculator tool for the river 

Tees catchment to establish a nutrient budget for the proposal. Following 
consideration, the assumptions and inputs used by the applicant within this updated 

calculator are considered to be satisfactory and are an accurate reflection of the site 
and its location. This proposal for 260 dwellings would increase the total annual 
nitrogen load arising by 353.73 kgs per year. 

 

Page 93



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

144. This figure was arrived at by incorporating increased water efficiency measures to 
reduce the water usage per person per day to 110 litres rather than 120 litres that 
Natural England advise should be used in the Nutrient Budget calculator. A condition 
must be applied to any permission granted ensuring that the water efficiency measures 
including the appropriate fittings are installed within each dwelling prior to their 
occupation to ensure the daily water usage per person per day does not exceed 110 
litres.  
 

145. As a nitrogen surplus would arise, the applicant has accepted that mitigation would be 
necessary to avoid likely significant effects. Informed by the Nutrient Budget Calculator 
Tool the applicant proposes to mitigate this nitrogen surplus by purchasing 353.73 
credits from the Natural England Tees Catchment credit scheme which is equivalent to 
the surplus nitrogen of 353.73 kgs that needs to be mitigated. The applicant has 

provided a countersigned provisional credit certificate obtained from Natural England 
which is sufficient evidence for this form of mitigation to be considered robust and 

achievable and appropriately located within the Tees catchment. A pre-occupation 
condition will be required to ensure that the required and necessary mitigation is 

secured and in place. This should set out that prior to the occupation of the proposed 
dwellings the final signed credit certificate needs to be provided to the Local Planning 

Authority demonstrating that the credits have been purchased and the necessary 
mitigation secured and in place. The Competent Authority considers this a form of 

mitigation in keeping with Natural England guidance.  
 

146. An Appropriate Assessment has found that the proposed mitigation measures would 
adequately mitigate the effects of the proposal and ensure the proposed development 
will not result in an increase in nitrogen reaching the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast 
SPA. Therefore, it can be concluded that the proposal will not adversely affect the 
integrity of the Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA and meets the relevant Habitat 
Regulations, subject to the application of the required conditions set out above.  

Natural England has been consulted and has raised no objections subject to the 

mitigation being secured.   
 

j) Developer Contributions 
 

147. Where a relevant determination is made which results in planning permission being 
granted for development, a planning obligation may only constitute a reason for 

granting planning permission for the development if the obligation is: 
 

 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms. 

 Directly related to the development; and 

 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.   
 

148. The agreed Heads of Terms proposes the following: 
 

 Education contribution of £362,628 (one third to be paid prior to the occupation of 

25%, 50% and 75% of the dwellings). 

Page 94



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

 £10,000 towards research and interpretation of the former Stockton and Darlington 

Railway to be paid prior to the occupation of the first dwelling. 
 Sustainable Transport Contribution to be used towards the development of the S&DR 

walking and cycling route and/or other alternative uses as appropriate to walking and 
cycling improvements (amount and trigger to be agreed). 

 Public Transport contribution to be used to improve bus service number 12 (amount 
and trigger to be agreed). 

 A financial contribution of £459,885.25 towards offsite mitigation measures as 
identified in the adopted local plan Infrastructure delivery plan (IDP). This will be used 

along with other developer contributions to fund schemes needed to ensure the safe 
and efficient operation of the strategic road network on the section of the A66 between 

Morton Palms and Little Burdon including the junctions themselves.   
(triggers to be agreed). 

 Travel plan contribution made up of £2,850 travel plan monitoring fee; £300 per 

household personalised travel advice fee; and £200 per household travel plan 
implementation bond (the implementation bond would be repayable on successful 
completion of the travel plan for its full term) in accordance with the Council’s Travel 
Plan Guidance document. 

 A Landscape Management Clause would be included in the agreement. 
 

149. The developer has agreed that 20% affordable housing will be provided on-site and 
that this will be dealt with by way of a planning condition. 

 
150. The above were considered with reference to the Planning Obligations SPD and in 

close liaison with internal consultees.  Overall, it is considered that these proposals 
meet the tests set out above, are necessary, directly related to the development, and 

fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.   
 

k) other matters 
 

151. The site is located in a gypsum (deep) safeguarding area protected by policy MWC4 of 
the Tees Valley Minerals & Waste DPD Core Strategy (2011). The policy sets out the 

circumstances when non-mineral development will be permitted in these mineral 
safeguarding areas. Much of the southwestern part of the borough is covered by this 

designation. This proposal is considered to comply with part c of the policy, which states 
that, the need for the non-mineral development can be demonstrated to outweigh the 

need for the mineral resource. The site is an allocation for housing in the Local Plan and 
forms part of the Council’s housing land supply and therefore required to contribute 

towards the achievement of the Council’s housing requirement. Extraction prior to 
development would also potentially result in the site being unsuitable for residential 

development which it is allocated for and there is a significant safeguarded area for 
gypsum remaining in the Borough.  

 
152. Policy IN8 of the Local Plan requires this proposal to ensure that broadband 

connectivity and ducts are provided for the development.  Policy IN8 of the Local Plan 
requires this proposal to ensure that broadband connectivity and ducts are provided for 

Page 95



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

the development. The applicant has confirmed that each of the dwellings across the site 
will have Openreach and Grain Fibre installed and will therefore be able to facilitate 
broadband access.  A suitably worded condition is recommended to secure submission 
and agreement of details to secure implementation of this.   

 
153. Parts b and c of Policy DC1 of the Local Plan also require proposals to demonstrate 

that the layout, orientation and design of buildings helps to reduce the need for energy 
consumption, how they have been made energy efficient and how measures have been 
implemented to reduce carbon emissions from the development. Policy MSG3 also sets 
out that developments which embed a commitment to sustainable design and 
construction will be supported.  
 

154. The information submitted to support the application confirms proposed dwellings will 
be designed to comply with the latest building regulations. Some house types have 
been updated from previous iterations of the layout to ensure full compliance with Part 
L. All dwellings will meet the requirements of the new Approved Document Part O: 
Overheating and achieves these reductions via passive design. Internally, the 
accommodation has been laid out to maximise the internal space and light afforded. 
Each of the principal living rooms will have sufficient glazing to allow natural lig ht to 
penetrate the rooms, reducing the need for artificial lighting.  All house types are part L 
compliant within this layout. Story Homes have undertaken analysis of the revised 

house types against building regulations with semi-detached properties achieving circa 
1.3% reduction in carbon emissions over Part L 2021, detached properties achieve a 

2.34% reduction. Refuse and recycling storage is incorporated into plot designs with bin 
collection areas used for waste collection. 

 
155. Policy IN4 sets out a requirement that every new residential property which has a 

garage or dedicated marked out residential car parking space within its curtilage should 
include an electrical socket suitable for charging electric vehicles. The minimum 
requirement would be a single phase 13-amp socket. Each of the properties would be 
fitted with a E. ON Drive EVC04 EV charging points, with full handover packs provided 
including user manuals to all new residents.  Compliance with this commitment should 
be secured by planning condition.   

 
156. Policy DC5 of the Local Plan seeks development proposals such as this which generate 

a significant number of construction phase jobs to secure appropriate commitments 

and targets for employment skills and training, including apprenticeships.  
 

157. In respect of the above the developer has indicated that within the Story Homes Office 
there will be a range of employment opportunities which will be made available to local 
people. New job opportunities and skills development courses will be offered to local 
people, with successful candidates selected regardless of background, creed, or class. 

Once employed, members of staff have the opportunity to access training (internally 
and externally) to enhance and broaden their skillset.  

 
158. Management training is available. Story Homes is committed to the training of young 

people within the construction industry and its related sectors. Training and 

Page 96



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

apprenticeships are going to be a key focus for us moving forward so that the business 
can develop people to grow with the business. Through their apprenticeship, 
apprentices gain the technical knowledge and will be required to spend 20% of their 
working hours off-the job training with the use of an approved training provider. As a 
company Story’s have mentoring policies and procedures and a dedicated Learning and 
Development Team who will drive forward the training and apprenticeship 
opportunities, providing specific support allowing them to develop their skills.  
 

159. The proposed development will provide real opportunities for local employment with 
equal opportunities provided for all members of the local community and prioritisation 
of youth skill development for local people. Story Homes has several potential and 
existing development sites within the Borough and has confirmed it will be looking to 
work closely with local colleges, other Higher Education Providers and Construction 

Industry Training Providers to support training and apprenticeships in the region. This 
will extend to working with our sub-contractors to stimulate training and apprentice 

opportunities during the lifetime of the project. The proposed development will 
therefore benefit the local economy and community with the employment and training 

opportunities to be offered on site. 
 

160. Policy DC3 sets out a requirement for schemes of 150 dwellings or more, the 
submission of a Health Impact Assessment as part of the application to explain how 
health considerations have informed the design. Assessments should be proportionate 
to the scale of development proposed and undertaken in line with current government 

guidance. A Health Impact Assessment has been submitted in accordance with Policy 
DC3 of the Local Plan which concludes that the proposals have largely been assessed as 

delivering positive health impacts by virtue of the design, layout and composition of the 

development.  
 

SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 
 

161. The contents of this report have been considered in the context of the requirements 
placed on the Council by Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, namely the 

duty on the Council to exercise its functions with due regard to the likely effect of the 
exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent 

crime and disorder in its area.  It is not considered that the contents of this report have 
any such effect.  

 
CONCLUSION 

 
162. In summary, the principle of development of this site is acceptable given that it has 

been identified as a housing allocation in Local Plan policy H2. The proposed 
development complies with the relevant policies in the development plan and has an 

acceptable impact on heritage assets.  Subject to the proposed conditions the 
development would be acceptable in respect of highway safety, ecology, flood risk and 
drainage and residential and visual amenity.   

 

Page 97



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE BE AUTHORISED TO NEGOTIATE AN AGREEMENT UNDER SECTION 106 
OF THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 WITHIN SIX MONTHS TO SECURE 
PLANNING OBLIGATIONS THAT ARE APPROPRIATE FOR THE DEVELOPMENT COVERING: 
 

i) STRATEGIC NETWORK IMPROVEMENTS. 
ii) EDUCATION CONTRIBUTION 
iii) PUBLIC TRANSPORT CONTRIBUTION 
iv) SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT CONTRIBUTION 
v) TRAVEL PLAN CONTRIBUTION 
vi) FORMER STOCKTON AND DARLINGTON RAILWAY CONTRIBUTION. 
vii) LANDSCAPE MANAGEMENT CLAUSE 

 
THAT UPON SATISFACTORY COMPLETION AND SIGNING OF THAT AGREEMENT, PLANNING 

PERMISSION BE GRANTED SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 

SHOULD THE 106 AGREEMENT NOT BE COMPLETED WITHIN THIS PRESCRIBED PERIOD 
WITHOUT WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE COUNCILTO EXTEND THIS TIME, THE MINDED TO 

APPROVE STATUS OF THE PERMISSION SHALL BE CONSIDERED TO BE A REFUSAL ON THE 
GROUNDS THAT THE APPLICATION HAS FAILED TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE MITIGATION 

MEASURES TO PROVIDE A SATISFACTORY FORM OF DEVELOPMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
REQUIREMENTS OF DARLINGTON LOCAL PLAN 2016-2036, WITHOUT ANY FURTHER REFERENCE 
TO THE PLANNING COMMITTEE. 
 

1. A3 Implementation limit (3 years) 
 
2. PL Accordance with plan 
 

- Site Location Plan PLN1 Rev C 

- Layout Plan/General Arrangement 30020 PLN GA Rev L 
- Branford A20.1 M42 PD 

- Butler A20.1 PD 
- Cranford A20.1 M42 PD 

- Dawson A20.3 PD – updated December 
- Ferguson A20.1 PD 

- Fraser A20 PD 
- Harrison – A20.1 PD 

- Hartford M42 A20.1 PD 
- Langford M4 2 A20.1 PD 

- Milford M4 2 A20.1 PD 
- Newford A20.1 PD 

- Sanderson A20.1 PD 
- Stanford NDSS M4 2 A20 PD 

- Sutton A20.1 PD 

- Wilson A20.1 PD  

Page 98



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

- PLN 3 Basic EFBT Rev D 
- PLN 5 Noise Mitigation Plan Rev D 
- PLN 8 Indicative Adoption and Management Plan Rev E 
- PLN 9 Affordable Unit Plan Rev E 
- PLN10 PROW diversion plan rev E 
- PLN11 Key Pedestrian Route plan Rev D 
- Landscape Strategy Masterplan – P21- 0714.001 L 
- LVIA – P21- 0714.002 C 
- Proposed Materials Palette PLN SCH2 – Rev A – September 2023 
- Culvert Crossing QD2079 FW 04 18 Rev B 
- Surface Water Management Plan SH SWM Rev B 
- Engineering Layout QD2079 -03-01 - A 
- External Works Sheet 1 QD2079 -04-01-B 

- External Works Sheet 2 QD2079 -04-01-A 
- External Works Sheet 3 QD2079 -04-01-A 

- External Works Sheet 4 QD2079 -04-01 
- FRA DS 20075 Station Road MSG V1 

- QD FRA Addendum – October 23 
- QD Drainage Calcs SW 08 09 23 

- QD Drainage Calcs FQ 08 06 23 
- Road Sections Sheet 1 QD2079 – 05 -01 

- Road Sections Sheet 2 QD2079 – 05 -02 
- Impermeable Areas QD2079 – 03 -02 
- Manhole Schedules QD2079 – 03 -03 
- Engineering Layout QD2079 – 03 -01 B 

 
3. The development hereby permitted shall be built in accordance with the approved 

plans listed at Condition 2 unless a further planning application specific to one or 
more of the severable areas is submitted and approved by the Council in 

substitution for that part of the approved development. If such an application is 

approved, the remaining severable areas may still be developed as approved in this 
planning permission, it being intended that this Planning permission should permit 

each severable area separately and severably from the others. 
 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt 
 

4. B4 External Materials 
 

5. A landscaping scheme shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority prior to any works commencing  (excluding demolition and site 

access work) and, upon approval of such schemes, it shall be fully implemented 
concurrently with the carrying out of the development, or within such extended 

period as may be agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, and thereafter 
any trees or shrubs removed, dying, severely damaged or becoming seriously 

diseased shall be replaced, and the landscaping scheme maintained for a period of 

five years to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.  

Page 99



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

 

REASON - To ensure a satisfactory appearance of the site and in the interests of the 
visual amenities of the area. 

 
6. E3 Landscaping (Implementation) 

 
7. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the 

recommendations and tree protection measures set out in the submitted 
‘Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Arboricultural Method Statement and PLN7 
Tree Protection Plan Rev E (Brindle & Green, October 2023) unless otherwise agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
The agreed scheme of protection shall be in place before the commencement of any 
work, including demolition operations.  Notwithstanding the approved specification, 
none of the following activities shall take place within the segregated protection 
zones in the areas of the trees. 

 
a) The raising or lowering of levels in relation to existing ground levels. 
b) Cutting of roots, digging of trenches or removal of soil. 
c) Erection of temporary buildings, roads, or carrying out of any engineering 

operations. 
d) Lighting of fires. 
e) Driving of vehicles or storage of materials and equipment. 

 
REASON – To ensure a maximum level of protection to safeguard the wellbeing of 

the trees on the site and in the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 
 

8. The development hereby approved shall comprise a minimum of 45% of all new 
dwellings meeting building regulations category M4(2) adaptable and accessible 

dwelling standards and a minimum of 9% meeting M4 (3 a or b) wheelchair user 
dwellings standard as detailed in the submitted plans. 

 
REASON – To ensure the development complies with policy H4 of the Darlington 
Local Plan 2016 – 2036 

 
9. The boundary treatment for each dwelling as specified on the submitted drawings 

(30020.PLN.EFBT Rev D), shall be in place prior to the occupation of the dwellings 
hereby approved. 

 
REASON – In the interests of visual and residential amenity. 

 
10. The development shall not begin (excluding demolition and site access works) until a 

scheme for the provision of affordable    housing as part of the development has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 

affordable housing shall be provided in accordance with the approved scheme and 
shall meet the definition of affordable housing in Annex 2 of the National Planning 

Page 100



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

Policy Framework or any future guidance that replaces it. The scheme shall include: 
 

a) the numbers, type, tenure and location on the site of the affordable housing provision 
to be made, which shall consist of not less than 20% of housing units. 
b) The timing of the construction of the affordable housing and its phasing in relation to 
the occupancy of the market housing. 
c) The arrangements for the transfer of the affordable housing to an affordable housing 
provider [or the management of the affordable housing] (if no RSL involved). 
d) The arrangements to ensure that such provision is affordable for both first and 
subsequent occupiers of the affordable housing; and 
e) The occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of occupiers of the 
affordable housing and the means by which such occupancy criteria shall be enforced. 

  

            REASON – To comply with Council Housing Policy 
 

11. No development (excluding demolition and site access works) shall commence until 
details of the finished floor levels of the dwellings and gardens hereby approved in 

relation to existing ground levels shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.   Thereafter the development shall be undertaken in 

accordance with the details as approved.  
 

REASON – In the interests of visual and residential amenity. 
 

12. Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling nearby approved the applicant will: 
 
Submit the details of and then, once subsequently agreed with the LPA install, a suitable 
ventilation strategy for the houses shown to require it on the Storey Homes Northeast 
Drawing No. 30020.PLN.NOI Revision D submitted with the application.  
The ventilation strategy must (as a minimum) allow the building to be ventilated in 

accordance with the appropriate building regulations without the need to open a 

window. Future residents should however retain the ability to open a window to 
provide purge ventilation if they choose to do so. The proposed ventilation strategy 

must, when providing whole dwelling ventilation, not exceed noise levels of: 
o 26dB LAeq, nT in bedrooms, and  

o 30 dB LAeq, nT in living rooms.  
when measured according to BS EN ISO 16032 

 
And when providing extract ventilation, sound from any type of mechanical ventilation 

system shall not exceed:  
o 26 dB LAeq, nT in bedrooms, and 

o 35 dB LAeq, nT in living rooms, and 
o 45 dB LAeq, nT in kitchens, sanitary accommodation and bathrooms 

when measured according to BS EN ISO 16032. 
 

The approved strategy must be thereafter retained and maintained for the 

lifetime of the development. 

Page 101



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

 
  REASON – In the interests of residential amenity. 
 

13. Prior to the first occupation of plots 1 and 256 on Drawing No. 30020.PLN.NOI 
REVISION D submitted with the application, the applicant will install the required 
noise mitigation measures around garden areas in plots 1, and 256 as shown to be 
required in the njd noise assessment dated August 2023 reference NJD21-0037-
001R/R3 submitted with the development.  

 
REASON – In the interests of residential amenity. 

 

14. Prior to the commencement of the development, a site-specific Construction 

Management Plan (CMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The plan shall include the following, unless the Local Planning 

Authority dispenses with any requirement[s] specifically and in writing: 

 

a) The dust emissions mitigations measures set out in Table 6 of the njd Air Quality 

Assessment shall be implemented as part of the CMP.  

b) Methods for controlling noise and vibration during the demolition and construction 

phase and shall take account of the guidance contained within BS5228 “Code of 

Practice for noise and vibration control on construction and open sites”. 

c) Construction Traffic Routes, including parking areas for staff and visitors. 

d) Details of site where the site compound and construction staff welfare facilities will 

be situated, loading and delivery areas, any temporary site lighting, and the 

proposed build route through the development.  

e) Details of wheel washing for site vehicles. 

f) Road Maintenance. 

g) Warning signage. 

h) Contact details for the responsible person (site manager/office) who can be contacted 

in the event of any issue. 

 
The development shall not be carried out otherwise in complete accordance with 

the approved Plan. 
 

       REASON – In the interests of residential amenity and highway safety. 
 

15. No construction or demolition activities, including the use of plant and machinery, 

as well as deliveries to and from the site, shall take place outside the hours of 08.00-

18.00 Monday to Friday, 08.00-14.00 Saturday with no activities on Sunday or 

Bank/Public Holidays without the prior written permission of the Local Planning 

Authority. 

 

REASON – In the interests of amenity. 

Page 102



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

 
16. Prior to the first occupation of the development, a Final Nutrient Credit 

Certificate, signed by Natural England and the applicant, shall be submitted 

to the Local Planning Authority.  

 

REASON - To ensure the development is nutrient neutral in accordance with        

the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

 
17. The proposed water efficiency measures including the appropriate fittings shall be 

installed within each dwelling prior to their occupation to ensure the daily water 
usage per person per day does not exceed 110 litres and shall be maintained as such 
thereafter. 

 
REASON - To ensure the development is nutrient neutral in accordance with 

the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

 
18. Prior to the commencement of the development or at a time agreed in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority a Phase 3 Remediation and Verification Strategy shall 
be prepared by a "suitably competent person(s)" to address all human health and 
environmental risks associated with contamination identified in the Phase 2 Site 
Investigation and Risk Assessment. The Remediation and Verification Strategy which 
shall include an options appraisal and ensure that the site is suitable for its new use 
and no unacceptable risks remain, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with 
the Local Planning Authority, unless the Local Planning Authority dispenses with the 
requirement specifically and in writing.  

 
REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is 
within 250 metres of a site which has been landfilled. To ensure that risks from land 
contamination to the future uses of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 
together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out without unacceptable risks to 

receptors, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

19. Any contamination not considered in the Phase 3 Remediation and Verification 
Strategy but identified during subsequent construction/remediation works shall be 
reported in writing within a reasonable timescale to the Local Planning Authority.   
The contamination shall be subject to further risk assessment and remediation 
proposals agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority and the development 
completed in accordance with any further agreed amended specification of works. 

 
REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is 

within 250 metres of a site which has been landfilled. To ensure that risks from land 
contamination to the future uses of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 

together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 

Page 103



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

ensure that the development can be carried out without unacceptable risks to 
receptors, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
20. The Phase 3 Remediation and Verification works shall be conducted, supervised and 

documented by a "suitably competent person(s)" and in accordance with the agreed 
Phase 3 Remediation and Verification Strategy. No alterations to the agreed 
Remediation and Verification Strategy or associated works shall be carried out 
without the prior written agreement of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
A Phase 4 Verification and Completion Report shall be compiled and reported by a 
"suitably competent person(s)", documenting the purpose, objectives, investigation 
and risk assessment findings, remediation methodologies, validation results and 
post remediation monitoring carried out to demonstrate the completeness and 

effectiveness of all agreed remediation works conducted. The Phase 4 Verification 
and Completion Report and shall be submitted and agreed in writing with the Local 

Planning Authority within 2-months of completion of the development or at a time 
agreed unless the Local Planning Authority dispenses with the requirement 

specifically and in writing.   
 

The development site or agreed phase of development site, shall not be occupied 
until all of the approved investigation, risk assessment, remediation and verification 

requirements relevant to the site (or part thereof) have been completed, reported 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
REASON - The site may be contaminated as a result of past or current uses and/or is 
within 250 metres of a site which has been landfilled. To ensure that risks from land 
contamination to the future uses of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 
together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out without unacceptable risks to 

receptors, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
21. The development hereby approved shall not be commenced (excluding demolition 

and site clearance), until a scheme for ‘the implementation, maintenance and 
management of a Sustainable Surface Water Drainage Scheme has first been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 
shall be implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with 

the approved details, the scheme shall include but not be restricted to providing the 
following details:  Detailed design of the surface water management system;  A 

build program and timetable for the provision of the critical surface water drainage 
infrastructure;  Details of adoption responsibilities.  

 
REASON - To ensure the site is developed in a manner that will not increase the risk 

of surface water flooding to site or surrounding area, in accordance with the Local 
Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Page 104



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

22. The development permitted by this planning permission shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) & Drainage Strategy 
dated 26th March 2022/Addendum FRA dated 2nd of October 2023 and the 
following mitigation measures detailed within the FRA.  

 
Discharge to Watercourse restricted to 49.87 l/s 4060m3of storage provided.  

 
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation and 
subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied 
within the scheme, or within any period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, 
by the local planning authority.  

 
REASON - To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of / disposal of 

surface water from the site and to reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed 
development and future occupants.  

 

23. The buildings hereby approved shall not be brought into use until: -  
 
I. Requisite elements of the approved surface water management scheme for the 

development, or any phase of the development are in place and fully 
operational to serve said building.  

II.  A Management and maintenance plan of the approved Surface Water Drainage 
scheme has been submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority, this should include the funding arrangements and cover the lifetime 
of the development.  

 
REASON - To reduce flood risk and ensure satisfactory long-term maintenance are in 

place for the lifetime of the development. 
 
24. Development shall not commence (excluding demolition and site clearance) until a 

detailed scheme for the disposal of foul water from the development hereby 
approved has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority in consultation with Northumbrian Water and the Lead Local Flood 

Authority.  Thereafter the development shall take place in accordance with the 
approved details. 

 

REASON: To prevent the increased risk of flooding from any sources in accordance 
with the NPPF. 

 

25. Prior to the commencement of the development (excluding demolition and site 
clearance) precise details of offsite highway works must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details shall include the 

proposed ‘Ghost Island’ Junction access in accordance with DMRB CD123 along with 
details of footways which link to the surrounding cycling/pedestrian infrastructure. 

The agreed works must be completed prior to occupation of the first dwelling. 
 

REASON - In the interests of highway safety. 

Page 105



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

 

26. Prior to the commencement of the development (excluding demolition and site 
clearance) precise details of traffic calming features within the development 

required as part of the implementation of a 20mph speed limit, must be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
REASON - In the interests of highway safety.  

 

27. Prior to the commencement of the development precise details of each phase of the 

development (phasing plan) must be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Details shall include vehicle and pedestrian connectivity to 
surrounding infrastructure, with turning facilities sufficient to accommodate an 
11.2m refuse vehicle.  

 
REASON - In the interests of highway safety.  

 

28. Prior to commencement of works on site, a Road Safety Audit shall be carried out 
for all of the works within the public highways and the scope of the Audit shall be 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be 
carried out unless in complete accordance with the approved Audit.  

 
REASON - In the interests of highway safety 

 
29. Prior to the occupation of the development, a plan to show details of pedestrian / 

cyclist crossing points within the development, shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The crossing points shall be constructed 
in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of the development 
and shall remain in place thereafter. 

 
REASON – In the interests of higway safety. 

 
30. No dwelling must be occupied until the related parking facilities have been 

constructed in accordance with the details approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority.  Once created these areas must be maintained clear of any obstruction 
and always retained for their intended purpose. 

 
REASON - To provide for adequate and satisfactory provision of off-street 

accommodation for vehicles in the interest of safety and the general amenity of the 
development. 

 
31. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance 

with the submitted Travel Plan (Proposed Residential Development Station Road, 
Middleton St George Travel Plan Report No. 784-B048157/ 2, Tetra Tech, September 

2023) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Page 106



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

REASON - To encourage the reduction of journeys made to and from the 
development by private motor vehicles by the promotion of more sustainable forms 
of transport. 

 
32. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of secure 

cycle parking shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The cycle parking shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed 
details prior to the occupation of the dwellings and shall be retained as such 
thereafter. 

 
REASON – To encourage the use of sustainable modes of transport to and from the 
development. 

 

33. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved or each phase of 
the development, details of the type and location of an electrical socket suitable for 

charging electric vehicles for each property with a dedicated garage or parking 
space, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  

Thereafter the development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved 
details prior to the occupation of the dwellings and maintained as such thereafter.   

 
REASON - To accord with Policy IN4 of the Local Plan. 

 
34. Prior to the first occupation of any building hereby permitted, a Statement shall 

have been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority detailing the 
measures necessary for providing broadband connectivity including ducts to each 
premises within the development hereby approved, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority.  The approved infrastructure shall be laid out 
in accordance with the agreed details at the same time as other services during the 
construction process and be available for use on the first occupation of each 

building unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 

 
REASON- To ensure that the development is provided with high quality broadband 

services enhancing its attractiveness, in accordance with Policy IN8 of the Local Plan 
 

35. Prior to the commencement of the development an updated 30-year Biodiversity 
and Ecological Management Plan (BMMP) or a Landscape and Ecology Management 

Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Thereafter the development shall be carried out and operated in full 

accordance with the measures contained within the final approved Plan, including 
provision for future monitoring, reporting and any necessary amendment of 

management measures, or such other alternative measures which may 
subsequently be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for the lifetime 

of the development hereby approved.  
 

REASON: To ensure that any impacts on biodiversity and ecology are mitigated and 

that appropriate enhancement works, and biodiversity net gain are secured. 

Page 107



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

 
36. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance 

with the recommendations set out within the Ecological Impact Assessment (Station 
Road Middleton St George, E3 Ecology, September 2023) (except in respect of the 
number of barn own and bat and bird boxes which should exceed the numbers 
proposed with details to be submitted as part of an overall wildlife features plan 
(condition 40)) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
REASON: To ensure that any impacts on biodiversity and ecology are mitigated and 
that appropriate enhancement works, and biodiversity net gain are secured. 

 
37. On submission of the final landscape design required by condition 6, a final BNG 

calculation will be undertaken and the BNG metric and supporting report provided to 

the LPA for approval.   

 

REASON: To ensure that any impacts on biodiversity and ecology are mitigated and 

that appropriate enhancement works, and biodiversity net gain are secured. 
 

38. Development works to which the consent applies must not take place; between 1st 

March and 31st August or at any time while barn owls are nesting and until temporary 

alternative provision has been made in accordance with details that shall have first 

been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. If 

development occurs during barn owl nesting season, then a check of potential nesting 

sites must be conducted prior to any works being undertaken. 

REASON - To ensure that any impacts on biodiversity and ecology are mitigated and 
that appropriate enhancement works, and biodiversity net gain are secured. 

 

39. No building and construction work shall take place within 30 metres of any part of the 

site containing material evidence of barn owl occupation unless survey-based 

evidence has been provided to the Local Planning Authority that no birds are nesting 

(at the development site to which the consent applies) within 3 days of work 

commencing. 

 

REASON – To ensure that nesting barn owls are not disturbed by development works  

and to enable the Local Authority to fulfil its obligation under Section 25 (1) of the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act (1981). 
 

40. Prior to the commencement of development, a Plan outlining the wildlife features  (to 

include bat, bird and barn owl boxes as well as hedgehog highways and a series of 

hibernacula and refugia for hedgehogs, amphibians, and invertebrates to the 

southern and western borders of the site) shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the LPA.  The Plan should be reviewed by an appropriately experienced 

Page 108



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

ecologist prior to submission. The agreed Plan shall show the number, specification 

of the wildlife features and where they will be located, together with a commitment 

to being installed under the instruction of an appropriately qualified ecological 

consultant. All approved features shall be installed prior to first occupation of the 

dwelling on which they are located and retained thereafter. The agreed Plan shall 

show the number, specification of the wildlife features and where they will be 

located, together with a commitment to being installed under the instruction of an 

appropriately qualified ecological consultant. All approved features shall be installed 

prior to first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved.  

 

REASON - To ensure that any impacts on biodiversity and ecology are mitigated and 

that appropriate enhancement works, and biodiversity net gain are secured. 
 

41. Within 3 months of completion of all of the relevant dwellings a report from an 

appropriately qualified ecologist confirming that all wildlife features have been 

installed as per previously agreed specifications and locations together with 

photographic evidence shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. In 

the interim, photographic evidence will be provided to the Council ecologist for 

dwelling specific wildlife features prior to the occupation of each dwelling for 

information purposes unless otherwise agreed in writing with the LPA. 

 

REASON - To ensure that any impacts on biodiversity and ecology are mitigated and 
that appropriate enhancement works, and biodiversity net gain are secured.  

 

42. Prior to the commencement of the development otter survey results from installed 

cameras shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for review.   A pre-

commencement survey should be conducted prior to any works being undertaken on 

the site within 30m of the watercourse and a report sent to the Local Planning 

Authority for approval.   

 

REASON - To ensure that any impacts on biodiversity and ecology are mitigated and 

that appropriate enhancement works, and biodiversity net gain are secured. 
 
43. A sensitive lighting design plan shall be submitted prior to the commnencement of 

the development (excluding demolition and site access work) or within such extended 

time as may be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall 

identify those features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely 

to cause disturbance along important routes used for foraging; and show how and 

where external lighting will be installed (through the provision of appropriate 

technical specifications) so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will 

not disturb or prevent bats using their territory. Dark corridors should be mapped out 

and included within the lighting plan. All external lighting shall be installed in 

Page 109



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

accordance with the specifications and locations set out in the scheme and 

maintained thereafter in accordance with the scheme. Under no circumstances 

should any other external lighting be installed without prior consent from the local 

planning authority.  

 

REASON – To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations 

2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 

(Priority habitats & species). 

 
44. No development shall take place until a Construction and Environmental 

Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to the local planning authority and 

the Environment Agency for review and approval. The CEMP should include: 
 

 • A detailed biosecurity plan which includes a biosecurity protocol to prevent the 
introduction of crayfish plague, signal crayfish, and other invasive non-native species to 

the site. 
 • Pollution prevention measures to address the risk of siltation to the watercourse 
during construction of the site, including the construction of the culvert. 
 • A species protection plan for white-clawed crayfish (WCC), consisting of a pre-works 
check methodology, toolbox talks for contractors prior to any/all works around the 
watercourse, and a procedure to follow in the event WCC are encountered during the 
works. This should be developed by a licenced WCC ecologist and informed by a survey. 
. • A scheme for the long-term management of the landscape buffer around the 
watercourse within the development site. Once agreed, the CEMP should always be 
available on site so that it can be referred to by contractors.  
 

REASON - No CEMP has been submitted to support this application. This raises 
risks of mitigation measures going unimplemented during construction of the 
development and therefore of an offence being committed under the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act (1981, as amended) 

 

INFORMATIVES 
 

The Developer is required to submit detailed drawings of the proposed off-site highway 
works to be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and enter into a Section 

278/38 agreement before commencement of the works on site. Contact must be made 
with the Assistant Director: Highways, Design and Projects (contact Mr Steve Pryke 

01325 406663) to discuss this matter.  
 

An appropriate street lighting scheme and design to cover the new internal highways 
and where appropriate proposed amendments to the existing arrangements (Section 

278) should be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Contact must be made with the Assistant Director: Highways, Design and Projects 

(contact Mr. M. Clarkson 01325 406652) to discuss this matter.  
 

Page 110



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

Prior to the commencement of the development the applicant is advised that contact 
be made with the Assistant Director: Highways, Design and Projects (contact Mrs. P. 
McGuckin 01325 406651) to discuss naming and numbering of the development.  
 
The applicant is advised that the implementation of a new 20mph speed limit on the 
internal site will be required and contact must be made with the Assistant Director: 
Highways, Design and Projects (contact Mr Chris Easby 01325 406707) to discuss this 
matter. Bus stop amendments. 
 
The applicant is advised that further discussions will need to take place in relation to the 
proposal to relocate the bus stops within the vicinity of the site, contact must be made 
with the Assistant Director: Highways, Design and Projects (contact Mr Chris Easby 
01325 406707) to discuss this matter.  

 
Section 59 The Developer is required to enter into an agreement under Section 59 of 

The Highways Act 1980 prior to commencement of the works on site. Where Darlington 
Borough Council, acting as the Highway Authority, wish to safeguard The Public 

Highway from damage caused by any Construction Traffic serving your development. 
Contact must be made with the Assistant Director: Highways, Design and Projects 

(contact Mr Steve Pryke 01325 406663) to discuss this matter Regards, Arthur Arthur 
Howson Engineer - Highway Development Control. 

 
The developer will need to provide a detailed program including timetable for the 
construction of the main surface water drainage infrastructure.  

 The build programme/Gannt chart should include the following activities and 
sequence they should be undertaken: 

  Outfall connection  
 Control device  

 Provision of 30-year storage  

 Provision of 100 year plus climate change storage 

  Commencement of landscaping It is the duration and order of each activity rather 
than the commencement date that is required by the LLFA.  

 
Land drainage consents will be required from the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) for 

the two outfalls into Neasham Stell and culverting works required to access the 
Northwest parcel of the development. A land drainage consent is separate application 

that could take up to 8 weeks for completion and no works on the watercourse can 
proceed until consent has been approved by the LLFA – NOTE – Application has been 

received by LLFA and is being duly processed.  
 

FRA makes reference to Sewers for Adoption; this legislation has been replaced by 
“Design and Construction Guidance for foul and surface water sewers offered for 

adoption under the Code for adoption agreements for water and sewerage companies 
operating wholly or mainly in England (“the Code”)” (DCG). Version 2.1 25 May 2021.  
 

Page 111



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

Drawing QD2079-03-01 within the FRA Addendum requires amendment to “Pond B” 
Water Level calculation (100 YEAR +40%) It is recommended that the applicant contacts 
the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) at an early stage to discuss surface water 
management requirements and their proposed surface water drainage solution for any 
new development. 
 
Public Rights of Way 
The applicant is advised to make contact with the PROW officer to provide the amended 
plan as part fo the 257 processes.   
 
Construction run-off treatment scheme – advice to applicant  
We advise that a Construction Surface Water Management Plan should be produced. 
The plan should include, but not limited to, the following: 

 • Treatment and removal of suspended solids from surface water run-off during 
construction works; • Approach to ensure no sewage pollution or misconnections.  

• Approach to ensure water mains are not damaged during construction works.  
• Management of fuel and chemical spills during construction and operation, including 

the process in place to ensure the environment is not detrimentally impacted in the 
event of a spill. 

 • Consideration of the impact on the WFD status of the receiving waterbody. 
Mitigation measures should be in place to ensure no deterioration of receiving 

waterbodies. 
 

Water Quality Permit Requirements - advice to applicant  
You do not require a permit if you are only discharging uncontaminated s urface runoff. 

If you intend to discharge to surface water for dewatering purposes, this may be 
covered by a Regulatory Position Statement (RPS) for water discharge activities. If you 

can comply with all of the conditions within the RPS, then a permit is not required for 
this activity. Please find the RPS conditions here. If any discharges do not fully comply 
with the RPS, then a bespoke discharge permit will be required. Please find guidance on 
applying for a bespoke water discharge permit here, the linked page also provides 
contact information should you need assistance. 

 

SuDS - advice to applicant  
We are glad to see that the applicant plans to include Sustainable Urban Drainage 
Schemes in their application. Below is further information about SuDS.  

 
Surface water run-off should be controlled as near to its source as possible through a 

sustainable drainage approach to surface water management (SuDS). SuDS manage 
surface water run-off by simulating natural drainage systems. Whereas traditional 

drainage approaches pipe water off-site as quickly as possible, SuDS retain water on or 
near to the site. As well as reducing flood risk, this promotes groundwater recharge, 

helps absorb diffuse pollutants, and improves water quality. Ponds, reedbeds and 
seasonally flooded grasslands can also be particularly attractive features within public 

open spaces.  
 

Page 112



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

SuDS involve a range of techniques including soakaways, infiltration trenches, 
permeable pavements, grassed swales, green roofs, ponds and wetlands. As such, 
virtually any development should be able to include a scheme based around these 
principles. In doing so, they’ll provide multiple benefits and will reduce costs and 
maintenance needs. 
 
Approved Document Part H of the Building Regulations 2010 establishes a hierarchy for 
surface water disposal and encourages a SuDS approach. The first option for surface 
water disposal should be the use of SuDS, which encourage infiltration such as 
soakaways or infiltration trenches. In all cases, it should be established that these 
options are feasible, can be adopted and properly maintained and would not lead to 
any other environmental problems. For example, using soakaways or other infiltration 
methods on contaminated land carries groundwater pollution risks and may not work in 

areas with a high-water table. Where the intention is to dispose to soakaway, these 
should be shown to work through an appropriate assessment carried out under Building 

Research Establishment (BRE) Digest 365.  
 

Further information on SuDS can be found in:  
• the CIRIA C697 document SuDS manual • HR Wallingford SR 666 Use of SuDS in high 

density developments  
• CIRIA C635 Designing for exceedance in urban drainage – good practice  

• the Interim Code of Practice for Sustainable Drainage Systems – the Interim Code of 
Practice provides advice on design, adoption and maintenance issues and a full 
overview of other technical guidance on SuDS 
 
Water Resources - advice to applicant  
If you intend to abstract more than 20 cubic metres of water per day from a surface 
water source e.g., a stream or from underground strata (via borehole or well) for any 
particular purpose then you will need an abstraction licence from the Environment 

Agency. There is no guarantee that a licence will be granted as this is dependent on 

available water resources and existing protected rights.  
 

Dewatering is the removal/abstraction of water (predominantly, but not confined to, 
groundwater) in order to locally lower water levels near the excavation. This can allow 

operations to take place, such as mining, quarrying, building, engineering works or 
other operations, whether underground or on the surface.  

 
The dewatering activities on-site could have an impact upon local wells, water supplies 

and/or nearby watercourses and environmental interests.  
 

This activity was previously exempt from requiring an abstraction licence. Since 1 
January 2018, most cases of new planned dewatering operations above 20 cubic metres 

a day will require a water abstraction licence from us prior to the commencement of 
dewatering activities at the site.  

 

Protected Species – advice to applicant. 

Page 113



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

Please be aware that it is the developer’s responsibility to ensure that nesting barn owls 
and their dependent young are not disturbed during development works. If 
development occurs during barn owl nesting season, then a check of potential nesting 
sites must be conducted prior to any works being undertaken. 
 
The applicant is advised that an immediately pre-development barn owl survey is 

necessary to avoid an offence being committed under the relevant legislation. 

If barn owls are nesting onsite, it is the developer’s responsibility to ensure that barn owls 

are not disturbed during development works. On-site protection measures may be 

necessary, including the establishment of on-site exclusion zones with the use of fencing 

and signage. 

The barn owl nesting boxes shall be provided for barn owls within 200 metres of the 

development site. This provision must be kept free from disturbance and remain in place, 

in accordance with details that shall have first been submitted to, and approved in writing 

by, the Local Planning Authority.  

 

 
 
 

Page 114



1

4
2 SQUARE

T H E

1

48.2m

P

6

1

5

Harts Bu

2

5
0

1
0

H
AW
K
ER
G
R
O
VE

5
1

1

3

1
6

5
1

47.2m

Tem
p
le
B
u
ild
in
g
s5

1
2

4
a

2

1 4

1
7

1 5

5
2

1

Middleton St George
Cricket Ground

1

Social Club
Middleton St G

5

Bowling

Green

2
6

1
2

3
0

1
5

2
5

W
H
IT
W
O
R
TH
D
R
IV
E

4
1

2

S P

3
7

2
7

4
3

1

3
9

HE
AT
HF
IEL
D

3
1

2
2

4
9

PA
R
K

5
9

1
5

1
1

5 7

1
4

PA
G
E
D
R
IV
E

9
0
8 8

7

5

1 1

7
8

7
4 2

6 4

6 2 home)
(Elderly

Persons
Pleasan

tMount6 8

5 8

MOUNT
PLEASANT

CL

5
6

Glen

3

Houses

ReservoirWater

2Sports Facility

1
048.8m

STATION
ROAD

Community Centre

7

Memorial Homes
The HAW Cocks

1

150 .0m

Pavilion

T h e

1
5

GOOSEPOOL WAY

3 7
3 5

2
3 1AVRO CLOSE

2

1 0

2

1
4
1
2

24

1

2
7

M
A
R
TI
N
S
Y
D
E

6
16S

A
D
B
E
R
G
E
R
O
A
D

8
1
11
51 5

1 1

7

1

1
9

2

1
850.0m

1

Chapel

7

W
ater View

1
2

49.4m1

58

5
6

5
4

1 8Palm Tree Villas

6
45

1
a 4

8
4
61

7
24

4

1
0 6

6

7
4

7
1

STATIO
N
TERRA

CE

48.5m

6
9

1
1

3
8

6
3L B

T C
B

HAXBY ROAD

2

1

1
5

Station House

The Old

H
a
rp
ers

Te
rra
ce

7

El S
ub S

ta

1 6

4

9

1
6

1

Allotment
Gardens

7

Play
Area

6

2

HEATHFIELD

1

MP 0.5

1
1

El Sub Sta

1
4

PARK

1
2

9

THE GREENWAY

2
0 SaxonvilleWe

stf
iel
ds

3 42 62 5
2 1

El Sub Sta

1

4
to
5

C t

1
to
339

34 Temple

GRENDON GA
RDENS

9

2
91 4

5

BURNHOPE
LANE

7

1 2

1 2

1
9

1
6

El Sub Sta 2 4

37

27

15

HIGH STELL

8
4

2 4

1 2

1

48.8m
4 43 4

5 4

33

27

Balancing
Pond

Path (um)

D
ra
in

Pp
g S
ta

4 6

P
ath

(u
m
)

25

3 0

3 4

15

11

2 4

2 8

V
IC
K
E
R
S
C
LO
S
E

1
1 Allotment Gardens1
5

6

2
3

2
8

4
0

5 5

S
T
G
E
O
R
G
E
'S
G
A
T
E

2
1 9

2
4

1
5D e f 1
1

363 3

3 7

4 1

Tunnel

A 67

50.6m

D
e
f

R H

Joans Palm

Cottage

Plantation D e
f

R
O
M

D
e f

C
H
E
LT
E
N
H
A
M
C
O
U
R
T

9
to
1
2

1
4
to
1
9

1
to
8 3

4

7
7

43.9m

20
to
31

Ppg Sta
48.2m Sewage

7
2Palm Bridge

2

7
4

VillasC C S

4

Orient

1
21 3 2

3 3

1

6
63

26 3

1
8

62

Pond

P
a
th
( u
m
)

PondPond
Pond

Fishing Lake

Path (um)

Pa
th
(um

)

D e f

1
1

1
3

1
5

48.5m

Palm Tree Villas

R H

1

2
0 47.8m

5

El Sub Sta

S
TA
T
IO
N
R
O
A
DShelter

1
0

1 0 a

1 0 c
Maxgate

48.2m
1 1

48.5m

T
ra
c
k

Pond

49

45

Planning Ref No: 21/00529/FUL

DARLINGTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

© Crown copyright  All Rights Reserved  Licence Number 100023728  2023

SCALE 1:5000
.

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

DARLINGTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 
COMMITTEE DATE:  10 January 2024   

 

 

APPLICATION REF. NO: 23/01097/TF 
  

STATUTORY DECISION DATE: 27th December 2023 
  

WARD/PARISH:  SADBERGE AND MIDDLETON ST. GEORGE 
  

LOCATION:   3 Oak Tree Close, Middleton St. George 
 

DESCRIPTION:  Work to 1 no. Oak Tree protected under Tree 
Preservation Order (no.2) 1997 (T.2) - Containment 
pruning; up to 30% reduction in crown size. 

  
APPLICANT: Mr. Michael Richards 

 

RECOMMENDATION: REFUSE PERMISSION (see details below). 

 

 
Application documents including application forms, submitted plans, supporting technical 
information, consultations responses and representations received, and other background 
papers are available on the Darlington Borough Council website via the followin g link: 
https://publicaccess.darlington.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=S3G43IFP0C200 
 

APPLICATION AND SITE DESCRIPTION 
1. The 1 no.  Oak Tree the subject of this application is located to the front of the property of the 

application site at 3 Oak Tree Close, Middleton St George.  The tree is protected by virtue of Tree 
Preservation Order 97/00002/TPO.  The Order covers 2 no. trees, a Silver Birch tree (T1) to the 

front garden of 1 Oak Tree Close, and this Oak tree (T2) to the front garden of 3 Oak Tree Close.  
 

2. The application proposes containment pruning of up to a 30% reduction in the crown of the 
Oak tree.  The reasons given for the work is to prevent excessive shading and potential 

subsidence to the property.  The application has been accompanied by an extract from previous 
arboricultural report dated November 1997 together with photographs of the tree, and a 

previous permission for pruning works to the tree dated October 2004.   
 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:  
 

3. The most relevant history is as follows:  
 

Page 117

Agenda Item 5(b)

https://publicaccess.darlington.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=S3G43IFP0C200
https://publicaccess.darlington.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=S3G43IFP0C200


 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

Planning 

Applications; 

Case: 04/01086/TF- Proposal: Pruning of an oak tree included within Tree 

Preservation Order (No 2) Order 1997- Dated: 04OCT-04- Status: GRANTED  

Planning 

Applications 

Case: 04/00558/TF- Proposal: Pruning of an oak tree included within Tree 

Preservation (2) Order 1997- Dated: 05-AUG-04- Status: REFUSE 

Planning 
Applications 

Case: 98/00302/TF- Proposal: Works to tree (T2() within the Borough of 
Darlington Tree Preservation (No.2) Order- Dated:  

09-OCT-98- Status: GRANTED 

Planning 

Applications 

Case: 21/00318/TF- Proposal: Works to 1 no. Oak tree(T1) protected under 

Tree Preservation Order (No.2) 1997 (T2) crown reduction up to 30% and 
removal of deadwood- Dated:  
13-MAY-21- Status: REFUSE 

 

MAIN PLANNING ISSUES:  
 

4. The main planning issues relevant to this application are:- 
 

a. Effect on protected tree(s). 
b. Amenity values of the tree(s). 

c. Impact on the local environment. 
 

PLANNING POLICIES: 

 
5. The application must also be considered in the context of Part VIII of the Town & Country 

Planning Act and The Town & Country Planning (Tree Preservation)(England) Regulation 2012, 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) and Tree Preservation Orders:  A Guide to 

the Law and Good Practice and the National Planning Practice Guidance; and Planning Practice 
Guidance (PPG). 

 
RESULTS OF TECHNICAL CONSULTATION:  

 
6. The Council’s Senior Arboricultural Officer has commented on the application and 

recommends that the application be refused as there is no structural reason to wound the tree.   
 

RESULTS OF PUBLICITY AND NOTIFICATION: 
 

7. Occupiers of neighbouring properties were advised of the proposal by way of letter and a site 
notice has been displayed.  
 
8. Three letters of representation have been received in support of the application and the main 
points of which are: - 
 

 All trees are important and with professional intervention the tree will last for many years;  
 It is a lovely tree that needs some weight removing to ensure it continues to remain strong 

and healthy; 

 The tree is aesthetically pleasing but it is too large for the location and a safety risk 

Page 118



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

 
9. One letter of objection was received in response to the original proposal raising the following 
concerns:- 
 

 The tree has good proportions and 30% reduction in crown will make it look unnatural. 

 
10. Middleton St. George Parish Council have been consulted and agreed to make no comment 
on this planning application. 
 
PLANNING ISSUES  
 
11. The main issues for consideration are the effect of the proposed pruning of the tree on the 
character and appearance of the area, and whether sufficient justification has been 
demonstrated for the proposed pruning. 
 
12. The Council’s Senior Arboricultural Officer has conducted a visual inspection of the tree and 
has concluded that:  
 

a. At the time of the inspection the mature Oak Tree appeared to be in a good condition 
and form. 

b. The tree makes a good contribution to public amenity. 

c. Proposed works are not justified. 

 
a. Impact upon the amenity of the area. 

 
13. The application tree has a preservation order placed upon it in accordance with The Town 

and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) Regulation 2012. 
 

14. Paragraph 174 of the NPPF states that decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 
local environment by recognising the wider benefits that trees and woodland provide. Whilst 
Part 15 ‘Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment’ sets out that the Planning System 
should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and 
enhancing valued landscapes, geological conservation interests, recognising the wider benefits 
of ecosystems, minimising the impacts on biodiversity. 
 
15. The Oak Tree is subject to a Tree Preservation Order and is considered to be in a good 
condition with a high amenity value. The oak tree is located within the front garden and is 
situated to the north/east of the main dwelling adjacent to the paved driveway.  It occupies a 
prominent position in the streetscene.  The work as proposed by the applicant has been assessed 
by the Councils Senior Arboricultural Officer. 
 
16. The application tree is a large and mature Oak Tree that is clearly visible to the public from 
within Oak Tree Close. The application tree is one of the most prominent trees within the street 
scene, where its stature and presence adds to the verdant nature of the area. Overall , the 
presence of the application tree makes a significant contribution to the character and 

appearance to this part of the locality. 

Page 119



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

 
17. The proposed crown reduction will alter the natural appearance of the tree, and 
consequently its positive effect on the visual amenity and landscape. Furthermore, such a 
reduction would potentially create large diameter wounds that are in turn likely to be harmful 
to the health of the tree.   
 
18. As such, it is considered that a crown reduction to the 1 no. Oak Tree would be excessive and 
of detriment to the appearance of the tree. Therefore the proposed works are considered to be 
contrary to Part VIII of the Town & Country Planning Act and The Town & Country Planning (Tree 
Preservation)(England) Regulation 2012; the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  (2021) 
and Tree Preservation Orders and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). 
 
b. Whether the application is justified.  

 
19. The Local Planning Authority is required to consider the public benefit of proposed works to 

protected tree(s). With this in mind then the issue to be considered is to whether the reasons 
given by the applicant are sufficient to justify the proposed works. 

 
20. The applicant is concerned that the tree could potentially cause subsidence issues on site. 

The application is accompanied by an extract from a 1997 arboricultural report, which was 
prepared to accompany a subsidence investigation at the time, however no more up to date 

information such as a more recent arboricultural report or structural engineer’s report has been 
provided to substantiate any claims in regard to potential subsidence issues.   This information 
cannot therefore be given any weight in the consideration of this application given the age of the 
document.  The current application must therefore be considered on its merits.   
 
21. The Council’s Senior Arboricultural Officer has advised that the tree appeared to be in a good 
condition and form at the time of the inspection, and there is no evidence to suggest that the 
tree is diseased, nor are there any concerns that the tree might break or fail.  In the absence of 

any up-to-date information regarding subsidence claims or structural damage, the fear of the 

tree causing subsidence related issues is therefore unsubstantiated. 
 

22. It is also claimed that the tree causes excessive shading to the property.   The tree is located 
to the front of the property, with a gravelled parking area, approximately 8.7 metres from the 

property itself which faces north.  Given the position of the tree relative to the front of the house 
this will result in some shading of the front garden/parking area and to the windows to the front 

of the house.   It is not however considered that the proximity of the tree relative to the front of 
the property causes shading to such an extent so as to adversely impact upon the living 

conditions of the property, that would justify the extent of pruning works proposed.   
 

23. With any application to prune protected trees, a balancing exercise needs to be undertaken. 
The essential need for the works applied for must be weighed against the resultant harm to the 

amenity of the area. In this case, the proposed reduction of the tree would result in significant 
harm to the character and appearance of both the tree itself and the surrounding area.  In the 

absence of sufficient justification, the proposed pruning works are considered contrary to Part 

VIII of the Town & Country Planning Act and The Town & Country Planning (Tree 

Page 120



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL. 

Preservation)(England) Regulation 2012, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
and Tree Preservation Orders and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG).   
 
PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY: 
 
24. In considering this application the Local Planning Authority has complied with Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010 which places a statutory duty on public authorities in the exercise of 
their functions to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance equality 
of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons 
who do not share it.  There is no overt reason why the proposed development would prejudice 
anyone with the protected characteristics as described above. 
 
SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998: 

 
25. The contents of this report have been considered in the context of the requirements placed 

on the Council by Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, namely the duty on the Council 
to exercise its functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, 

and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area.  It is not 
considered that the contents of this report have any such effect.  

 
CONCLUSION: 

 
26. The proposed works to the 1 no.  Oak Tree has not been adequately justified in this 
application, and it is considered that the proposed works would adversely harm the form and 
health of the tree. The proposed crown reduction would result in a reduction in the amenity 
value of the tree and to the surrounding area.  The proposed work would be contrary to Part VIII 
of the Town & Country Planning Act and The Town & Country Planning (Tree 
Preservation)(England) Regulation 2012; the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
and Tree Preservation Orders and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

27. That consent be refused for the following reason: 
 

1. The Oak tree (T2) protected under Tree Preservation Order (No. 2) 1997 is in good form 
and condition and is a highly valuable tree in the street scene, contributing to the visual 

amenities of the area, and as such remains worthy of protection by a Tree Preservation 
Order. Without sufficient justification, the proposed crown lift of up to 30% would result 

in a loss of natural form to a protected tree in acceptable condition with no safety 
concerns.  The proposed development would therefore have a detrimental impact upon 

the amenity value of the tree itself and that of the surrounding  area, contrary to Part VIII 
of the Town & Country Planning Act and The Town & Country Planning (Tree 

Preservation)(England) Regulation 2012; the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
(2021) and Tree Preservation Orders and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). 

 

 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Sub Sta

ASHD
ALE C

LOSE

TRE
E

E l

5

4
1

CLO
SE

1

3
5

1

3

Tree
H)

1
9
2
1

2
0

OA
K

2
2

4
7

2
3

TR
EE
CL
OS
E

6
1

2
4

43

OA
K

T
H
E

C
R
E
S
C
E
N
T

Planning Ref No: 23/01097/TF

DARLINGTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

© Crown copyright  All Rights Reserved  Licence Number 100023728  2023

SCALE 1:750
.

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

DARLINGTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 

COMMITTEE DATE: 10 JANUARY 2024 
 

 
APPLICATION REF. NO: 23/00804/FUL     

  
STATUTORY DECISION DATE: 13th November 2023 (Extension of Time until 10th 

January 2024)  
  

WARD/PARISH:  Sadberge And Middleton St George  
  

LOCATION:   4 Wellington Drive, Middleton St George, Darlington   
  

DESCRIPTION:  Erection of an entrance porch to front elevation and 
conversion of loft into habitable space with an 
increase in ridge roof height, pitched dormer 
extension to rear and installation of roof lights   

  

APPLICANT: Mr C Driver    

 
 

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS   
 

 
Application documents including application forms, submitted plans, supporting technical 

information, consultations responses and representations received, and other background 
papers are available on the Darlington Borough Council website via the following link: 

https://publicaccess.darlington.gov.uk/online-applications/ 

 
APPLICATION AND SITE DESCRIPTION 

1. This application site relates to a detached two storey dwelling located at 4 Wellington 
Drive, Middleton St George.  Adjacent to the south is 2 Wellington Drive, to the north is 6 

Wellington Drive and to the east (rear) of the application site, is 8 Wellington Drive. The 
plot of 8 Wellington Drive is positioned sideways to the host dwelling.  

 
2. Planning permission is sought for the erection of a front porch and an increase in ridge 

height with a rear dormer extension to facilitate the loft conversion. There would also be 
the installation of roof lights, one to each of the front and rear facing roof slopes.  

 
3. Since the original submission, the proposals have been revised to reduce the proportions . 

The increase in ridge height is now proposed at approximately 0.6 metres as opposed to 
an increase of approximately 1.3 metres. Consequently, the dormer window is reduced in 

size, due to the ridge height not to be raised as high as originally proposed. The scheme 
now shows this dormer window having a fixed and obscurely glazed window. Furthermore, 

Page 125

Agenda Item 5(c)

https://publicaccess.darlington.gov.uk/online-applications/


 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

the porch has been reduced in projection from 3 metres to 2 metres, when measured on 
the northern side elevation.  

 
4. Neighbours were reconsulted on these revisions. However, the elevations have recently 

been revised to correct the porch length on the northern side, which still showed the 
original projection length. No further consultation was carried out for this minor 
correction.  

 
MAIN PLANNING ISSUES  
5. The main planning issues are whether the proposed works are acceptable in terms of their 

impact on:    
(a)  Character 
(b)  Amenity  

(c) Highway Safety 
 

PLANNING POLICIES 
6. The application has been considered in line with the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) and relevant policies of the Darlington Local Plan, which seek to ensure that new 
development: 

 Reflects the local environment and creates an individual sense of place with 

distinctive character (Policy DC1). 
 Has a detailed design which responds positively to the local context, through scale, 

form, height, layout, materials, colouring, fenestration and architectural detailing 
(Policy DC1). 

 Provides suitable and safe vehicular access and suitable servicing and parking 
arrangements in accordance with Policy IN4 (Policy DC1). 

 Will provide safe and secure vehicle parking and servicing. The number of spaces 
required will depend on the nature of the proposal as well as the local circumstances 

and standards set out within the Tees Valley Highway Design Guide (Policy IN4).   
 Is sited, designed and laid out to protect the amenity of existing users of neighbouring 

land and buildings and the amenity of the intended users of the new development 
(Policy DC4). 

 Will be suitably located and acceptable in terms of privacy and overlooking, access to 

sunlight and daylight as well as any visual dominance and overbearing effects (Policy 

DC4). 
 Adheres to the separation distances within the guidance set out in the Design of New 

Development SPD (Policy DC4). 
 

7. The application has also been considered alongside the Darlington Design of New 
Development SPD. 

 
8. It should be noted that the application site does not fall within the limits of the Middleton 

St. George Neighbourhood plan.  
 

RESULTS OF TECHNICAL CONSULTATION  

Page 126



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

9. No objections have been raised by the Council’s Highway Development Control section. 
Such comments considered there to be sufficient in curtilage car parking. These comments  
also considered the original porch to be acceptable in terms of visibility from neighbouring 
driveways.  

 
10. The Parish Council agreed to make no comment on this application.  
 
RESULTS OF PUBLICITY AND NOTIFICATION 
11. A total of four letters of objection and one general representation comment have been 

received with the main concerns summarised below: 
 

 Overlooking / privacy impacts 
o Due to the height of the rear dormer window, it would impact upon the privacy 

of the rear garden and dwelling of 8 Wellington Drive. It would allow direct 
overlooking.  

o The installation of the Juliet Balcony (erected under permitted development) 
has already worsened the impact upon privacy for 8 Wellington Drive.  

o To rectify the impact on privacy, the dormer could be positioned to the front.  

 Devaluation of property prices.  

 The development would result in loss of sunlight/ daylight.  

 The porch would restrict visibility for vehicle access onto and off the driveway at 6 

Wellington Drive.  

 
12. A further comment was received to the amended proposals which raise the following 

additional issues: 
 The dormer has not been positioned to the front to address privacy issues at 8 

Wellington Drive.  
 The type of glazing of the rear Velux roof light is not stipulated.  

 Can a condition be attached to ensure the fixed obscure glazing of the dormer remains 

in perpetuity and is not replaced in the future with clear glass.  
 
PLANNING ISSUES/ANALYSIS 

(a)   Character 
13. The revised scheme is considered to be acceptable to the character of the host dwelling 

and wider street scene area. Although there would be an increase in ridge height, this is 
considered to be a modest increase. As such, this is not considered to significantly disrupt 

the building line as to significantly harm the visual amenities of this area. The submitted 
details also indicate that the materials would be of a similar appearance to the host 

dwelling.  
 

14. The proposed dormer window is considered to achieve limited views from the main street 
level. Nevertheless, the overall design, materials and proportions are considered to be 

acceptable to the character of the dwelling. Consequently, this element of the works is 
not considered to adversely impact upon the character of this area.  

 

Page 127



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

15. With regards to the proposed porch, the revised proportions are considered suitable to 
the dwelling. Although this element would be visible within the street scene, the porch 
has been pulled back from the highway which is considered to assist in creating a  
subservient design. In addition, the housing styles are varied within the street scene. 
Therefore, on balance, the introduction of this front porch is not considered to 
significantly harm the character of the host dwelling and street scene.  

 
16. Local Plan Policy DC1 states that new development is to be designed to respond positively 

to the local context and reflect the local environment. Therefore, given the above 
assessment, the proposed works are not considered to harm the character of the building 
or wider area and is thereby in accordance with this local policy. 

 
(b)  Amenity 

17. The proposed increase in ridge height has been reduced and at a 60cm increase in height, 
this is not considered to create a significant adverse overshadowing or overbearing 

impact. This is also taking into account the siting of the host dwelling in relation to the 
orientation and siting of neighbouring properties.  

 
18. With regards to the rear dormer window, it should be noted that if the ridge height of the 

host dwelling was not being increased, that a rear dormer window could be erected to the 
parameters of permitted development rights. However, permission is required for this 

dormer window due to this increase in ridge height and it will therefore be assessed 
accordingly.  
 

19. The dormer window would not achieve the recommended separation distances as set out 
within the Darlington Design of New Development SPD, of 21 metres. The distance from 
the proposed rear dormer window to the rear garden of 8 Wellington Drive is 
approximately 8.3 metres and approximately 15.3m when taking this measurement to the 
rear elevation of 8 Wellington Drive. These distances would result in an increase of 

overlooking into this neighbouring property. Whilst a dormer could be erected under 

permitted development, it is considered that this elevated position of the dormer window 
under this application would create an impact that should be mitigated for in this instance.  

 
20. As such, the scheme has been revised to ensure the dormer window is obscurely glazed, 

and non-opening, which fits the design requirements of the applicant. This has therefore 
been conditioned to remain in perpetuity to ensure direct overlooking from this window 

does not occur. On this basis, the proposal is not considered to adversely impact upon 
privacy for the adjacent dwellings.  

 
21. With regards to the comment about the reason for the position of the dormer window, 

the main considerations relate to the impacts on character, amenity and highway safety. 
Therefore, the reason as to why the applicant has positioned the dormer to the rear 

instead of the front cannot be given any significant weight. 
 

22. With regards to the roof lights, due to their nature and design, it is considered that oblique 

views would be achieved. As such, the proposed front roof light is not considered to 

Page 128



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

worsen existing views that are already achieved at the frontage of this property, especially 
as it is to be used for a walk-in wardrobe which is not considered to be a main habitable 
space. With regards to the rear roof light, this would serve an en-suite bathroom (also 
considered to be a non-habitable room), but due to the separation distances noted above, 
it is considered reasonable that this is obscurely glazed only. This would allow ventilation 
for the bathroom by having an opening window and as already noted, it is considered that 
oblique views would be achieved due to the nature of roof lights. As such, it is considered 
reasonable in this instance to just request that this window is obscurely glazed.  

 
23. The positioning of the proposed porch along with the siting of neighbouring properties, is 

not considered to adversely impact upon amenity or privacy.  
 

24. A comment has been made about the devaluation of property prices, but this is not a 

material planning consideration. This concern has therefore not been considered as part 
of the determination of the application. 

 
(c)   Highway Safety  

25. Visibility concerns were expressed on the original projection length of the front porch 
which measured an overall projection of 3 metres. Whilst Highway Development Control 

raised no objection, commenting that visibility would remain, the proposed front porch 
has been reduced to 2 metres in overall projection. Therefore, it is not considered that the 

front porch would adversely affect visibility to the detriment of highway and pedestrian 
safety.  

 
26. Additionally, no highway safety objections have been received with regards to the 

remaining works of this application. It has been commented that there is sufficient in 
curtilage car parking for the development. The scheme is therefore considered acceptable 
with regards to highway safety. 

 

THE PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY 

27. In considering this application the Local Planning Authority has complied with Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010 which places a statutory duty on public authorities in the exercise 

of their functions to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance 
equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 

and persons who do not share it. There is no overt reason why the proposed development 
would prejudice anyone with the protected characteristics as described above. 

 
SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998  

28. The contents of this report have been considered in the context of the requirements  
placed on the Council by Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, namely the duty 

on the Council to exercise its functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise 
of those functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and 

disorder in its area. It is not considered that the contents of this report have any such 
effect. 

 

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION 

Page 129



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

29. It is recommended that the application be approved with conditions for the reasons 
specified above. 

 
THAT PLANNING PERMISSION BE GRANTED SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS 
 

1. Time Limit 
The development hereby permitted shall be commenced not later than the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: To accord with the provisions of Section 91(1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act, 1990 (as amended). 

 
2. Approved Plans 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans as detailed below: 

 
Plan Reference Number  Date 

L023030 – 001   14 August 2023 
L023030 – 101   14 August 2023 

L023030 – 003     14 August 2023 
L023030 – 004 REV B  15 November 2023 

L023030 – 005 REV B  19 December 2023 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the planning 
permission. 

 
3. Materials 

The materials used in the construction of the external walls and roof of the 
development hereby approved, shall match those within the existing main dwelling.

                                                  

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure a satisfactory form of 
development. 

 
4. Obscurely Glazed and Non-Opening Window 

The hereby approved rear dormer window demonstrated on drawing L023030 – 005 
REV B (dated 19th December 2023) to be located to the east / rear of the host 

dwelling, shall have obscure glazing to a minimum level 4 and shall be non-opening. 
The obscurely glazed and non-opening windows shall be installed prior to the 

occupation of the loft conversion and shall be retained for the lifetime of the 
development.  

  
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the neighbouring properties. 

 
5. Obscurely Glazed Roof Light 

The hereby approved rear / eastern Velux roof light as demonstrated on drawing 

L023030 – 005 REV B (dated 19th December 2023) of the development, shall be 

Page 130



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

obscurely glazed to a minimum level 4. The obscurely glazed window shall be 
installed prior to the occupation of the loft conversion and shall be retained for the 
lifetime of the development.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the neighbouring properties. 

 

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



2

7

1
0

34

Pond

22

Balancing

WE
LLI
NG
TO
N 30

1
9

Garage

E S S

1
5

1
1

3
1

1

Planning Ref No: 23/00804/FUL

DARLINGTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

© Crown copyright  All Rights Reserved  Licence Number 100023728  2023

SCALE 1:750
.

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

DARLINGTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
APPEAL AGAINST REFUSAL FOR PLANNING PERMISSION  

 

 
APPLICATION REF. NO: 

 

23/00311/FUL 

APPEAL REF. NO: Appeal Ref: APP/N1350/D/23/3328781 

  
LOCATION:   2 Fox Close Hurworth Place Darlington DL2 2HG 

  
DESCRIPTION:  Erection of a 1.83m high timber fence to side and 

rear boundary (as amended by plan received 
13/06/2023) 

  
APPLICANT: Mr Geoff Wood 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

ASSISTANT PLANNING OFFICER:  PATRICIA BASTON 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

 
BRIEF SUMMARY: 

 
1. The main issues are the effect of the proposed development on the character and 

appearance of the area and the impact of the proposed development on highway 
safety. 

 
KEY POINTS TO NOTE: 

 
2. Appeal site is a semi-detached, extended bungalow on a corner plot situated at the 

entrance to a cul-de-sac on a 1960’s open plan residential estate, where properties 
are generally free of boundary treatments to delineate ownership.  In the vicinity of 

the appeal site, there are a mix of bungalows and 2 storey dwellings, which have 
been constructed in a mixed palette of materials. 

 
REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL: 

 
3. The proposed fence, by reason of its prominent siting, form, height and length, 

would have a significantly harmful impact on, and would be detrimental to, the 
existing visual amenities and the open character of the area.  Furthermore, the 
proposed fence does not allow for sufficient safe intervisibility between the parking 
area and the public highway and would therefore be prejudicial to highway safety.  
The proposal is therefore contrary to Policies DC1 and IN4 of the Darlington Local 

Plan (2016-2036). 
 

APPEAL ALLOWED: 
 

4. The 1.83m high fencing would be comparable with other fencing which encloses 
corner plots within the housing estate and is considered to be in keeping with the 

Page 135

Agenda Item 8



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

residential character reflecting fencing which has been erected within the immediate 

locality, with regard to materials, alignment and height and therefore accords with 
Policy DC1 of the Darlington Local Plan (2016-2036). 

 
5. Whilst the fence would enclose the driveway and restrict visibility, the risk of conflict 

from the reduced visibility is limited and would not impact highway safety and is 
therefore in accordance with Policies DC1 and IN4 of the Darlington Local Plan (2016-
2036). 
 

6. Proposal would not conflict with the development plan when read as a whole and 
there are no other considerations which outweigh this finding and for the reasons 
given, the appeal succeeds. 

 

Page 136



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 24 October 2023  
by N Kempton BA(Hons) PGDip MA IHBC MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 04 December 2023 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/N1350/D/23/3328781 
2 Fox Close, Hurworth Place, Darlington DL2 2HG  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant full planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Geoff Wood against the decision of Darlington Borough 

Council. 

• The application Ref 23/00311/FUL, dated 22 March 2023, was refused by notice dated 

26 June 2023. 

• The development proposed is the erection of a 1.83m high fence to side and rear 

boundary of the property. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the erection of a 
1.83m high fence to the side and rear boundaries of the property, 2 Fox Close, 
Darlington, DL2 2HG, in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref 

23/00311/FUL, dated 22 March 2023, subject to the following conditions:  

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years 

from the date of this decision. 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plan: F001 Rev B received 13/06/23. 

Procedural Matter 

2. The description of development is taken from the decision notice rather than the 

application form, in the interests of clarity- the former description is clearer. 
Reference to amended plans and the date they were received have been omitted 
on the basis that the description refers to acts of development. However, amended 

plans are stated in condition 2 above.  

Main Issues 

3.The main issues are:  

• The effect of the proposed development on the character and 
appearance of the area; 

• The impact of the proposed development on highway safety. 

Reasons 

Character and appearance 

4. The appeal site is a semi- detached and extended bungalow, which occupies a 
corner plot situated at the entrance to a cul-de-sac comprising semi-detached 

bungalows. The appeal property forms part of a 1960’s open plan residential 

Page 137

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/N1350/D/23/3328781

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

development, where property boundaries are generally free of boundary 

treatments to delineate ownership. In the vicinity of the appeal site, there are a 
mix of bungalows and 2 storey dwellings, constructed of a mixed material palette. 

5. The character of the area is derived, in part, from the open plan layout of the 
estate, which creates a sense of spaciousness. Front gardens and generous green 
lawns, which extend up to public footpaths, are open rather than being enclosed by 

fencing or hedging. Dwellings are set well back in the plots, positively contributing 
to the spacious character of this part of the housing estate. In Fox Close, this open 

character is further reinforced by the relatively low built form density of single 
storey dwellings, such that the skyline is largely unimpeded. Furthermore, the 
open, green aspect is augmented by the presence of mature trees bordering the 

end of the cul-de-sac. Generally, the open plan layout is less discernible to the side 
and rear of properties, by reason of various configurations of garaging, driveways 

and boundary alignments.  

6. The appeal property is bound by roads on three sides. Garden space associated 
with the appeal property, to the front and side, is indistinct from public land- there 

is no clear distinction between public and private space. Whilst the siting of the 
garage and linked extension serve to provide some enclosure to garden space to 

the rear, in the absence of a fence along the rear boundary, this garden space 
lacks privacy- rather it is open to the cul-de-sac of Woodlands Way at the rear. It 
is considered reasonable and justifiable for the appellant to require privacy and 

security for the enjoyment of amenity space associated with the property. The 
erection of the fence, as proposed, will serve to delineate between public and 

private space and afford the appellant the desired level of privacy and security. It 
is noted that the housing estate layout affords such privacy, security and 
enjoyment of private garden space for occupants of other properties not occupying 

corner plots.  

7. In Fox Close, I observed that boundary treatments are wholly absent from the 

front of properties, allowing lawns to extend up to the public footpaths. As such, it 
is acknowledged that the erection of fencing or similar, to delineate the property 
boundary to the front would constitute a departure from the open plan concept on 

which the design and layout of this housing estate is based. 

8. However, the proposed boundary treatment would not enclose the property to 

the front. Rather it would be set back from the front elevation of the bungalow, 
thereby maintaining the open aspect and spacious character to the front of the 
property. This reflects the alignment of the existing boundary treatment at number 

1 Fox Close, opposite the appeal property. Furthermore, evidence before me 
indicates that the proposed fencing will effectively reinstate the boundary 

treatment that formerly enclosed the southern boundary of the appeal property. 
The proposed boundary treatment will not therefore, be detrimental to the visual 

amenity of the area or undermine the open plan layout and spatial character of the 
housing estate. For these reasons, the proposed development is in accordance with 
Policy DC1 of the Darlington Local Plan 2016-2036 with regards to design that 

responds positively to local context. 

9. Based on the evidence before me and that which I observed on site, it is 

apparent that boundary treatments have been erected in the vicinity, more 
commonly enclosing corner plots bound on 2 or 3 sides by public highway- thereby 
comparable with the appeal site. These boundaries have been erected 

incrementally to create a distinction between public and private space. Generally, 

Page 138

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/N1350/D/23/3328781

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

set back behind the building line of the dwelling, the boundaries do not 

compromise the open plan frontage.  

10. Whilst the open frontages of properties have evidently largely been maintained 

clear of any delineation or enclosure, the side and rear elevations exhibit variety in 
terms of alterations, extensions and boundary treatments. The appeal property has 
been extended to the side and rear, resulting in an elongated form and a length of 

solid wall, parallel with Woodlands Way. The side wall of the extended property 
forms an enclosure, which would not be dissimilar to a fence. The presence of a 

length of fencing along this elevation will enclose the roadside of the property, 
creating private garden space, served by patio doors, which presently appear 
incongruous on this public elevation. The fencing will also enclose the rear garden. 

As with number 1 Fox Close, the appeal property would be bound by fencing 
delineating the extent of the private garden space associated with the property, in 

the interests of privacy and security.  

11. The height of the proposed fence is 1.83m, which would be just below the 
eaves height of the garage and side extension. This is comparable with the height 

of fencing enclosing corner plots elsewhere on this housing estate. As such, the 
proposed development is in keeping with the residential character, reflecting 

fencing which has already been erected in the immediate locality, with regards to 
materials, alignment and height. As such the proposed development is in 
accordance with Policy DC1 of the Darlington Local Plan 2016-2036 with regards to 

design that responds positively to local context. 

Highway safety 

12. Notwithstanding the representation from the Highway Engineer, access and 
egress from the garage is into the cul-de-sac to the rear, which itself only 
comprises a small number of dwellings. Traffic movements generated by these 

dwellings is likely to be proportionate and can be made with an awareness of 
context. The cul-de-sac layout utilised in housing development design, is a 

mechanism that is used, in part, to assist in restricting vehicles speeds. It is 
reasonable to presume that both pedestrian and vehicular traffic in this locality is 
likely to be generated by local residents with knowledge of the layout, travelling at 

low speeds on entry to and egress from Woodlands Way cul-de-sac. Additionally, 
the existence of private driveways crossing footways will serve to alert pedestrians 

to the potential for vehicles to be entering or leaving driveways. Similarly, use of 
private driveways is with due caution on account of the potential for pedestrians 
using footways.  

13. Whilst the fence would enclose the driveway and restrict visibility for anyone 
using it or approaching it, for the reasons set out above, the risk of conflict 

between road users resulting from reduced visibility is very limited. I conclude 
therefore, that the proposed development would not have a significant impact on 

highway safety and is in accordance with Policies DC1 and IN4 of the Darlington 
Local Plan 2016-2036 with regards to highway safety and parking provision.  

Conclusion 

14. I have found that the proposed development would not conflict with the 
development plan when read as a whole and there are no other considerations, 

which outweigh this finding.  

15. For the reasons given, the appeal succeeds. 

Page 139

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/N1350/D/23/3328781

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

 

N Kempton  

INSPECTOR 
 

Page 140

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Document is Restricted

Page 141

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 143

By virtue of paragraph(s) 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To Approve the Minutes of the Meetings of this Committee held on 6th December 2023 and 20th December 2023
	Draft Minutes of the Special Meeting of the Planning Applications Committee - Wednesday, 20 December 2023

	4 Introduction to Procedure by the Assistant Director, Law and Governance's Representative
	5 Applications for Planning Permission and Other Consents under the Town and Country Planning Act and Associated Legislation
	5(a) Land To the West & South Of Station Road, Station Road, Middleton St George, Darlington
	Agenda_Location_Plan_21_00529_FUL

	5(b) 3 Oak Tree Close, Middleton St George
	Agenda_Location_Plan_23_01097_TF

	5(c) 4 Wellington Drive, Middleton St George
	Agenda_Location_Plan_23_00804_FUL

	8 Notification of Decision on Appeals
	3328781 - Appeal Decision Allowed 06 12 2023 2 Fox Close

	10 Complaints Received and Being Considered Under the Council's Approved Code of Practice as of 28th December 2023 (Exclusion Paragraph No. 7)
	Item 11 - Planning_Enforcement_Report


